
 

E. admin@stcloudapo.org W. stcloudapo.org 

 

 

1040 County Road 4, Saint Cloud, MN 56303-0643 

T. 320.252.7568 F. 320.252.6557 

AGENDA 

APO POLICY BOARD MEETING 

THURSDAY, JUNE 8, 2023 - 4:30 P.M.  
GREAT RIVER REGIONAL LIBRARY, BREMER ROOM 

1300 W ST GERMAIN ST, ST CLOUD, MN 56301 

1. Pledge of Allegiance 

2. Introductions 

3. Approval of Agenda 

4. Public Comment Period 

5. Approve Consent Agenda Items (Attachments A – D) 

a. Approve Minutes of May 11, 2023 Policy Board Meeting (Attachment A) 

b. Approve Bills Lists (Attachments B1 – B2) 

c. Approve Administrative Modification to the 2023-2026 Transportation 

Improvement Program (Attachment C) 

d. Receive Staff Report on May 26, 2023 Meeting of the Technical Advisory 

Committee (Attachment D) 

6. Hear Presentation on the Minnesota Carbon Reduction Strategy (Attachment E), 

Anna Pierce, MnDOT 

a. Suggested Action: None, informational only 

7. Consider Release of the Draft 2024-2027 Transportation Improvement Program 

(TIP) for Public Review and Comment (Attachments F1 & F2), Vicki Johnson, 

Senior Planner 

a. Suggested Action: Approve Release of the Draft 2024-2027 TIP for 

Public Review 

8. Hear Presentation on NorthStar Study (Attachment G), Brian Gibson, Executive 

Director 

a. Suggested Action: None, informational only 

9. Other Business & Announcements 

10.Adjournment 

  

mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org


 

E. admin@stcloudapo.org W. stcloudapo.org 

English 

The Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization (APO) fully complies with the Title VI of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Executive 

Order 12898, Executive Order 13116 and related statutes and regulations. The APO is 
accessible to all persons of all abilities. A person who requires a modification or 

accommodation, auxiliary aids, translation services, interpreter services, etc., in order to 
participate in a public meeting, including receiving this agenda and/or attachments in an 
alternative format, or language please contact the APO at 320-252-7568 or at 

admin@stcloudapo.org at least seven (7) days in advance of the meeting. 

Somali 

Ururka Qorsheynta Deegaanka ee Cloud Cloud (APO) wuxuu si buuxda u waafaqsanahay 
Cinwaanka VI ee Xuquuqda Xuquuqda Rayidka ee 1964, Cinwaanka II ee Sharciga Naafada 
Mareykanka ee 1990, Amarka Fulinta 12898, Amarka Fulinta 13116 iyo qawaaniinta iyo 
qawaaniinta la xiriira. APO waa u furan tahay dhammaan dadka awooda oo dhan. Qofka u 

baahan dib-u-habeyn ama dejin, caawimaad gargaar ah, adeegyo turjumaad, adeegyo 
turjubaan, iwm, si uu uga qeyb galo kulan dadweyne, oo ay ku jiraan helitaanka  

ajendahaan iyo / ama ku lifaaqan qaab kale, ama luqadda fadlan la xiriir APO. 320-252- 
7568 ama at admin@stcloudapo.org ugu yaraan toddobo (7) maalmood kahor kulanka. 

Spanish 

La Organización de Planificación del Área de Saint Cloud (APO en inglés) cumple 
plenamente con el Título VI de la Ley de Derechos Civiles de 1964, con el Título II de la 
Ley sobre los Estadounidenses con Discapacidad de 1990), de la Orden Ejecutiva 12898, 

de la Orden Ejecutiva 13116 y los estatutos y reglamentos relacionados. La APO es 
accesible para todas las personas de todas las capacidades. Una persona que requiere una 

modificación o acomodación, ayudas auxiliares, servicios de traducción, servicios de 
interpretación, etc., para poder participar en una reunión pública, incluyendo recibir esta 
agenda y/o archivos adjuntos en un formato o idioma alternativo, por favor, contacta a la 

APO al número de teléfono 320-252-7568 o al admin@stcloudapo.org al menos siete (7) 
días antes de la reunión. 

 

 

 

mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org
mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org
mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org
mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org


1 
 

SAINT CLOUD AREA PLANNING ORGANIZATION POLICY BOARD 
Thursday, May 11, 2023 – 4:30 p.m. 

 
A regular meeting of the Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization Policy Board was 

held on Thursday, May 11, at 4:30 p.m. APO Chair Raeanne Danielowski presided 
with the following members: 
 Joe Perske    Stearns County     

 Ryan Daniel    Metro Bus 
 Jeff Goerger    City of Saint Cloud 

 Jake Anderson   City of Saint Cloud 
Chris Byrd    Benton County 
Rick Miller    City of Waite Park 

Jeff Westerlund   LeSauk Township 
Tim Elness    City of Sartell 

Rick Schultz    City of Saint Joseph 
Dottie Seamans   City of Sauk Rapids 

Also in attendance were: 

 Brian Gibson    Saint Cloud APO  
 James Stapfer   Saint Cloud APO 

 Alex McKenzie   Saint Cloud APO 
 Tom Cruikshank   MnDOT 

 Steve Voss    MnDOT 
 Chad Erickson   KLJ 
 Janel Bitzen    BerganKDV 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Mr. Anderson motioned to approve the agenda, and Mr. Goerger seconded 

the motion. Motion carried.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD:  No members of the public were in attendance. 
 
CONSIDERATION OF CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS:  

a. Approve Minutes of April 13, 2023, Policy Board Meeting.   
b. Approve Bills Lists. 

c. Approve Amendment to FY2023-2027 Transportation Improvement 
Program (TIP). 
d. Accept First Quarter Financial Report. 

 
Mr. Miller motioned to approve the consent agenda items, and Ms. 

Seamans seconded the motion. Motion carried.  
 

Accept FY2022 Financial Audit 

Ms. Bitzen from BerganKDV presented on the FY2022 financial audit. No 

deficiencies were found in the audit.  



2 
 

Mr. Elness motioned to accept FY2022 Financial Audit Documents, and Ms. 
Seamans seconded the motion. Motion carried.  

 
Consider Expenditure of Balance for US-10 Improvements  

Mr. Voss introduced background information on the US-10 corridor study between 

Saint Cloud and Clear Lake. Mr. Erickson presented the summary of the planning 

study results and discussed potential infrastructure options.  

Mr. Byrd asked if the comments in the presentation were from this study. Mr. 

Erickson responded with yes. Mr. Byrd replied that he is not use to seeing the public 

recommending the high-cost option.  

Ms. Danielowski asked if when they developed the low, medium, and high-cost 

scenarios, did the study look which option provided the best outcome for the 

amount of money spent? Mr. Erickson replied that they looked at the options from 

the perspective of safety, regional mobility, and access to properties with many 

different factors, making it difficult to quantify which option is truly the best. All 

options have benefits and weaknesses. Mr. Gibson replied that the medium-cost 

scenario didn't provide much more safety benefits than the low-cost scenario. Mr. 

Erickson replied that the cost-benefit analysis showed that the low-cost option still 

provided significant benefits.  

Mr. Perske asked what type of interchange would intersect US-10 with the proposed 

Mississippi River crossing at 33rd Street S. Mr. Cruikshank replied that it would be a 

grade-separated interchange with flyover bridges. Mr. Erikson replied that it's still 

hard to say what type of interchange it will be due to land constraints with the 

BNSF railroad that runs parallel to US-10.  

Ms. Danieloski asked if the projected project costs were in today's dollars or when 

the construction was anticipated. Mr. Erickson responded that the dollar amounts in 

the study are in today's dollars and that the current cost does not include 

engineering or right-of-way acquisition. Mr. Cruikshank explained that the 

legislature stipulated that the APO Policy Board would be able to direct how the 

implementation funds would be expended. He continued to explain that MnDOT will 

be working with legislators to find funding to begin engineering and construction of 

recommendations.  

Mr. Perske asked whether the funding would come through MnDOT's budget or if 

the money would come from other funding sources. Mr. Cruikshank answered that 

MnDOT has no money allocated in their programmed budget for the proposed 

improvements from the study.  

Mr. Schultz asked if the Minnesota House and Senate change dynamics in 2024, will 

there still be a push to fund these improvements? Mr. Cruikshank replied that 

MnDOT would do small incremental projects and break down the corridor into 



3 
 

sections to obtain funding. Mr. Voss added that the improvement is grouped into 

buildable segments in the high and low-cost scenarios.   

The discussion was tabled until the legislature finalized the budget.  

 

Consider Publishing Transportation Performance Monitoring Report (TPMR) 

Mr. Stapfer presented the TPMR, which includes a set of performance measures to 
track the region's progress toward achieving transportation goals.  

Ms. Danielowski asked if there was a bridge condition category for excellent. Mr. 
Stapfer replied that there are only three ratings: good, fair, and poor. Mr. Gibson 
added that the percentage of bridges in good condition is going down, and with no 

maintenance, the bridges will be in poor condition.  

Ms. Danielowski asked about the spike in the number of air passengers at the Saint 

Cloud Airport in 2014. Mr. Gibson answered that United Airlines was providing air 
service to Chicago at that time.  

Mr. Goerger pointed out that the number of crashes is decreasing as vehicle miles 
traveled increases; what can be attributed to that trend? Mr. Stapfer answered that 
with safety features in vehicles, there could be fewer suspected serious injury 

crashes and fatal crashes. Mr. Gibson added that fatalities could be decreasing due 
to vehicle safety features such as automated features. Mr. Perske added that 

vehicle miles traveled hit their peak before COVID-19 and haven't returned. Mr. 
Stapfer answered that vehicle miles traveled haven't returned to pre-pandemic 
levels yet but are increasing from 2020. Mr. Perske added that more people are 

working from home now, so there should be fewer vehicles driving. Mr. Gibson 
added that recent studies have shown that AM and PM peaks have not returned, 

but people who work from home are more likely to do earrings or go out for lunch 
in the middle of the day.  

Mr. Schultz would like to have the PowerPoint presentation sent to him.  

 
Mr. Schultz motioned to approve publishing the TPMR, and Mr. Goerger 

seconded the motion. Motion carried. 
 
Consider Applying for the "Safe Streets & Roads for All" Grant 

Mr. Gibson presented on the Safe Streets & Roads for All (SS4A) discretionary 
program. The program is designed to support the goal of zero roadway deaths by 

implementing a holistic safety action plan for all roadway users.  

Mr. Goerger would like the APO to apply for the SS4A grant.  

Mr. Perske asked if it would be a budget cost for all the member agencies. Mr. 

Gibson replied yes, additional money would be assessed to each jurisdiction based 
on population.  

Mr. Schultz asked how will the jurisdictions pay for it. Mr. Gibson added that when 
the Board approves the UPWP this summer, the cost will be included in the 
jurisdictional assessments.  



4 
 

Mr. Elness asked what the jurisdictions were buying. Mr. Gibson replied that they 
would get the safety plan and the eligibility to apply for the SS4A implementation 

grant.  

Mr. Schultz motioned to approve the Safe Streets & Roads for All Grant, 

and Mr. Goerger seconded the motion. Motion carried. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS & ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

Mr. Perske brought up 322nd Street as in terrible condition. Mr. Westerlund replied 

that the township has been patching the roadway, but the City of Saint Cloud has 

not repaired their section.  

 

ADJOURNMENT: The meeting was adjourned at 5:32 p.m. 



ST. CLOUD AREA PLANNING ORGANIZATION
Transaction List by  Vendor - Actual Disbursement and Deposits
May 2023

Date Transaction Type Vendor Account Amount

Adobe Creative Cloud

05/11/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) IT Support & Services 54.99 

05/17/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) IT Support & Services 54.99 

05/18/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) IT Support & Services 16.13 

05/22/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) IT Support & Services 21.51 

AFLAC

05/15/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Employee Health Dental & Other 832.04 

05/30/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Employee Health Dental & Other 832.04 

Alex Mckenzie

05/09/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Expense Mileage Reimbursement 244.77 

Amazon Market Place

05/08/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) Office Supplies 194.21 

AMPO - Assoc of Metropol Planning Org

05/30/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) Conference registration 645.00 

BCBS of MN

05/22/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Employee Health Dental & Other 4,788.70 

City of St. Cloud - Water/Sewer

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Utilities - water and sewer 48.04 

Cloudnet

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Internet services 25.00 

David Turch & Associates

05/03/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Lobbying 12,000.00 

Delta Dental

05/05/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Employee Health Dental & Other 236.65 

Express Services Inc

05/04/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Office Support Services 59.60 

05/25/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Office Support Services 953.60 

Google Inc.

05/02/2023 Expense Printing & Publishing 48.00 



ST. CLOUD AREA PLANNING ORGANIZATION
Transaction List by  Vendor - Actual Disbursement and Deposits
May 2023

Date Transaction Type Vendor Account Amount

KLJ Engineering LLC

05/25/2023 Bill Payment (Check) 2050 MTP Support 8,527.23 

League of MN Cities Insur Trust P&C

05/01/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Property Insurance 6,296.00 

Loffler Companies

05/11/2023 Bill Payment (Check) copier extra copies & maintenance 122.93 

Mailchimp.com

05/03/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) Publishing & Printing 20.00 

05/19/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) Publishing & Printing 20.00 

Metro Sales Inc

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) IT Support & Software 370.18 

Premium Waters, Inc.

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Office Supplies 33.98 

Principal Mutual Life Insurance

05/03/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Employee Health Dental & Other 271.56 

Quill.com

05/03/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Office Supplies 39.99 

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Office Supplies 49.98 

Schroden's Inc.

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Maintenance - snow removal 284.00 

SFM

05/01/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Insurance - work comp 795.00 

Shutterstock.com

05/10/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) Publishing & Printing 29.00 

Spectrum Business (Charter)

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Telephone & Internet 839.88 

St. Cloud Area Chamber of Commerce

05/30/2023 Bill Payment (Credit Card) Professional Development 12.00 



ST. CLOUD AREA PLANNING ORGANIZATION
Transaction List by  Vendor - Actual Disbursement and Deposits
May 2023

Date Transaction Type Vendor Account Amount

Stearns Electric Association

05/25/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Utilities - electric 139.19 

Transportation Collaborative & Consultants LLC

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Stearns County - CSAH 1 14,505.88 

Traut Companies

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Maintenance - sprinkler system 120.00 

05/25/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Maintenance - sprinkler system 125.00 

Vicki B Johnson2

05/04/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Expense Mileage Reimbursement 22.08 

Weisman Cleaning Inc

05/03/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Office Cleaning 140.00 

West Central Sanitation, Inc

05/16/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Utilities - garbage 49.44 

Xcel Energy

05/04/2023 Bill Payment (Check) Utilities - gas 235.73 

Your CFO Inc

05/01/2023 Bill Payment (Check) QBLC1T55 Accounting Services 1,580.00 

47,926.90 

LIBERTY BANK DEPOSITS

Deposit Date Amount

Liberty Bank‐interest earned ‐ Est 5/31/2023 6.00                                             

6.00                                             



prepared 05/30/2023

Method Of
 Payment To Whom Paid What Check is for Account  Amount

Direct Dep. Net Payroll  (including insurance reimbursement) 6/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 7,771.27$           
Electronic Expense Reimbursemt - Employee mileage 6/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll -$                    
Electronic Social Security, Medicare & Federal Tax PAID 6/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 2,511.14$           
Electronic MN Department of Revenue-Withholding PAID 6/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 637.00$              
Electronic PERA 6/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 2,127.18$           
Electronic Great West Annuity 6/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 10.00$                
Electronic Minnesota State Retirement System 6/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 147.42$              
Electronic Select Account (H.S.A.) 6/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 423.34$              

Direct Dep. Net Payroll  (including insurance reimbursement) 6/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 7,771.27$           
Electronic Expense Reimbursemt - Employee mileage 6/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll -$                    
Electronic Social Security, Medicare & Federal Tax PAID 6/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 2,511.14$           
Electronic MN Department of Revenue-Withholding PAID 6/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 637.00$              
Electronic PERA 6/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 2,127.18$           
Electronic Great West Annuity 6/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 10.00$                
Electronic Minnesota State Retirement System 6/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 147.42$              
Electronic Select Account (H.S.A.) 6/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 423.34$              

Direct Dep. Net Payroll  (including insurance reimbursement) 7/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 7,771.27$           
Electronic Expense Reimbursemt - Employee mileage 7/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll -$                    
Electronic Social Security, Medicare & Federal Tax PAID 7/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 2,511.14$           
Electronic MN Department of Revenue-Withholding PAID 7/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 637.00$              
Electronic PERA 7/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 2,127.18$           
Electronic Great West Annuity 7/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 10.00$                
Electronic Minnesota State Retirement System 7/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 147.42$              
Electronic Select Account (H.S.A.) 7/5/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 423.34$              

Direct Dep. Net Payroll  (including insurance reimbursement) 7/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 7,771.27$           
Electronic Expense Reimbursemt - TRB conference 7/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll -$                    
Electronic Social Security, Medicare & Federal Tax PAID 7/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 2,511.14$           
Electronic MN Department of Revenue-Withholding PAID 7/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 637.00$              
Electronic PERA 7/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 2,127.18$           
Electronic Great West Annuity 7/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 10.00$                
Electronic Minnesota State Retirement System 7/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 147.42$              
Electronic Select Account (H.S.A.) 7/20/2023 Payroll Paid Payroll 423.34$              

Credit Card Adobe Creative Cloud - June 2023 Subscription service to PDF software IT Support & Software 146.32$              
Credit Card Adobe Creative Cloud - July 2023 Subscription service to PDF software IT Support & Software 146.32$              

Check AFLAC - June 2023 Enployee Addtl Insurance Payroll 832.04$              
Check AFLAC - July 2023 Enployee Addtl Insurance Payroll 832.04$              
Check Alex Mckenzie mileage reimbmt - June estimate Mileage Reimbursement Travel  200.00$              
Check Alex Mckenzie mileage reimbmt - July estimate Mileage Reimbursement Travel  200.00$              

Electronic BCBS of MN - June 2023 Employee Health Insurance Payroll 4,788.70$           
Electronic BCBS of MN - July 2023 Employee Health Insurance Payroll 4,024.08$           

Check City of St Cloud - Water/Sewer - June 2023 Utilities - water / sewer Utilities 50.00$                
Check City of St Cloud - Water/Sewer - July 2023 Utilities - water / sewer Utilities 50.00$                
Check Cloudnet - June 2023 Internet Service Utilities 10.00$                
Check Cloudnet - July 2023 Internet Service Utilities 10.00$                
Check David Turch & Associates- June 2023 Lobbyist Services Lobbying 4,000.00$           
Check David Turch & Associates- July 2023 Lobbyist Services Lobbying 4,000.00$           
Check Delta Dental - June 2023 Employee dental insurance Payroll 236.65$              
Check Delta Dental - July 2023 Employee dental insurance Payroll 236.65$              
Check Express Services Inc Office Clerk Service Office Support 953.60$              

Credit Card Google Inc - estimate - June 2023 G Suite Basic - Commitment Utilities 48.00$                
Credit Card Google Inc - estimate - July 2023 G Suite Basic - Commitment Utilities 48.00$                

Check KLJ Engineering LLC MTP Support & Assistance MTP Support & Assistance 8,527.23$           
Check Loffler Companies - estimate - June 2023 Copier Supplies Copy Machine 150.00$              

PROPOSED June 2023 and July 2023 DISBURSEMENTS



prepared 05/30/2023

Method Of
 Payment To Whom Paid What Check is for Account  Amount

PROPOSED June 2023 and July 2023 DISBURSEMENTS

Check Loffler Companies - estimate - July 2023 Copier Supplies Copy Machine 150.00$              
Credit Card Mailchimp.com - estimate - June 2023 Monthly IT Support IT Support & Software 20.00$                
Credit Card Mailchimp.com - estimate - July 2023 Monthly IT Support IT Support & Software 20.00$                

Check Metro Sales Inc - June 2023 Monthly IT Support IT Support & Software 1,079.00$           
Check Metro Sales Inc - June 2023 Monthly IT Support IT Support & Software 370.18$              
Check Metro Sales Inc - July 2023 Monthly IT Support IT Support & Software 1,079.00$           
Check Premium Water Inc - estimate - June 2023 office drinking water Utilities 65.00$                
Check Premium Water Inc - estimate - July 2023 office drinking water Utilities 65.00$                
Check Principal Financial - June 2023 Emloyee disability insurance Payroll 272.00$              
Check Principal Financial - July 2023 Emloyee disability insurance Payroll 272.00$              

Credit Card Quill.com - estimate - June 2023 Office Supplies office Supplies 50.00$                
Credit Card Quill.com - estimate - July 2023 Office Supplies office Supplies 50.00$                
Credit Card Shutterstock Inc - June 2023 Printing/Publishing Printing/Publishing 29.00$                
Credit Card Shutterstock Inc - July 2023 Printing/Publishing Printing/Publishing 29.00$                

Check Spectrum Business (Charter) - June 2023 Internet Service Utilities 420.00$              
Check Spectrum Business (Charter) - July 2023 Internet Service Utilities 420.00$              

Credit Card St Cld Chamber of Commerce Professional Development Professional Development 12.00$                
Electronic Stearns Electric Association - June 2023 Utilities - electric Utilities 160.00$              
Electronic Stearns Electric Association - July 2023 Utilities - electric Utilities 160.00$              

Credit Card SC Times - estimate - estimate - June 2023 Public Postings Printing/Publishing 550.00$              
Credit Card SC Times - estimate - estimate - July 2023 Public Postings Printing/Publishing 550.00$              

Check Transportation Collaborative & Consultants LLC Stearns County CSAH Stearns County CSAH 14,505.88$         
Check Traut Companies Sprinkler work Maintenance 120.00$              
Check Traut Companies Sprinkler work Maintenance 125.00$              
Check Vicki Johnson Mileage Reimbursement Travel  23.00$                
Check Weisman Cleaning Inc - estimate - June 2023 Office Cleaning Services Maintenance 150.00$              
Check Weisman Cleaning Inc - estimate - July 2023 Office Cleaning Services Maintenance 150.00$              
Check West Central Sanitation Inc - estimate - June 2023 Utility - garbage Utilities 55.00$                
Check West Central Sanitation Inc - estimate - July 2023 Utility - garbage Utilities 55.00$                

Electronic Xcel Energy - estimate - June 2023 Utilities - gas Utilities 150.00$              
Electronic Xcel Energy - estimate - July 2023 Utilities - gas Utilities 50.00$                

Check Your CFO Inc Accounting services - June 2023 Accounting Services 1,580.00$           
Check ABDO Financial Solutions Accounting services - July 2023 Accounting Services 4,753.00$           

TOTAL 111,538.09$      



E. admin@stcloudapo.org W. stcloudapo.org 

 

 

 

1040 County Road 4, Saint Cloud, MN 56303-0643 

T. 320.252.7568 F. 320.252.6557 

 

TO:   Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization Policy Board 

FROM:  Vicki Johnson, Senior Transportation Planner 

RE:  FY 2023-2026 Transportation Improvement Program Administrative 

Modifications 

DATE:  May 25, 2023 

 

One of the responsibilities of the Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization (APO), as outlined 

by the Federal Government, is to develop and maintain a Transportation Improvement 

Program (TIP). The TIP is the document that programs federal funds for transportation 

improvements in the APO’s Metropolitan Planning Area (MPA). Decisions about 

transportation investments require collaboration and cooperation between different levels 

of government and neighboring agencies and jurisdictions. As a document, the TIP reports 

how the various agencies and jurisdictions within the MPA have prioritized their use of 

limited Federal highway and transit funding. 

MnDOT’s Office of Transit and Active Transportation (OTAT) has requested administrative 

modifications to the APO’s FY 2023-2026 TIP.  

Minnesota Department of Transportation 

• 2023: 

o TRF-9503-23: SECTION 5310: WACOSA, INC.; PURCHASE ONE (1) 

REPLACEMENT <30’ (CLASS 400) BUS. Per OTAT, we are deleting this project 

from the TIP. 

o TRF-9504-23: SECTION 5310: CONNECT ABILITY OF MINNESOTA, INC. 

MOBILITY MANAGEMENT 7/1/23 – 6/30/24. Per OTAT, we are deleting this 

project from the TIP.  

• 2024: 

o TRF-9504-24: SECTION 5310: CONNECT ABILITY OF MINNESOTA, INC. 

MOBILITY MANAGEMENT 7/1/24 – 6/30/25. Per OTAT, we are deleting this 

project from the TIP. 

Per the APO’s Stakeholder Engagement Plan (SEP), given the nature of these changes, a 

specific public comment period is not warranted for these changes. 

With all the proposed changes, fiscal constraint has been maintained. 

Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) representatives met on May 25 and recommended 

Policy Board approval of these changes. 

 

Suggested Action: Approval. 

mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org


E. admin@stcloudapo.org W. stcloudapo.org 

 

 

 

1040 County Road 4, Saint Cloud, MN 56303-0643 

T. 320.252.7568 F. 320.252.6557 

 

TO:   Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization Policy Board 

FROM:  Vicki Johnson, Senior Transportation Planner 

RE:   Staff Report on the May 25, 2023, Technical Advisory Committee meeting 

DATE:  May 26, 2023 

 

The Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization’s (APO’s) Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) 

held a regular meeting on Thursday, May 25, 2023. At that meeting, the following topics 

were discussed: 

1. Consideration of the 2023-2026 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 

Administrative Modifications 

a. APO Senior Transportation Planner Vicki Johnson stated MnDOT’s Office of 

Transit and Active Transportation (OTAT) had contacted APO staff to request 

three projects be deleted from the TIP – a WACOSA bus purchase in 2023 

and two ConnectAbility of Minnesota mobility management grants in 2023 

and 2024. TAC representatives voted to recommend Policy Board approval of 

these changes. 

2. Consideration of the draft 2024-2027 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 

Project Table 

a. Ms. Johnson provided an overview of the 2024-2027 TIP development. She 

discussed the new projects appearing in the 2024-2027 TIP and changes to 

projects that were in the first three years of the program (2024-2026). Ms. 

Johnson stated the full TIP document will be ready by approximately mid-

June. Public comment on the draft will need to begin no later than July 12. 

TAC representatives voted to recommend Policy Board approval to release 

the draft TIP out for 30-days of public comment by no later than July 12. 

3. Consideration of the 2024-2027 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 

Amendment Schedule 

a. Ms. Johnson presented the proposed 2024-2027 TIP amendment schedule. 

This schedule included deadlines for amendments/administrative 

modifications, the time frame for the public comment period, and proposed 

TAC and Policy Board meeting dates to allow for approval of proposed TIP 

changes. TAC representatives voted to approve the schedule. 

4. Consideration of the 2025-2028 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) 

Development Schedule 

a. Ms. Johnson presented on the proposed 2025-2028 TIP development 

schedule. This schedule was developed in coordination with MnDOT’s Area 

Transportation Improvement Program (ATIP) development schedule. She 

highlighted key dates for TAC representatives to be aware of. TAC 

representatives voted to approve the schedule. 

Suggested Action: None, informational only. 

mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org


E. admin@stcloudapo.org W. stcloudapo.org 

 

 

1040 County Road 4, Saint Cloud, MN 56303-0643 

T. 320.252.7568 F. 320.252.6557 

 

TO:   Saint Cloud APO Policy Board  

FROM:  Brian Gibson, Executive Director 

RE:  Minnesota Carbon Reduction Strategy 

DATE:  June 1, 2023 

 

The bipartisan infrastructure law adopted in November 2021 created the Carbon 

Reduction Program (CRP). That program provides funds for states to reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions from transportation. 

Minnesota receives approximately $20.9 million per year for this program. MnDOT 

is creating a Carbon Reduction Strategy (CRS) to inform how to spend the CRP 

funds and reduce carbon from transportation in Minnesota. MnDOT will submit the 

CRS to the federal government by November 15, 2023. 

Minnesota's CRS will identify priority strategies to reduce carbon from 

transportation in Minnesota. The prioritized strategies will guide how to spend CRP 

funds. 

Example carbon reduction strategies 

• Electric vehicle and charging infrastructure 

• Public transit 

• Bicycle system expansion 

• Sidewalks and trails 

• Ridesharing programs 

• Traffic operations and congestion management 

• Energy-efficient streetlights 

• Zero-emission construction equipment 

• Sustainable pavements 

MnDOT staff will be at your June 8th meeting to discuss the CRS and solicit your 

input. 

 

Suggested Action: None, informational only.  

mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org


E. admin@stcloudapo.org W. stcloudapo.org 

 

 

 

1040 County Road 4, Saint Cloud, MN 56303-0643 

T. 320.252.7568 F. 320.252.6557 

 

TO:   Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization Policy Board 

FROM:  Vicki Johnson, Senior Transportation Planner 

RE:   Draft FY 2024-2027 Transportation Improvement Program 

DATE:  May 26, 2023 

 

One of the responsibilities of the Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization (APO), as outlined 

by the Federal Government, is to develop and maintain a Transportation Improvement 

Program (TIP). The TIP is the document that programs federal funds for transportation 

improvements in the APO’s Metropolitan Planning Area (MPA). Decisions about 

transportation investments require collaboration and cooperation between different levels 

of government and neighboring agencies and jurisdictions. As a document, the TIP reports 

how the various agencies and jurisdictions within the MPA have prioritized their use of 

limited Federal highway and transit funding. 

The projects included in each year’s TIP ultimately are derived from the APO’s Metropolitan 

Transportation Plan (MTP) and are aimed at meeting the long-range needs of the area’s 

transportation system. In addition, all projects programmed into the TIP must comply with 

regulations issued by Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and Federal Transit 

Administration (FTA). 

The TIP spans a period of four fiscal years and is updated on an annual basis. 

For the past several months APO staff have been cooperatively working with local 

jurisdictions, Saint Cloud Metropolitan Transit Commission (more commonly known as Saint 

Cloud Metro Bus), and Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) District 3 staff to 

produce the yearly update to the APO’s TIP. APO staff are still working on the final 

document – which will include the project table as shown in the agenda packet) – and hope 

to have this nearly complete by the June 2023 Policy Board meeting. 

This update will span the four fiscal year period of 2024 through 2027. 

APO staff are in the final stages of preparing the FY 2024-2027 TIP for final approval and 

incorporation into the Minnesota State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP). To do 

this, APO staff will need to release the FY 2024-2027 TIP for a 30-day public comment 

period. Per the TIP development schedule, public comment on the draft TIP will need to 

begin no later than July 12, 2023. 

Final approval of the document is anticipated in September 2023. 

Prior to being released for public comment, APO staff need to seek approval from the APO’s 

Policy Board. Representatives of the APO’s Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) met on 

May 25 and recommended Policy Board approval to release the document for 30-days of 

public comment starting no later than July 12. 

Suggested Action: Approval to release the draft document for 30-day public comment period. 

mailto:admin@stcloudapo.org


Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
24H 2024 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT 5307: ST. 
CLOUD MTC; 
OPERATING 
ASSISTANCE 0 B9 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS FTA 11,550,000                   1,500,000         10,050,000 11,550,000 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
24I 2024 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC -- 
PARATRANSIT 
OPERATING 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS LF 5,775,000                             5,775,000 5,775,000 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
24J 2024 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC -- 
NORTHSTAR 
COMMUTER 
OPERATING 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS LF 1,450,000                             1,450,000 1,450,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
24E 2024 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT 5307: ST. 
CLOUD MTC; 
OFFICE EQUIP, IT & 
COMMUNICATION 
PROJECTS 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 80,000                   64,000         16,000 80,000 

TRANSIT TRS-
0048-
24F 2024 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST. CLOUD MTC; 
PURCHASE EIGHT 
(8) CLASS 400LF 
CNG REPLACEMENT 
BUSES 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
VEHICLE 

PURCHASE 
STBGP 5K-

200K 3,080,000       2,464,000 2,464,000                   616,000 3,080,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
24G 2024 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT 5307: ST. 
CLOUD MTC; 
MAINTENANCE 
TOOLS & 
EQUIPMENT 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 105,000                   84,000         21,000 105,000 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
24K 2024 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
FACILITY 
IMPROVEMENTS 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 1,810,000                   1,448,000         362,000 1,810,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
9503-

24 2024 MNDOT 

SECTION 5310: 
WACOSA, INC.; 
PURCHASE ONE (1) 
REPLACEMENT <30' 
(CLASS 400) BUS 0 NB 

TRANSIT 
VEHICLE 

PURCHASE  FTA 197,000                   157,600         39,400 197,000 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

071-
070-

042AC 2024 
SHERBURNE 

COUNTY 

**AC**INSTALL 
INTERSECTION 
STREET LIGHTING 
ON VARIOUS 
SHERBURNE 
COUNTY ROADS 
(PAYBACK 1 OF 1) 0 SH LIGHTING HSIP 331,200           331,200   331,200                 

LOCAL 
STREETS 071-

070-
044 2024 

SHERBURNE 
COUNTY 

INSTALL 
INTERSECTION 
LIGHTING ON 
VARIOUS 
SHERBURNE 
COUNTY ROADS 0 SH LIGHTING HSIP 524,000     471,600   471,600                   52,400 524,000 

LOCAL 
STREETS 071-

070-
045 2024 

SHERBURNE 
COUNTY 

INSTALL 
SINUSOIDAL 
RUMBLE STRIPS ON 
VARIOUS 
SHERBURNE 
COUNTY ROADS 0 SH OTHER HSIP 180,000     162,000   162,000                   18,000 180,000 

LOCAL 
STREETS 071-

596-
008 2024 

SHERBURNE 
COUNTY 

**AC**SHERBURNE 
CR 65 & 45TH AVE, 
REALIGNMENT AND 
ACCESS 
CONSOLIDATION 
WITH US 10 & 0.1 LP 

NEW PAVEMENT -
- BIT STBGP<5K 1,500,000                 1,000,000   1,200,000   1,200,000   300,000 2,500,000 



Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

BNSF RR XING 
(PAYBACK IN 2025) 
(ASSOCIATED SP 
071-596-008) 

HIGHWAY 
CSAH 75 

073-
675-

041AC 2024 
STEARNS 
COUNTY 

**AC**: STEARNS 
CSAH 75, FROM TH 
15 TO COOPER AVE 
FULL DEPTH 
RESURFACING AND 
ADA 
IMPROVEMENTS 
(PAYBACK 1 OF 2). 1 RS 

MILL AND BIT 
OVERLAY NHPP 615,055           615,055   615,055                 

HIGHWAY 
CSAH 
133 

073-
733-
006 2024 

STEARNS 
COUNTY 

STEARNS CSAH 133 
FROM STEARNS 
CSAH 75 TO 15TH 
AVE IN ST JOSEPH; 
EXPAND TO 4 
LANE, 
INTERSECTION 
IMPROVEMENTS AT 
ELM ST, DUAL LEFT 
TURN LANES FROM 
EB CSAH 75 TO NB 
CSAH 133 0.5 MC 

NEW PAVEMENT -
- BIT 

STBGP 5K-
200K 1,822,944     1,458,355   1,458,355                   364,589 1,822,944 

HIGHWAY 
CSAH 75 

073-
675-

042AC 2024 
STEARNS 
COUNTY 

**AC**MN270**: 
CSAH 75, REPLACE 
BRIDGE 6819 OVER 
SAUK RIVER 
(PAYBACK 1 OF 2) 0.2 BR 

BRIDGE 
REPLACEMENT 

STBGP 5K-
200K 1,393,992           1,393,992   1,393,992                 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

073-
596-
010 2024 

STEARNS 
COUNTY 

**MN277**CR 120, 
RECONSTRUCT 
ROUNDABOUT AT 
STEARNS CR 120 & 
CSAH 1 & FROM 
450 FT EAST OF NB 
MN 15 ENTRANCE 
RAMP TO CSAH 1, 
MILL AND OVERLAY 0.8 RS 

MILL AND BIT 
OVERLAY DEMO 2,000,000 1,250,000       1,250,000                   750,000 2,000,000 

HIGHWAY 
MSAS 
175 

162-
591-

005AC 2024 
SAINT 
CLOUD 

**AC**: ST. 
CLOUD; 
RECONSTRUCT 
STEARNS CR 136 
FROM 22ND ST S 
TO 33RD ST S, TO 
MULTI MODAL 
CORRIDOR 
(ASSOCIATED 
WITH 162-591-
005)(PAYBACK 1 OF 
1) 0 RC 

BITUMINOUS 
RECLAMATION 

STBGTAP 
5K-200K 99,000           99,000   99,000                 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

162-
080-
009 2024 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

**CRP**CITY OF 
ST. CLOUD: 
INSTALL ELECTRIC 
VEHICLE 
CHARGING 
STATIONS, 5 
LOCATIONS 
THROUGHOUT THE 
CITY OF ST CLOUD. 0 AU N/A CRP 250,000     200,000   200,000                   50,000 250,000 



Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

LOCAL 
STREETS 220-

090-
004 2024 SARTELL 

**CRP** BIKEWAY 
ENGINEERING, 
SARTELL BRIDGE 
TO BENTON DRIVE 
IN THE CITY OF 
SARTELL 0 PL NEW TRAIL CRP 224,800     179,800   179,800                   45,000 224,800 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

191-
104-
006 2024 

SAUK 
RAPIDS 

**AC**: 
RECONSTRUCT 2ND 
AVE S FROM 
BENTON DR TO 
10TH ST S, 
INCLUDING 
SIDEWALK, ADA, 
LIGHTING, 
DRAINAGE AND 
WATERMAIN 
IMPROVEMENTS IN 
THE CITY OF SAUK 
RAPIDS (PAYBACK 
IN 2025) 0.4 RC 

MAJOR 
CONSTRUCTION -

- BIT 
STBGP 5K-

200K 2,623,356                 1,135,120           2,623,356 3,758,476 

HIGHWAY 
MN 23, 
US 10 

0503-
91AC 2024 MNDOT 

*PRS**AC**: MN 
23, AT US 10 
INTERCHANGE IN 
ST. CLOUD, 
RECONSTRUCT MN 
23 FROM .1 MI W 
OF LINCOLN AVE 
TO .1 MI W OF CR 
1; RECONSTRUCT 
US 10 FROM .2 MI 
W OF ST. GERMAIN 
TO .1 MI N OF 15TH 
AVE SE; REPLACE 
BRIDGES OVER US 
10, BR# 9021 
WITH BR#05019 
AND BR#9022 
WITH BR# 05018; 
INCLUDES 
MULTIMODAL 
IMPROVEMENTS 
(GREATER MN 
RELIABILITY). 
CONSTRUCT 4TH 
ST BRIDGE OVER 
US 10. (PAYBACK 1 
OF 2) 2.3 MC BRIDGE NEW NHPP 20,094,152           20,094,152   20,094,152                 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
25A 2025 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
OPERATING 
ASSISTANCE 0 B9 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS FTA 12,127,500                   1,500,000         10,627,500 12,127,500 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
25B 2025 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC; 
PARATRANSIT 
OPERATING 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS LF 6,063,750                             6,063,750 6,063,750 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
25C 2025 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC; 
NORTHSTAR 
COMMUTER 
OPERATING 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS LF 1,486,250                             1,486,250 1,486,250 



Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
25D 2025 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
MAINTENANCE 
TOOLS & 
EQUIPMENT 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 15,000                   12,000         3,000 15,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
25E 2025 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; TWO 
(2) REPLACEMENT 
OPERATIONS 
VEHICLES 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 80,000                   64,000         16,000 80,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
25F 2025 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
OFFICE EQUIP, IT & 
COMMUNICATION 
PROJECTS 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 535,000                   428,000         107,000 535,000 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
25G 2025 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
FACILITY 
IMPROVEMENTS 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 650,000                   520,000         130,000 650,000 

TRANSIT TRS-
0048-
25B 2025 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST. CLOUD MTC; 
PURCHASE FOUR 
(4) CLASS 700 
REPLACEMENT CNG 
BUSES 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
VEHICLE 

PURCHASE 
STBGP 5K-

200K 2,916,000       2,332,800 2,332,800                   583,200 2,916,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
9503-

25 2025 MNDOT 

SECTION 5310: 
WACOSA, INC.; 
PURCHASE ONE (1) 
REPLACEMENT <30' 
(CLASS 400) BUS 0 NB 

TRANSIT 
VEHICLE 

PURCHASE  FTA 237,000                   189,600         47,400 237,000 

HIGHWAY 
CSAH 1 

005-
070-
014 2025 

BENTON 
COUNTY 

BENTON COUNTY 
CSAH 1/CSAH 29 
INTERSECTION, 
CONSTRUCT 
ROUND-A-BOUT 0 SH ROUNDABOUT HSIP 1,200,000     750,000   750,000                   450,000 1,200,000 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

071-
596-

008AC 2025 
SHERBURNE 

COUNTY 

**AC**SHERBURNE 
CR 65 & 45TH AVE, 
REALIGNMENT AND 
ACCESS 
CONSOLIDATION 
WITH US 10 & 
BNSF RR XING 
(ASSOCIATED SP 
071-596-
008)(PAYBACK 1 OF 
1) 0.1 LP 

NEW PAVEMENT -
-BIT STBGP<5K 1,000,000           1,000,000   1,000,000                 

HIGHWAY 
CSAH 2 073-

070-
028 2025 

STEARNS 
COUNTY 

CSAH 2, 
CONSTRUCT 
ROUND-A-BOUT AT 
MINNESOTA ST IN 
ST JOSEPH 0.5 SH ROUNDABOUT HSIP 1,100,000     500,000   500,000                   600,000 1,100,000 

HIGHWAY 
CSAH 75 

073-
675-

041AC1 2025 
STEARNS 
COUNTY 

**AC**: STEARNS 
CSAH 75, FROM TH 
15 TO COOPER AVE 
FULL DEPTH 
RESURFACING AND 
ADA 
IMPROVEMENTS 
(PAYBACK 2 OF 2). 1 RS 

MILL AND BIT 
OVERLAY NHPP 774,944           774,944   774,944                 



Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

HIGHWAY 
CSAH 75 

073-
675-

042AC1 2025 
STEARNS 
COUNTY 

**AC**MN270**: 
CSAH 75, REPLACE 
BRIDGE 6819 OVER 
SAUK RIVER 
(PAYBACK 2 OF 2) 0.2 BR 

BRIDGE 
REPLACEMENT 

STBGP 5K-
200K 741,128           741,128   741,128                 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

191-
104-

006AC 2025 
SAUK 

RAPIDS 

**AC**: 
RECONSTRUCT 2ND 
AVE S FROM 
BENTON DR TO 
10TH ST S, 
INCLUDING 
SIDEWALK, ADA, 
LIGHTING, 
DRAINAGE AND 
WATERMAIN 
IMPROVEMENTS IN 
THE CITY OF SAUK 
RAPIDS (PAYBACK 
1 OF 1) 0.4 RC 

MAJOR 
CONSTRUCTION -

- BIT 
STBGP 5K-

200K 1,135,120           1,135,120   1,135,120                 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

221-
090-
001 2025 

WAITE 
PARK 

CONSTRUCT TRAIL, 
ALONG CSAH 
81/15TH AVE FROM 
830' N OF CSAH 75 
TO 355' W OF 10TH 
AVE IN THE CITY 
OF WAITE PARK 0.4 BT NEW TRAIL 

STBGTAP 
5K-200K 603,177     482,542   482,542                   120,635 603,177 

HIGHWAY 
MN 15 7303-

52 2025 MNDOT 

MN 15, BR 73019 
OVER MN 15 AT 
CSAH 137, -
REOVERLAY 0 BI 

BRIDGE DECK 
OVERLAY 

STBGP 5K-
200K 680,000     553,656   553,656           126,344   126,344     680,000 

HIGHWAY 
I 94, MN 

24 

8823-
375 2025 MNDOT 

**ITS**I-94, DMS, 
CAMERAS AND 
FIBER FROM US 71 
IN SAUK CENTRE 
TO MN 24 IN 
CLEARWATER AND 
MN 24 FROM I-94 
TO STEARNS CO. 
CSAH 75 IN 
CLEARWATER 52.2 TM OTHER NHPP 720,000     576,000   576,000           144,000   144,000     720,000 



Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

HIGHWAY 
MN 23, 
US 10 

0503-
91AC1 2025 MNDOT 

**PRS**AC**: MN 
23, AT US 10 
INTERCHANGE IN 
ST. CLOUD, 
RECONSTRUCT MN 
23 FROM .1 MI W 
OF LINCOLN AVE 
TO .1 MI W OF CR 
1; RECONSTRUCT 
US 10 FROM .2 MI 
W OF ST. GERMAIN 
TO .1 MI N OF 15TH 
AVE SE; REPLACE 
BRIDGES OVER US 
10, BR# 9021 
WITH BR#05019 
AND BR#9022 
WITH BR# 05018; 
INCLUDES 
MULTIMODAL 
IMPROVEMENTS 
(GREATER MN 
RELIABILITY). 
CONSTRUCT 4TH 
ST BRIDGE OVER 
US 10. (PAYBACK 2 
OF 2) 2.3 MC BRIDGE NEW NHPP 6,056,474           6,056,474   6,056,474                 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
26A 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
OPERATING 
ASSISTANCE 0 B9 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS FTA 12,430,600                   1,500,000         10,930,600 12,430,600 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
26B 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC; 
PARATRANSIT 
OPERATING 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS LF 6,215,000                             6,215,000 6,215,000 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
26C 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC; 
NORTHSTAR 
COMMUTER 
OPERATING 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS LF 1,516,000                             1,516,000 1,516,000 

TRANSIT TRS-
0048-
26A 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC; 
PURCHASE FIVE (5) 
CLASS 400LF CNG 
REPLACEMENT 
BUSES. 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
VEHICLE 

PURCHASE 
STBGP 5K-

200K 2,120,000       1,696,000 1,696,000                   424,000 2,120,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
26D 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
MAINTENANCE 
TOOLS & 
EQUIPMENT 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 15,000                   12,000         3,000 15,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
26E 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; FOUR 
(4) REPLACEMENT 
OPERATIONS 
VEHICLES 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 160,000                   128,000         32,000 160,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
26F 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
OFFICE EQUIP, IT, 
& COMMUNICATION 
PROJECTS 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 250,000                   200,000         50,000 250,000 



Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
26G 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
SHELTERS 

0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 25,000                   20,000         5,000 25,000 

TRANSIT 
TRS-
0048-
26B 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST. CLOUD MTC; 
PURCHASE 
TWENTYTHREE (23) 
CLASS 700 
REPLACEMENT CNG 
BUSES 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
VEHICLE 

PURCHASE LF 15,295,000                             15,295,000 15,295,000 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

162-
153-
003 2026 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

**AC**22ND ST S 
FROM OAK GROVE 
RD/CR 136 TO 
COOPER AVE S, 
RECONSTRUCT 
RURAL ROUTE INTO 
36' MULTIMODAL 
URBAN SECTION IN 
THE CITY OF ST 
CLOUD(PAYBACK IN 
2027) 0.8 RC 

NEW PAVEMENT -
- BIT 

STBGP 5K-
200K 1,481,114     239,114   239,114       1,560,886           1,242,000 3,042,000 

LOCAL 
STREETS 220-

070-
001 2026 SARTELL 

PINECONE 
ROAD/7TH ST 
NORTH 
INTERSECTION, 
INSTALL SIGNAL 
SYSTEM 0 SH 

TRAFFIC SIGNAL 
INSTALL HSIP 550,000     400,000   400,000                   150,000 550,000 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

220-
090-
005 2026 SARTELL 

CONSTRUCT 
HERITAGE DRIVE 
TRAIL BETWEEN 
AMBER AVE AND 
CSAH 1 AND 
SIDEWALKS NEAR 
RIVERVIEW 
INTERMEDIATE 
SCHOOL IN THE 
CITY OF SARTELL 0 BT NEW TRAIL 

STBGTAP 
5K-200K 486,450     389,160   389,160                   97,290 486,450 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

191-
104-
008 2026 

SAUK 
RAPIDS 

2ND AVE S(MSAS 
104) FROM 10TH 
ST. S TO SOUTH 
CITY LIMITS, 
RECONSTRUCT 
INCLUDING 
SIDEWALK, ADA, 
LIGHTING, 
DRAINAGE, 
SANITARY SEWER 
AND WATERMAIN 
IMPROVEMENTS IN 
THE CITY OF SAUK 
RAPIDS 
(ASSOCIATED SAP 
191-118-001) 0.4 RC 

NEW PAVEMENT -
- BIT 

STBGP 5K-
200K 4,350,000     1,400,000   1,400,000                   2,950,000 4,350,000 

HIGHWAY 
MN 15 0509-

37 2026 MNDOT 

**BFP**MN 15 BR 
05003 EB OVER US 
10 N OF SAUK 
RAPIDS, REPLACE 0 BR 

BRIDGE 
REPLACEMENT BFP 7,600,000   6,000,000     6,000,000           1,600,000   1,600,000     7,600,000 



Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

05-
00128 2026 MNDOT 

BNSF RR, REPLACE 
EXISTING SIGNAL 
SYSTEM AT M343, 4 
1/2 ST NE, ST 
CLOUD, BENTON 
COUNTY 0 SR 

R.R X-ING 
IMPROVEMENTS RRS 350,000       175,000 175,000                   175,000 350,000 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
27A 2027 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
OPERATING 
ASSISTANCE 0 B9 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS FTA 12,679,200                   1,600,000         11,079,200 12,679,200 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
27B 2027 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC; 
PARATRANSIT 
OPERATING 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS LF 6,339,300                             6,339,300 6,339,300 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
27C 2027 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC; 
NORTHSTAR 
COMMUTER 
OPERATING 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
OPERATIONS LF 1,546,300                             1,546,300 1,546,300 

TRANSIT TRS-
0048-
27A 2027 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

ST CLOUD MTC; 
PURCHASE SIX (6) 
CLASS 400LF CNG 
REPLACEMENT 
BUSES. 0 TR 

TRANSIT 
VEHICLE 

PURCHASE 
STBGP 5K-

200K 2,670,000       2,136,000 2,136,000                   534,000 2,670,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
27D 2027 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
MAINTENANCE 
TOOLS & 
EQUIPMENT 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 74,000                   59,200         14,800 74,000 

TRANSIT TRF-
0048-
27E 2027 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
OFFICE EQUIP, IT & 
COMMUNICATION 
PROJECTS 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 122,000                   97,600         24,400 122,000 

TRANSIT 
TRF-
0048-
27F 2027 

SAINT 
CLOUD 

SECT5307: ST 
CLOUD MTC; 
FACILITY 
IMPROVEMENTS 0 B9 

TRANSIT GRANT 
CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
(NON-VEHICLE) FTA 417,000                   333,600         83,400 417,000 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

162-
153-

003AC 2027 
SAINT 
CLOUD 

**AC**22ND ST S 
FROM OAK GROVE 
RD/CR 136 TO 
COOPER AVE S, 
RECONSTRUCT 
RURAL ROUTE INTO 
36' MULTIMODAL 
URBAN SECTION IN 
THE CITY OF ST 
CLOUD(PAYBACK 1 
OF 1) 0.8 RC 

NEW PAVEMENT -
- BIT 

STBGP 5K-
200K 1,560,886           1,560,886   1,560,886                 

LOCAL 
STREETS 

220-
080-
006 2027 SARTELL 

15TH ST NORTH 
CORRIDOR 
EXTENSION FROM 
PINECONE RD TO 
19TH AVE N, RIGHT 
OF WAY 
ACQUISITION IN 
CITY OF SARTELL 0 PL 

RIGHT OF WAY 
PURCHASE 

STBGP 5K-
200K 3,050,400     943,774   943,774                   2,106,626 3,050,400 

HIGHWAY 
MN 23 7305-

132 2027 MNDOT 

MN 23/STEARNS 
CSAH 8 IN 
ROCKVILLE, 0 SH CHANNELIZATION HSIP 1,200,000     1,080,000   1,080,000           120,000   120,000     1,200,000 



Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Project Table 

Running STIP 
Total  

FHWA 
Earmark Running FHWA 

Running Advanced 
Construction Payback Total 

Running 
Total AC 

Running 
FTA Running TH Total 

Running 
Bond 

Running 
Other (Local) 

Running Project 
Total 

$179,330,092 $1,250,000 $28,539,801 $33,801,951 $3,696,006 $9,917,600 $3,490,344 $0 $103,580,396 $149,224,147 

Route 
System 

Project 
Number Year Agency Project Description Mile Program Work Type 

Proposed 
Funds STIP Total 

FHWA 
Earmark 

Other 
FHWA 

Target 
FHWA 

Dist C 
FHWA Total FHWA 

Target AC 
Payback 

Dist C 
AC 

Payback 
Total AC 
Payback Total AC FTA State TH 

Dist 
C 

TH Total TH Bond Other (Local) Project Total 

CONSTRUCT J-
TURN 

HIGHWAY  
I 94 

7380-
269 2027 MNDOT 

I-94 BR 73877 
(WB), BR 73878 
(EB) OVER TR 477 
IN ST JOE TWP, 
OVERLAY 0 BI 

BRIDGE DECK 
OVERLAY NHPP 3,000,000     2,700,000   2,700,000           300,000   300,000     3,000,000 

 



Northstar Rail Corridor  

Post-Pandemic Study  

Final Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

 

March 31, 2023 

 



Final Report 1 SRF Consulting Group 

Table of Contents 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Corridor History and Existing Conditions ..................................................................................................... 4 

Planning Context and Expectations ......................................................................................................... 4 

Northstar Historic Performance ............................................................................................................... 6 

Peer Corridor Review ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

Transit Service Scenarios ................................................................................................................................ 13 

Scenario 1: Commuter Rail - Base .......................................................................................................... 14 

Scenario 2: Commuter Rail - High ......................................................................................................... 15 

Scenario 3: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - Base .......................................................................................... 17 

Scenario 4: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - High ......................................................................................... 19 

Scenario 5: Express Bus - Base ............................................................................................................... 20 

Scenario 6: Express Bus - High............................................................................................................... 23 

Transit Scenario Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 25 

Ridership Estimates .................................................................................................................................. 25 

Community Development ....................................................................................................................... 29 

Environmental Sustainability ................................................................................................................... 34 

Financial Performance .............................................................................................................................. 36 

Accessibility and Equity ........................................................................................................................... 39 

Evaluation Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 42 

Key Factors Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 44 

Next Steps ......................................................................................................................................................... 46 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing Conditions Technical Report 

Appendix B: Peer Corridor Review Technical Report 

Appendix C: Rail Extension Technical Report 

Appendix D: Evaluation Methods Technical Report 

 



   

Final Report 2 SRF Consulting Group 

Introduction 

The Northstar Rail Corridor Post-Pandemic Study (hereafter “Northstar study”) has been developed 

by the Metropolitan Council (hereafter “Met Council”) to inform decision-making regarding the 

future of the Northstar Rail Corridor. Recognizing the decline in ridership and operational 

challenges precipitated by the COVID-19 pandemic, this study outlines and evaluates potential 

scenarios for providing transit service in the Northstar Corridor, including the continuation of 

commuter rail service, extension to St. Cloud, and replacement with bus service.  

Study Purpose 

This study will serve as a tool to assist state and local decision makers in determining a future course 

of action. It is not intended to make recommendations regarding any future transit scenario, but 

rather, will examine the trade-offs of possible future transit scenarios. The scenario evaluation will 

document the potential benefits and opportunities for future transit service in the corridor and 

compare them against the likely impacts and challenges of implementation. Through this study 

process, the following questions about the future of Northstar are addressed: 

• What are the recent trends in this corridor? 

• How well did Northstar Corridor perform prior to Covid-19? 

• What are peer agencies thinking about similar commuter rail corridors in their regions? 

• Given past performance and model of the future and its constraints, what are reasonable 

scenarios that could make the Northstar Corridor successful? 

• What are the impacts of the scenarios on ridership, finances, land use, vehicle miles traveled, 

and access to opportunity via transit? 

• Who will be impacted by these scenarios geographically and by socio-economic 

demographics? 

Previous Planning Efforts 

This Northstar study builds on the work of previous planning efforts related to the Northstar 

Corridor, including but not limited to the following: 

• Northstar Corridor Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS), 2000 

• Northstar Corridor Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS), 2002 

• Northstar Corridor Phase II Extension Memo, 2010 

• Northstar Commuter Rail Corridor Before-and-After Study, 2009 

• Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment, 2020 

  



   

Final Report 3 SRF Consulting Group 

Project Management Structure 

Decision-making for this Northstar study was guided by three advisory groups as follows: 

• Project Management Team (PMT): Responsible for reviewing consultant progress and 

providing direction on a biweekly basis. Composed of staff from the Northstar Corridor 

funding partners: Met Council, Metro Transit, Minnesota Department of Transportation 

(MnDOT), and Anoka, Hennepin, and Sherburne Counties. 

• Corridor Technical Advisory Group (CTAG): Responsible for reviewing study progress 

and providing feedback on the scenarios evaluated, analysis methods used, and preliminary 

results. Consists of PMT members plus technical planning staff from cities with Northstar 

stations: Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids, Fridley, and Minneapolis as well 

as the St. Cloud Area Planning Organization.  

• Policymaker Group: Responsible for reviewing final materials developed based on input 

from the PMT and CTAG. Consists of elected and appointed policymakers from the 

funding partner agencies: 

o Met Council (Chair and councilmembers from Northstar Corridor districts) 

o Metro Transit (General manager and senior staff) 

o MnDOT (Commissioner and senior staff) 
o County commissioners from Anoka, Hennepin, and Sherburne Counties 

The policymaker group represents the agencies that will ultimately be responsible for making 

decisions regarding future transit service in the Northstar Corridor, including the type and amount 

of transit service offered, as well as the funding arrangements for capital and operating costs.  

Contents of this Report 

This report includes the following items: 

• Corridor History and Existing Conditions: A summary of Northstar’s historical 

development and recent performance.  

• Peer Corridor Review: A summary of findings based on analysis of peer commuter rail 

corridor data, as well as agency interviews. 

• Service Scenarios: A description of each of the six scenarios evaluated in this study. 

• Scenario Evaluation Framework and Results: Evaluation criteria and results for all 

scenarios. 

• Evaluation Summary: A review of key evaluation criteria that highlight differences in 

performance between scenarios and across transit modes, with a focus on decision-making. 

• Next Steps: A brief description of next steps to determine the preferred mode and level of 

service in the Northstar Corridor. 

Appendices to this report include additional content produced to inform the project team’s 

understanding of historic and existing service performance, as well as further detail on select topics. 

• Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing Conditions Technical Report 

• Appendix B: Peer Corridor Review Technical Report 

• Appendix C: Rail Extension Technical Report 

• Appendix D: Evaluation Methods Technical Report 



   

Final Report 4 SRF Consulting Group 

Corridor History and Existing Conditions 

Planning Context and Expectations 

Project Origins 

Examination of commuter rail in the Twin Cities began in 1997, with the initiation of the Twin 

Cities Commuter Rail Feasibility Study. The study was conducted in two phases, with reports 

published in January 1998 and January 1999, respectively. The Northstar Corridor was included in 

this study. 

Planning Efforts 

This Northstar study builds on the work of subsequent planning efforts related to the Northstar 

Corridor, including but not limited to the following1: 

• Northstar Corridor Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS), 2000 

• Northstar Corridor Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS), 2002 

• Northstar Corridor Phase II Extension Memo, 2010 

• Northstar Commuter Rail Corridor Before-and-After Study, 2009 

• Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment, 2020 

The Northstar Corridor DEIS and FEIS identified the Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) as a 

commuter rail line extending from downtown Minneapolis to Rice, Minnesota (a distance of 81.8 

miles), with a minimum operating segment from downtown Minneapolis to Big Lake (the current 

40.1-mile corridor).  

In addition, they established four principal goals for the project:  

• Improve mobility and safety within the corridor  

• Minimize adverse environmental impacts and foster positive environmental excellence  

• Encourage transportation-supportive land use development patterns  

• Provide a cost-effective and efficient transportation system 

Funding Agreements 

In 2007, the Northstar Corridor received an FTA Full Funding Grant Agreement (FFGA) to 

construct the project’s minimum operating segment (MOS) at a total cost of $320.0 million. These 

costs were allocated among the following project partners, as shown in Figure 1: 

 
1 For a full list and description of previous planning projects examined, please see Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing 

Conditions Technical Report. 



   

Final Report 5 SRF Consulting Group 

• FTA New Starts grant: $156.8 million 

• State of Minnesota (through MnDOT): $98.6 million 

• Met Council: $5.9 million 

• Other federal grants: $5.1 million 

• Minnesota Twins: $2.6 million (for construction of Target Field vertical circulation building) 

• Northstar Corridor Development Authority (NCDA): $51.0 million  
NCDA funding is divided according to the proportion of track miles in each constituent 

county as follows:  

o Anoka County: $34.8 million (68.3 percent of NCDA total) 

o Hennepin County: $8.0 million (15.6 percent of NCDA total) 

o Sherburne County: $8.2 million (16.1 percent of NCDA total) 

Figure 1: Northstar Capital Funding Amounts (in millions and percent of total) 

 

Operations and maintenance costs are similarly allocated among state and local partners. The current 

funding formula is as follows: 

• State of Minnesota (through MnDOT): 50 percent 

• NCDA: 50 percent  

As with capital costs, NCDA funding for operations and maintenance is divided according 

to the proportion of track miles in each constituent county as follows: 

o Anoka County: 68.3 percent of NCDA total 

o Hennepin County: 15.6 percent of NCDA total 

o Sherburne County: 16.1 percent of NCDA total 

 

FTA New Starts, 

156.8, 49%

State of Minnesota 

(30.8%), 98.6, 31%

Anoka County 

(10.9%), 34.8, 11%

Hennepin County 

(2.5%), 8.0, 2%

Sherburne County 

(2.6%), 8.2, 2%

Met Council (1.8%), 

5.9, 2%
Other Federal, 5.1, 2%

Minnesota Twins, 

2.6, 1%

Anoka County 

(10.9%), 10.9%, 0%

Hennepin County 

(2.5%), 2.5%, 0%

Sherburne County 

(2.6%), 2.6%, 0%

NCDA, 51.0, 16%



   

Final Report 6 SRF Consulting Group 

Northstar Historic Performance 

The Northstar Corridor opened for service in 2009. Since then, ridership has underperformed 

relative to original forecasts but grew steadily during the decade prior to the pandemic.  

Forecasted and Observed Ridership  

The Northstar FEIS projected about 4,000 average weekday boardings for its opening year of 2009, 

higher than the 1,800 average observed for that period. Figure 2 shows forecasted and observed 

weekday ridership figures for 2009 and 2025 (compared to 2019 to represent pre-pandemic peak). 

The service plan assumed in the original forecasts was changed substantially before the line opened, 

including a reduction from 18 to 12 trains per day. No forecasts were conducted using this revised 

service plan, making it difficult to accurately assess system performance against expectations. A 

normalized version of this chart assessing riders-per-train can be found in Appendix A. 

Figure 2: Northstar Forecasted and Observed Average Weekday Ridership 

 

Figure 3 shows average weekday and weekend ridership from 2009 to 2022. Growth primarily 

occurred in weekday ridership, with an average of 2,660 in 2019. Weekend ridership declined in the 

early years of the corridor but leveled out in 2016 until weekend service was eliminated in 2020. Due 

to the severe impacts of the pandemic, the Northstar Corridor averaged only 275 riders per weekday 

by 2022, or nearly 90 percent less than its 2019 average. 



   

Final Report 7 SRF Consulting Group 

Figure 3: Average Weekday and Weekend Ridership, 2009-2022 

 

Prior to the pandemic, special events at Target Field and U.S. Bank Stadium provided a significant 

proportion of daily and annual ridership: between 31 and 37 percent of annual ridership on average. 

In 2019, weekday special events days had nearly 900 more riders than the average non-event 

weekday, while weekend event days added over 1,400 riders on average. No weekend or event 

service has been operated since 2020, when a reduced schedule of two roundtrips per day was 

implemented due to low ridership.  

Figure 4: Average Daily Rides by Day Type, 2019 vs. 2022 

 

  

2,455

245 275

881

1,409

0

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

2019 Weekday 2019 Weekend 2022 Weekday

Additional ridership from special

events

Daily ridership



   

Final Report 8 SRF Consulting Group 

Operating Costs and Subsidies 

With the decline in ridership on the Northstar Corridor since the pandemic began, project partners 

are concerned given the level of public funding allocated for construction and operations. Existing 

operations and maintenance costs ranged from $15.3 to $17.5 million during pre-pandemic years, 

with decreases in 2020 and 2021 due to the reduction in service. Figure 5 shows the trend of 

Northstar operating expenses from 2017 through 2021. While operating costs have been reduced, 

the subsidy per passenger has increased substantially, from $19 per trip in 2019 to $173 in 2022. 

Figure 5: Northstar Operations and Maintenance Expenses, 2017-2021 

 

Figure 6: Northstar Per-Passenger Subsidy, 2017-2021 

 

 

$15,261,800 
$16,153,126 

$17,484,857 

$15,533,355 

$8,881,226 

$0

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

$6,000,000

$8,000,000

$10,000,000

$12,000,000

$14,000,000

$16,000,000

$18,000,000

$20,000,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

$16.06 $17 $19 

$99 

$173 

$0

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

$120

$140

$160

$180

$200

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021



   

Final Report 9 SRF Consulting Group 

Peer Corridor Review 

As part of this study, the consultant team analyzed system performance for Northstar commuter rail 

and five similar rail corridors before and after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. Northstar’s 

peer rail corridors evaluated in this report are: 

• Downeaster intercity rail in New England, which is operated by Amtrak and managed by 

Northern New England Passenger Rail Authority (NNEPRA). This represents a ‘hybrid’ 

system in which serves both commuter and intercity trip purposes. 

• COASTER commuter rail in San Diego, which is operated by Bombardier Transportation 

on behalf of North County Transit District (NCTD) 

• FrontRunner commuter rail in Salt Lake City, which is operated by Utah Transit Authority 

(UTA) 

• Sounder commuter rail in Seattle, which is operated by BNSF on behalf of Sound Transit 

• Trinity Railway Express commuter rail in Dallas/Fort Worth, which is operated by 

Herzog Transit Services on behalf of Trinity Metro (Fort Worth/Tarrant County) and Dallas 

Area Rapid Transit (DART) 

This review of peer corridors included interviews of peer transit agency staff and a comparison of 

pre-COVID and pandemic-era system performance measures using data from the National Transit 

Database (NTD). Detailed results of this review are available in Appendix B. 

Peer Agency Interview Summary 

The consultant team interviewed peer transit agency staff between August and October 2022. These 

interviews focused on questions related to agencies’ responses to the COVID-19 pandemic 

highlighting service changes, pandemic ridership recovery strategies, and what the future of the peer 

rail corridor will look like.  

Through these interviews the consultant team learned that most of Northstar’s peer agencies have 

reinstated commuter rail service to pre-pandemic levels, but ridership has been slow to rebound, 

especially among traditional commuters. All of Northstar’s peer agencies have reinstated some level 

of special event service and many are seeing ridership that mirrors pre-COVID levels on those trips. 

In general, the peer agency contacts seemed optimistic about the future of their commuter rail 

service. Most of Northstar’s peer agencies have major capital projects underway to expand and 

improve their service. Additionally, multiple agencies cited geographical constraints to the region’s 

growth and growing congestion as reasons why they believe commuter rail will be successful in their 

region over the long term. For Sounder and FrontRunner, 2019 was either the highest ridership or 

second highest ridership year on record. Agencies’ staff seemed optimistic that pre-COVID demand 

for their service would return. 



   

Final Report 10 SRF Consulting Group 

National Transit Database Data Analysis Summary 

This analysis evaluated performance measures for Northstar and its five peer rail corridors before 

and after the COVID-19 pandemic began, using data from the National Transit Database (NTD). 

This analysis used 2019 data as a pre-COVID baseline and 2021 data to reflect performance after 

the COVID-19 pandemic began. The system performance measures included in this analysis relate 

to ridership, operating costs, and subsidies. 

Ridership. In 2019, Northstar had the second lowest annual ridership among these peer agencies 

and by 2021 it had the lowest annual ridership (Figure 7). However, Northstar’s productivity, as 

measured by passengers per vehicle (train car) revenue hour, is comparable to that of many of its 

peers (Figure 8).  

Figure 7: Northstar and Peer Corridor Ridership, 2017-2021 

 
Source: National Transit Database. 



   

Final Report 11 SRF Consulting Group 

Figure 8: Northstar and Peer Corridor Productivity, 2017-2021 

     

     

     

     

     

    

          
     

    

     

    

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

                                                                   

 
 
   

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 
 
  
 
  
 
 
 
  
  
  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

              
 

Source: National Transit Database. 

Operating Costs. Northstar had the lowest overall operating cost among its peer agencies in both 

FY 2019 and FY 2021. However, when summarized as cost efficiency, or operating cost per vehicle 

revenue hour, Northstar had the highest operating cost because Northstar’s annual vehicle revenue 

hours were much lower than its peers for both years (Table 1). Northstar’s operating costs per 

vehicle revenue hour increased 95 percent during this period. Northstar’s operating costs per service 

trip is also found to be high among its peers. 

Table 1: Northstar and Peer Corridor Operating Costs, 2019-2021 

COMMUTER RAIL 

SERVICE 

TOTAL OPERATING 

COST, FY 2019 

TOTAL OPERATING 

COST, FY2021 

OPERATING COST 

PER VRH, FY2019 

OPERATING COST 

PER VRH, FY2021 

Sounder $56,879,437 $62,324,946 $751.97 $1,194 

FrontRunner $44,291,302 $49,428,282 $265.75 $332 

Trinity Railway Express $33,798,689 $37,823,959 $457.79 $578 

COASTER $19,643,067 $23,843,716 $485.57 $956 

Downeaster $23,056,079 $20,049,595 $280.54 $303 

Northstar $17,484,857 $8,881,226 $1,247.14 $2,433 

Source: National Transit Database. VRH = Vehicle Revenue Hour. 

Subsidy and Fare Recovery. Northstar had a low total subsidy compared to its peers in FY 2019 

and had the lowest total subsidy among its peers in FY 2021. However, the per passenger subsidy 

allows for a better comparison between the agencies. In FY 2019, Northstar had the second-to-

highest per passenger subsidy among its peers and in FY 2021, Northstar had the highest per 

passenger subsidy (Figure 9). In both FY 2019 and FY 2021, Northstar had the lowest farebox 



   

Final Report 12 SRF Consulting Group 

recovery ratio, that is, the percentage of operating expenses covered by fare revenue, of its peers 

(Figure 10). 

Figure 9: Northstar and Peer Corridor Subsidy per Passenger, 2019-2021 

      

      

      

     

      

     

       

       

       

      

      

      

                                      

         

          

       

       

                       

           

              
 

Source: National Transit Database. 

Figure 10: Northstar and Peer Corridor Fare Recovery, 2019-2021 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

    

    

    

    

    

                               

          

                       

           

       

       

         

              
 

Source: National Transit Database. 

Overall Findings 

The results from the peer agency interviews and the NTD data analysis for pre- and post-COVID 

performance suggests that many of Northstar’s peer agencies seem to have stronger prospects for 

recovering from the pandemic than Northstar. While the NTD data show that Northstar’s peers also 

experienced dramatic decreases in ridership during the early period of the pandemic, most peer 



   

Final Report 13 SRF Consulting Group 

agency staff expressed optimism about the long-term future of their respective corridors when 

interviewed and most of Northstar’s peers are actively planning to expand and improve their 

commuter rail service coming out of the pandemic. Northstar still operates on a limited pandemic 

service schedule, which may contribute to slower ridership recovery. 

Transit Service Scenarios 

The following section describes the six scenarios evaluated in the Northstar Rail Corridor Post-

Pandemic Study. These scenarios were developed with input from the Met Council, Metro Transit, 

MnDOT, and corridor funding partners. The six scenarios represent illustrative service options for 

three possible transit service types: commuter rail, extend rail, and express bus. Scenarios for each 

transit mode represent two levels of service: “Base,” or minimum service, and “High,” a more 

robust schedule. Considerations related to each transit mode are outlined as follows: 

• Commuter Rail: Scenarios 1 and 2 reflect the continuation of Northstar commuter rail 

service using current (Base) or pre-pandemic (High) service levels, with the addition of 

special event service. 

• Extend Rail to St. Cloud: Scenarios 3 and 4 outline potential options for rail extension, 

drawing on information developed in MnDOT’s Northstar Commuter Rail Extension 

Feasibility Assessment (2020). For the purposes of this study, several assumptions have been 

made as follows: 

o “Extend rail” is used here to refer to scenarios that involve extension of existing rail 

service to serve St. Cloud. These scenarios differ from the options evaluated in the 

MnDOT study because they assume that underlying commuter rail trips (peak-

oriented trips terminating in Big Lake) no longer operate. Extend Rail scenarios are 

specific to this study and may differ from Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) or 

other definitions of intercity rail. 

o In both Scenario 3 and Scenario 4, trips would serve all existing Northstar stations. 

The resulting schedules would provide access for commute trips to and from 

downtown Minneapolis at peak hours, but would also operate service in the reverse 

direction, providing bi-directional service to and from St. Cloud. This operation 

would allow the Scenarios 3 and 4 to serve a hybrid market of daily commute trips 

and occasional travel, similar to Amtrak’s Downeaster corridor. 

o As in the MnDOT study, potential costs for Extend Rail scenarios are based on the 

assumption that BNSF would continue to operate the rail service using existing fleet 

and facilities. Consideration of conversion to Amtrak as the operator is described 

further in Appendix C: Rail Extension Technical Report. 

• Express Bus: Scenarios 5 and 6 evaluate the potential discontinuation of Northstar rail 

service and conversion to Metro Transit express bus operations. Express buses in each 

scenario would serve all existing Northstar rail stations, providing access to and from 

downtown Minneapolis via 2nd and Marquette avenues. These scenarios also include 

https://www.dot.state.mn.us/passengerrail/northstar-study/index.html
https://www.dot.state.mn.us/passengerrail/northstar-study/index.html


   

Final Report 14 SRF Consulting Group 

assessment of any potential repayment costs that may be necessary if Northstar rail service is 

discontinued.   

Scenario 1: Commuter Rail - Base 

Description 

Scenario 1: Commuter Rail – Base would continue Northstar commuter rail operations at the 

current (reduced) service level, which has been in place since the advent of Covid 19 in early 2020. 

This scenario also includes two additional round-trip trains on event days. 

Route Alignment and Stations 

Scenario 1 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, with all trips serving Big Lake, 

Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Target Field stations. All trips 

would use the existing BNSF-owned rail corridor tracks, as shown in Figure 11. 

Figure 11: Scenario 1 Alignment and Stations 

 
Source: Metro Transit. 



   

Final Report 15 SRF Consulting Group 

Frequency and Span of Service 

Scenario 1 would maintain the current commuter--oriented service schedule, with two southbound 

trips from Big Lake Station to Target Field Station in the morning and two northbound trips from 

Target Field Station to Big Lake Station in the afternoon with times similar to those shown in Table 

2. Service would operate on weekdays only. Special event trains (two additional round trips per event 

day) would operate on an estimated 96 days per year. 

Table 2: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 1 (Commuter Rail – Base) 

TRIP 

# 
DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 

DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

1 Southbound Big Lake 5:48 AM Target Field 6:40 AM 

2 Southbound Big Lake 7:18 AM Target Field 8:10 AM 

3 Northbound Target Field 4:27 PM Big Lake 5:19 PM 

4 Northbound Target Field 5:30 PM Big Lake 6:22 PM 

Source: Metro Transit.  

Estimated Travel Times 

Estimated travel times for Scenario 1 would be consistent with current schedules, with both 

northbound and southbound trips running at about 52 minutes between Big Lake Station and 

Target Field Station. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 

Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership.  

Scenario 2: Commuter Rail - High 

Description 

Scenario 2: Commuter Rail – High would restore Northstar commuter rail operations to the pre-

pandemic service levels, which were in place prior to 2020. These service levels comprise 12 one-

way trips with an addition 2 one-way trips on event days. 

Route Alignment and Stations 

Scenario 2 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, with all trips serving Big Lake, 

Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Target Field stations. All trips 

would use the existing BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in Figure 12. 



   

Final Report 16 SRF Consulting Group 

Figure 12: Scenario 2 Alignment and Stations 

 
Source: Metro Transit. 

Frequency and Span of Service 

Scenario 2 would return to the pre-2020 Northstar service schedule, with 12 total one-way trips per 

weekday. Peak-direction trips would include five weekday southbound trips in the morning and five 

northbound trips in the afternoon. In addition to these peak-direction trips, one northbound 

reverse-commute trip would operate in the morning, and one southbound reverse-commute trip 

would operate in the evening, as shown in Table 3. Weekend service would consist of 6 one-way 

trips per day; special event service would add one additional round trip on about 96 event days per 

year. 

Table 3: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 2 (Commuter Rail – High) 

TRIP 

# 
DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 

DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

1 Southbound Big Lake 5:00 AM Target Field 5:52 AM 

2 Southbound Big Lake 5:48 AM Target Field 6:40 AM 

3 Northbound* Target Field 6:15 AM Big Lake 7:07 AM 

4 Southbound Big Lake 6:18 AM Target Field 7:10 AM 



   

Final Report 17 SRF Consulting Group 

TRIP 

# 
DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 

DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

5 Southbound Big Lake 6:48 AM Target Field 7:40 AM 

6 Southbound Big Lake 7:18 AM Target Field 8:10 AM 

7 Northbound Target Field 3:57 PM Big Lake 4:49 PM 

8 Northbound Target Field 4:27 PM Big Lake 5:19 PM 

9 Northbound Target Field 4:57 PM Big Lake 5:49 PM 

10 Southbound* Big Lake 5:03 PM Target Field 5:55 PM 

11 Northbound Target Field 5:30 PM Big Lake 6:22 PM 

12 Northbound Target Field 6:15 PM Big Lake 7:07 PM 

Source: Metro Transit.  * Denotes reverse-commute trip.  

Estimated Travel Times 

Estimated travel times for Scenario 2 would be consistent with current schedules, with both 

northbound and southbound trips running at about 52 minutes between Big Lake Station and 

Target Field Station. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 

Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership. 

Scenario 3: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - Base 

Description 

Scenario 3: Extend Rail to St. Cloud – Base would extend daily rail operations to St. Cloud, with 

four one-way train trips per day and two additional bus round-trips on event days. 

Route Alignment and Stations 

Scenario 3 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, while adding service to the 

existing St. Cloud Amtrak station. All trips would serve St. Cloud, Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, 

Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations, using existing 

BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in Figure 13.  



   

Final Report 18 SRF Consulting Group 

Figure 13: Scenario 3 Alignment and Stations 

 
Source: Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (MnDOT, 2020). 

Frequency and Span of Service 

Scenario 3 would operate service consistent with the minimum bi-directional service plan from 

MnDOT’s Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020). Service would 

include four one-way trips daily, with one AM northbound and one AM southbound trip, and one 

PM northbound and one PM southbound trip. One midday bus roundtrip would be added, as 

shown in Table 4. Weekend service would consist of the same four one-way train trips per day, 

while special event service would be provided on an assumed 96 days per year (assuming continued 

BNSF/Metro Transit operation) with two bus round trips serving the Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, 

Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations.  

Table 4: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 3 (Extend Rail – Base) 

TRIP 

# 
DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 

DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

1 Northbound Target Field 6:10 AM St. Cloud 7:28 AM 

2 Southbound St. Cloud 6:47 AM Target Field 8:10 AM 

BUS Southbound St. Cloud 10:15 AM Target Field 12:45 PM 

BUS Northbound Target Field 1:00 PM St. Cloud 3:10 PM 

3 Southbound St. Cloud 4:32 PM Target Field 5:55 PM 

4 Northbound Target Field 5:30 PM St. Cloud 6:48 PM 

Source: Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020).   

Estimated Travel Times 

Estimated travel times for Scenario 3 would be consistent with the Northstar Commuter Rail 

Extension Feasibility Study, with northbound train trips scheduled to run 78 minutes between 

https://www.dot.state.mn.us/passengerrail/northstar-study/index.html


   

Final Report 19 SRF Consulting Group 

Target Field and St. Cloud, and southbound train trips running at 83 minutes in the opposite 

direction. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the Transit 

Scenario Analysis section on ridership. 

Scenario 4: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - High 

Description 

Scenario 4: Extend Rail to St. Cloud – High would extend daily rail operations to St. Cloud, with 

nine one- way train trips and two additional one-way bus trips on event days. 

Route Alignment and Stations 

Scenario 4 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, while adding service to the 

existing St. Cloud Amtrak station. As in Scenario 3, all trips would serve St. Cloud, Big Lake, Elk 

River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations, 

using existing BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in Figure 14.  

Figure 14: Scenario 4 Alignment and Stations 

 
Source: Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (MnDOT, 2020). 

Frequency and Span of Service 

Scenario 4 would operate service consistent with the bi-directional service plan from the 

Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) Northstar Commuter Rail Extension 

Feasibility Assessment (2020). Service would include nine trips per weekday, with five northbound 

and four southbound trips. An additional midday bus round trip would also be operated, as shown 

in Table 5. Weekend service would consist of the same four train trips per day as in Scenario 3, while 

special event service would be provided on 96 days per year with two bus round trips serving the Big 

Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations.  

https://www.dot.state.mn.us/passengerrail/northstar-study/index.html
https://www.dot.state.mn.us/passengerrail/northstar-study/index.html


   

Final Report 20 SRF Consulting Group 

Table 5: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 4 (Extend Rail – High) 

TRIP 

# 
DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 

DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

1 Southbound St. Cloud 5:48 AM Target Field 7:11 AM 

2 Northbound Target Field 6:10 AM St. Cloud 7:28 AM 

3 Southbound St. Cloud 6:47 AM Target Field 8:10 AM 

BUS Southbound St. Cloud 10:15 AM Target Field 12:45 PM 

BUS Northbound Target Field 1:00 PM St. Cloud 3:10 PM 

4 Northbound Target Field 4:27 PM St. Cloud 5:45 PM 

5 Southbound St. Cloud 4:32 PM Target Field 5:55 PM 

6 Northbound Target Field 4:57 PM St. Cloud 6:15 PM 

7 Northbound Target Field 5:30 PM St. Cloud 6:48 PM 

8 Southbound St. Cloud 5:30 PM Target Field 6:53 PM 

9 Northbound Target Field 6:15 PM St. Cloud 7:33 PM 

Source: Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020).   

Estimated Travel Times 

Estimated travel times for Scenario 4 would be consistent with the Northstar Commuter Rail 

Extension Feasibility Study and identical to Scenario 3, with northbound train trips scheduled to run 

78 minutes between Target Field and St. Cloud, and southbound train trips running at about 83 

minutes in the opposite direction. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is 

given in the Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership. 

Scenario 5: Express Bus - Base  

Description 

Scenario 5: Express Bus – Base would replace Northstar commuter rail operations with two new 

bus routes serving most existing rail stations and operating peak-only service every 30 minutes. 

Route Alignment and Stations 

Scenario 5 would implement two new express bus routes: Route 1 would serve the Big Lake, Elk 

River, and Ramsey stations, while Route 2 would serve the Anoka and Coon Rapids-Riverdale 

stations. Both routes would operate primarily via Hwy 10, Hwy 252, and Interstate 94 before serving 

the Marq2 transit corridor in downtown Minneapolis. The Fridley station would be served via a 

short deviation on the existing Route 852 which provides service between downtown Minneapolis 

and Anoka Community & Technical College via US-10, East River Road, and I-94, as shown in 

Figure 15. 



   

Final Report 21 SRF Consulting Group 

Figure 15: Scenario 5 Alignment and Stations 

 

Frequency and Span of Service 

Scenario 5 would operate service every 30 minutes on both Northstar bus routes for the duration of 

Metro Transit’s peak hours, defined as 6:00 to 9:00 AM and 3:00 to 6:30 PM. Trips would operate in 

the southbound direction only in the morning and northbound direction only in the afternoon, as 

shown in Table 6 and Table 7. Route 852 would keep its existing service schedules, with Fridley 

Station added as a stop on all trips that serve East River Road.  

Table 6: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 5 (Express Bus – Base) – Northstar Route 1 

TRIP 

# 
DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 

DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

1 Southbound Big Lake 6:00 AM Minneapolis 7:40 AM 

2 Southbound Big Lake 6:30 AM Minneapolis 8:10 AM 

3 Southbound Big Lake 7:00 AM Minneapolis 8:40 AM 

4 Southbound Big Lake 7:30 AM Minneapolis 9:10 AM 

5 Southbound Big Lake 8:00 AM Minneapolis 9:40 AM 

6 Southbound Big Lake 8:30 AM Minneapolis 10:10 AM 

7 Northbound Target Field 3:00 PM Big Lake 4:44 PM 

8 Northbound Target Field 3:30 PM Big Lake 5:14 PM 



   

Final Report 22 SRF Consulting Group 

TRIP 

# 
DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 

DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

9 Northbound Target Field 4:00 PM Big Lake 5:44 PM 

10 Northbound Target Field 4:30 PM Big Lake 6:14 PM 

11 Northbound Target Field 5:00 PM Big Lake 6:44 PM 

12 Northbound Target Field 5:30 PM Big Lake 7:14 PM 

13 Northbound Target Field 6:00 PM Big Lake 7:44 PM 

 

Table 7: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 5 (Express Bus – Base) – Northstar Route 2 

TRIP 

# 
DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 

DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

1 Southbound Anoka 6:00 AM Minneapolis 6:46 AM 

2 Southbound Anoka 6:30 AM Minneapolis 7:16 AM 

3 Southbound Anoka 7:00 AM Minneapolis 7:46 AM 

4 Southbound Anoka 7:30 AM Minneapolis 8:16 AM 

5 Southbound Anoka 8:00 AM Minneapolis 8:46 AM 

6 Southbound Anoka 8:30 AM Minneapolis 9:16 AM 

7 Northbound Target Field 3:00 PM Anoka 3:44 PM 

8 Northbound Target Field 3:30 PM Anoka 4:14 PM 

9 Northbound Target Field 4:00 PM Anoka 4:44 PM 

10 Northbound Target Field 4:30 PM Anoka 5:14 PM 

11 Northbound Target Field 5:00 PM Anoka 5:44 PM 

12 Northbound Target Field 5:30 PM Anoka 6:14 PM 

13 Northbound Target Field 6:00 PM Anoka 6:44 PM 

Estimated Travel Times 

Estimated travel times for Scenario 5 are based on existing travel speeds of nearby Metro Transit 

express routes. Northstar Route 1 (Minneapolis-Big Lake) is estimated to run at one hour and 40 

minutes northbound between downtown Minneapolis and Big Lake and one hour and 44 minutes 

in the southbound direction. The running times for Northstar Route 2 (Minneapolis-Anoka) are 

estimated at 46 minutes northbound between downtown Minneapolis and Anoka and 44 minutes 

in the southbound direction. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given 

in the Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership.  



   

Final Report 23 SRF Consulting Group 

Scenario 6: Express Bus - High  

Description 

Scenario 6: Express Bus – High would replace Northstar commuter rail operations with two bus 

routes serving most existing rail stations and operating peak-only service every 15 minutes, thereby 

doubling the service frequency of Scenario 5. 

Route Alignment and Stations 

Scenario 6 would implement two new express bus routes identical to those in Scenario 5. Route 1 

would serve the Big Lake, Elk River, and Ramsey stations, while Route 2 would serve the Anoka and 

Coon Rapids-Riverdale stations. Both routes would operate primarily via Hwy 10, Hwy 252, and 

Interstate 94 before serving the Marq2 transit corridor in downtown Minneapolis. The Fridley 

station would be served via a short deviation on the existing Route 852, as shown in Figure 16. 

Figure 16: Scenario 6 Alignment and Stations 

 

Frequency and Span of Service 

Scenario 6 would operate service every 15 minutes on both Northstar bus routes for the duration of 

Metro Transit’s peak hours, defined as 6:00 to 9:00 am and 3:00 to 6:30 pm. Trips would operate 

only in the southbound direction in the morning and only northbound in the afternoon, as shown in 



   

Final Report 24 SRF Consulting Group 

Table 8 and Table 9. Route 852 would keep its existing service schedules, with Fridley Station added 

as a stop on all trips that serve East River Road.  

Table 8: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 6 (Express Bus – High) – Northstar Route 1 

TRIP # DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 
DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

1 Southbound Big Lake 6:00 AM Minneapolis 7:40 AM 

2 Southbound Big Lake 6:15 AM Minneapolis 7:55 AM 

3- 

11 

  Every 15  

m   t     t  … 

 Every 15  

m   t     t  … 

12 Southbound Big Lake 8:45 AM Minneapolis 10:25 AM 

13 Northbound Target Field 3:00 PM Big Lake 4:44 PM 

14 Northbound Target Field 3:15 PM Big Lake 4:59 PM 

15- 

25 

  Every 15  

m   t     t  … 

 Every 15  

m   t     t  … 

26 Northbound Target Field 6:15 PM Big Lake 7:59 PM 

 

Table 9: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 6 (Express Bus – High) – Northstar Route 2 

TRIP # DIRECTION ORIGIN STATION START TIME 
DESTINATION 

STATION 
END TIME 

1 Southbound Anoka 6:00 AM Minneapolis 6:46 AM 

2 Southbound Anoka 6:15 AM Minneapolis 7:01 AM 

3- 

11 

  Every 15  

m   t     t  … 

 Every 15  

m   t     t  … 

12 Southbound Anoka 8:45 AM Minneapolis 9:31 AM 

13 Northbound Target Field 3:00 PM Anoka 3:44 PM 

14 Northbound Target Field 3:15 PM Anoka 3:59 PM 

15- 

25 

  Every 15  

m   t     t  … 

 Every 15  

m   t     t  … 

26 Northbound Target Field 6:15 PM Anoka 6:59 PM 

Estimated Travel Times 

Estimated travel times for Scenario 6 are based on existing travel speeds of nearby Metro Transit 

express routes and are identical to Scenario 5. Northstar Route 1 (Minneapolis-Big Lake) is 

estimated at one hour and 40 minutes northbound between downtown Minneapolis and Big Lake 

and one hour and 44 minutes in the southbound direction. The running times on Northstar Route 

2 (Minneapolis-Anoka) are estimated at 46 minutes northbound between downtown Minneapolis 

and Anoka and at 44 minutes in the southbound direction. A comparison of travel times with 

congested auto travel times is given in the Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership.  



   

Final Report 25 SRF Consulting Group 

Transit Scenario Analysis 

The primary outcome of the Northstar Corridor Post-Pandemic Study is an evaluation of the 

identified service scenarios. An initial set of evaluation categories consistent with other transit 

feasibility studies was shared with the PMT to obtain buy-in prior to developing specific criteria. The 

PMT identified environmental sustainability as a key topic initially missing from the evaluation. The 

consultant team determined specific criteria and associated measures for each category. Table 10 lists 

the individual evaluation criteria approved by the PMT, Corridor Technical Advisory Group 

(CTAG), and policymakers to evaluation categories. Methodologies for the analyses herein are 

described in detail in Appendix D. 

  

Table 10: Evaluation categories and criteria 

CATEGORY EVALUATION CRITERIA 

RIDERSHIP ESTIMATES Weekday ridership, annual ridership, productivity, travel time 

COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT 

Land use, zoning, development activity 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

SUSTAINABILITY 

Auto emissions reductions, direct emissions 

FINANCIAL 

PERFORMANCE 

Cost effectiveness, fare recovery, operating costs, capital costs, local 

share 

ACCESSIBILITY AND 

EQUITY 

Service to transit-reliant populations, access to downtown 

Minneapolis, access for BIPOC and low-income populations 

 

In reporting the results of the evaluation framework, all measures are treated equally. That is, no 

scores or weights are assigned to any measures. Some metrics are rounded to better reflect their 

uncertainty and others include likely ranges. The goal of this presentation style is to accurately reflect 

the high-level precision of this study and appropriately inform decisionmakers.  

The following sections detail evaluation criteria and associated metrics grouped by category that 

make up the evaluation framework. Categories (also noted in Table 10) include ridership estimates, 

community development, environmental sustainability, financial performance, and accessibility and 

equity.  

Ridership Estimates 

Ridership metrics (detailed in Table 11) were estimated for each transit service scenario for 

comparison. Care has been taken to evaluate the three separate modes in a way that enables fair 

comparisons. Future studies of a project-specific mode would likely augment this study’s 

methodology to better accommodate individual project characteristics. Results included below 



   

Final Report 26 SRF Consulting Group 

should primarily be considered for relative comparisons between scenarios rather than as official 

forecasts. 

Table 11: Ridership evaluation criteria, metrics, and data sources 

EVALUATION 

CRITERIA 
METRICS DATA SOURCE(S) 

Weekday 

Ridership 

Estimated average weekday ridership 

(excluding special event service); 2019 and 

2022 base years; 2040 reported as a range 

STOPS model 

Annual 

Ridership 

Estimated total annual ridership (including 

special event service); 2019 and 2022 

base years 

STOPS model; historical special event 

ridership data 

Productivity Passengers per in-service hour (weekday); 

2019 and 2022 base years 

STOPS model; service scenarios 

Travel Time Ratio of transit to auto travel time (average 

across all stations) 

Service scenario schedules; StreetLight 

auto travel time data 

 

Transit forecasting practice around the country has not fully recalibrated to a pandemic era reality. 

Current guidance from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for Capital Investment Grant 

applicants is to continue to use a pre-pandemic baseline. In the spirit of this study as a pandemic era 

investigation, methods applied here deviate from earlier regional study methodologies and include 

ridership estimates using both 2019 and 2022 baselines. Results presented in subsequent sections 

will be denoted as “2019 Baseline” and “2022 Baseline.”   

Results 

Travel Time 

Table 13 shows the ratio of transit to auto travel times by transit mode across all project stations.  

The metric is the average of individual stations’ travel times to Marquette Avenue and 5th Street 

(shown in Table 12) compared to auto travel times derived from StreetLight (observed) travel time 

data. A travel time index of 1.0 indicates that transit and auto travel times are identical, while an 

index of 0.5 indicates that transit travel times are half as long as auto travel. Both rail modes are 

highly competitive with auto travel times with index values less than 1.0. The Express Bus mode is 

about equivalent to auto travel time.  The methodology of travel time calculations can be found in 

Appendix D. 

 

  



   

Final Report 27 SRF Consulting Group 

Table 12: Travel Time (in minutes) from Station to 5th St & Marquette by Mode 

MODE FRIDLEY STATION 

COON 

RAPIDS 

RIVERDALE 

ANOKA RAMSEY 
ELK 

RIVER 
BIG LAKE 

ST. 

CLOUD 

Commuter 

Rail 

29 37 41 46 52 62 - 

Extend 

Rail 

29 37 41 46 52 62 93 

Express 

Bus 

19 36 45 57 72 98 - 

Auto 33 44.8 51.1 51.6 53.4 65.9 94.2 

 

Table 13: Ratio of Transit to Auto Travel Time 

MODE TRAVEL TIME INDEX 

Commuter Rail 0.89 

Extend Rail 0.90 

Express Bus 1.03 

 

Weekday Ridership 

Table 14 shows weekday ridership estimates by service scenario for 2019 and 2022 base years as 

modeled by STOPS. 2040 ridership estimates are presented as a range from ridership modeled on 

2022 to ridership modeled on 2019. Ridership forecasting methodology is described in Appendix D. 

Table 14: Weekday Ridership Forecast Results by Service Scenario 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

2019 WEEKDAY 

RIDERSHIP 

2022 WEEKDAY 

RIDERSHIP 

2040 WEEKDAY 

RIDERSHIP 

Commuter Rail Base 1,800 600 700 – 2,000 

Commuter Rail High 2,500 1,000 1,100 – 2,900 

Extend Rail Base 3,500 1,200 1,600 – 4,600 

Extend Rail High 3,800 1,500 1,900 – 5,000 

Express Bus Base 900 700 800 – 1,000 

Express Bus High 900 700 800 – 1,100 

 

Both Commuter Rail and Express Bus scenarios show minimal growth from the current year to 

2040. Much of this can be attributed to competition with other, new service in 2040, particularly 

Blue Line Extension. The terminal station of Blue Line Extension is located well within park-and-

ride catchment areas of the Anoka and Coon Rapids-Riverdale stations and travel times to the core 

of downtown are similar between the Commuter Rail scenarios and Blue Line Extension.  



   

Final Report 28 SRF Consulting Group 

There is notably minimal difference between ridership on Express Bus scenarios. This is in part due 

to rounding, but it is also indicative of demand being met with the Base scenario (peak service every 

30 minutes).  

Annual Ridership 

Table 15 shows annualized ridership estimates by service scenario for 2019 and 2022 base years. 

2040 ridership estimates are presented as a range of values. Annualization methods for ridership 

estimates are described in Appendix D. 

Table 15: Annual Ridership Forecast Results by Service Scenario 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

2019 ANNUAL 

RIDERSHIP 

2022 ANNUAL 

RIDERSHIP 

2040 ANNUAL 

RIDERSHIP 

Commuter Rail Base 560,000 200,000 220,000 – 620,000 

Commuter Rail High 780,000 320,000 350,000 – 880,000 

Extend Rail Base 1,100,000 390,000 490,000 – 1,400,000 

Extend Rail High 1,200,000 470,000 560,000 – 1,500,000 

Express Bus Base 350,000 220,000 230,000 – 360,000 

Express Bus High 350,000 220,000 230,000 – 400,000 

 

Productivity  

Productivity by service scenario, measured as passengers per revenue hour, is shown in Table 16. 

Note that weekday ridership for the Express Bus scenarios includes two routes in addition to 

ridership at Fridley Station on a modified Route 852. Because multiple services are included, 

tabulation of revenue hours is more complicated for Express Bus scenarios. As such, boardings per 

revenue hour are tabulated separately for each route, and Fridley Station ridership is excluded. 

Productivity results for Extend Rail scenarios are based on the assumption of continued 

BNSF/Metro Transit operation, and may vary from a service operated by Amtrak. 

Table 16: Passengers per Revenue Hour by Service Scenario 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

2019 WEEKDAY 

PRODUCTIVITY 

2022 WEEKDAY 

PRODUCTIVITY 

Commuter Rail Base 500 170 

Commuter Rail High 240 100 

Extend Rail Base 383 130 

Extend Rail High 236 95 

Express Bus Base: Route 1 20 15 

Express Bus Base: Route 2 14 8 

Express Bus High: Route 1 13 6 

Express Bus High: Route 2 5 2 



   

Final Report 29 SRF Consulting Group 

 

The productivity results in Table 16 highlight that ridership in “high” scenarios does not increase 

commensurate with level of service. This is true across all modes in 2019 and 2022 base years.  

Community Development 

The community development category includes criteria for land use, zoning, development activity, 

and density. The land use and zoning criteria evaluate what Northstar corridor cities envisioned and 

planned for in their station areas. The development activity and density criteria evaluate actual 

development in these station areas since 2009. The metrics for these evaluation criteria are 

summarized in Table 17. 

Table 17: Community Development Evaluation Criteria 

EVALUATION CATEGORY METRICS 

Land Use Transit-supportive land uses – 2010 (%) 

Land Use Transit-supportive land uses – 2020 (%) 

Land Use 
Percent change of station area transit-supportive land 

uses, 2010 to 2020 

Zoning Presence of transit-supportive zoning/overlay districts 

Zoning Presence of transit-supportive station area plans 

Development Activity Transit-supportive development (non- residential sq ft) 

Development Activity Transit supportive development (units) 

Density Density (units per acre) 

Density Are minimum density expectations for regional 

transitway stations met for the community type? 

Density 
Are the target density expectations for regional 

transitway stations met for the community type? 

Since the scenarios evaluated in this study largely use the same station areas, the results for the 

community development category metrics are presented by station area and city rather than by 

scenario. 

Results 

Land Use 

Table 18 summarizes the change in transit-supportive land uses in Northstar station areas between 

2010 and 2020. During this period the City of Ramsey had the greatest increase in transit-supportive 



   

Final Report 30 SRF Consulting Group 

land uses, followed by the City of Anoka. Minneapolis consistently had the highest amount of 

transit-supportive land uses. Big Lake also had a high percentage of transit-supportive land uses, due 

mostly to a large area that is planned for transit-oriented development. The City of Coon Rapids had 

the lowest percentage of transit-supportive land uses in its station area and had the largest decrease 

in transit-supportive uses between 2010 and 2020. Note that additional and in some cases substantial 

developments have occurred in station areas since 2020 that are not encompassed in this analysis. 

Table 18: Transit Supportive Land Uses 

CITY - STATION 

TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE 

LAND USES – 2010 

(%) 

TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE 

LAND USES – 2020 

(%) 

PERCENT CHANGE OF 

TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE 

LAND USES 

Minneapolis - Target Field 62.8% 69.8% 11.1% 

Fridley 21.6% 21.4% -0.8% 

Coon Rapids 6.1%* 6.1% 0%* 

Anoka 24.0% 28.2% 17.5% 

Ramsey 17.0% 24.4% 43.5% 

Elk River N/A 33.1% N/A 

Big Lake N/A 60.0% N/A 

St. Cloud - Amtrak Station N/A 21.5% N/A 

*                 f t        y       w                  t     f C          ’  t t                     t     t-supportive in 2010, resulting 

in a decline between 2010 and 2020. This is due to an error in classification of a single parcel, which was classified in the 2010 dataset 

as single-family attached (townhomes). The percentage has been corrected to show the appropriate classification of single-family 

detached, a non-transit-supportive land use.  

Station area land use maps are included in the Corridor History and Existing Conditions 

memorandum in Appendix A. 

Zoning 

All cities with existing Northstar stations have adopted some type of transit-oriented development 

(TOD) supportive zoning, overlay districts, or station area plans, as shown in Table 19. These cities 

also have regulations that either specifically reference TOD (e.g., a “TOD Overlay” in Fridley and a 

“TOD Employment-Emphasis” district in the City of Anoka) or are zoned for high-density use. 

Additionally, all of the current Northstar corridor cities except for Minneapolis have a Northstar-

specific station area plan. Most of the stations are also tax-increment financing (TIF) districts. Saint 

Cloud does not have any existing TOD regulations for the Amtrak station area; however, the current 

comprehensive plan notes that the area could be redeveloped for TOD if Northstar were extended 

to the city, and the city’s East End Vision plan positions the Amtrak station as a catalyst for future 

development. 



   

Final Report 31 SRF Consulting Group 

Table 19: Transit-Supportive Zoning and Plans 

CITY - STATION 

PRESENCE OF TRANSIT-

SUPPORTIVE ZONING/OVERLAY 

DISTRICTS 

PRESENCE OF TRANSIT-

SUPPORTIVE STATION AREA 

PLANS 

Minneapolis - Target Field Yes Yes* 

Fridley Yes Yes 

Coon Rapids Yes Yes 

Anoka Yes Yes 

Ramsey Yes Yes 

Elk River Yes Yes 

Big Lake Yes Yes 

St. Cloud - Amtrak Station No Yes* 

*While there is no Northstar-specific station area plan, the Minneapolis 2040 comprehensive plan provides for transit-supportive density 

in the Target Field station are   St  C    ’  E  t E                  w  t    x  t    Amt     t t           t  y t f   f t           m  t   

  



   

Final Report 32 SRF Consulting Group 

Development Activity 

Table 20 summarizes station area development since 2009 and classifies the development as transit-

supportive or non-transit-supportive development. Non-residential development is measured in 

square feet and residential developments are measured in units. Minneapolis is excluded from this 

table because they did not provide development data and Saint Cloud is excluded because there is 

not an existing Northstar station. 

All of the residential development that occurred along the existing Northstar corridor was transit-

supportive (i.e., not single-family detached development). The majority of transit-supportive non-

residential development occurred in the City of Ramsey. Most of the non-residential development 

along the corridor was non-transit supportive (e.g., industrial parks or auto-centric commercial 

development). Most of this non-residential, non-transit-supportive development took place in 

Fridley; however, it is notable that the non-transit supportive industrial development in Fridley 

added over 3,500 jobs to the station area, according to data provided by the city, which could 

contribute to an increase in ridership. 

Table 20: Station Area Development since 2009 

CITY - STATION 

NUMBER OF 

TRANSIT-

SUPPORTIVE 

PROJECTS 

NON-

RESIDENTIAL 

(SQ FT) 

RESIDENTIAL 

(UNITS) 

NUMBER OF 

NON-TRANSIT-

SUPPORTIVE 

PROJECTS 

NON-

RESIDENTIAL 

(SQ FT) 

RESIDENTIAL 

(UNITS) 

Minneapolis - 

Target Field 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Fridley 8 0 809 3 2,275,000 0 

Coon Rapids 13 45,094 525 1 130,356 0 

Anoka 5 0 598 1 0 0 

Ramsey 16 1,035,347 863 3 218,526 0 

Elk River 3 0 158 7 288,140 0 

Big Lake 4 0 255 0 0 0 

St. Cloud - 

Amtrak Station 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Total 49 1,080,441 3,208 15 2,912,022 0 

  



   

Final Report 33 SRF Consulting Group 

Development Density 

Table 21 compares residential density of station area developments since 2009 to the regional 

transitway station area minimum and target densities defined in the Transportation Policy Plan. 

Minneapolis is excluded from this table because it did not provide development data and Saint 

Cloud is excluded because there is not an existing commuter rail station. Of the remaining cities, 

Fridley, Ramsey, and Big Lake met the minimum residential density guidelines for transitway stations 

and none of the station areas met the target density guideline for the corresponding community 

type. 

Table 21: Residential Density 

CITY - 

STATION 

TPP 

COMMUNITY 

TYPE 

MINIMUM 

DENSITY 

(UNITS 

PER ACRE) 

TARGET 

DENSITY 

(UNITS 

PER 

ACRE) 

ACTUAL 

DENSITY 

(UNITS 

PER 

ACRE) 

ARE MINIMUM 

DENSITY 

EXPECTATIONS 

MET? 

ARE THE 

TARGET 

DENSITY 

EXPECTATIONS 

MET? 

Minneapolis - 

Target Field 

Station 

Urban Center N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Fridley Urban 25 50-100+ 26.77 Yes No 

Coon Rapids Suburban 20 40-75+ 13.20 No No 

Anoka Suburban 20 40-75+ 15.04 No No 

Ramsey Emerging 

Suburban 

Edge 

15 40-75+ 20.51 Yes No 

Elk River Emerging 

Suburban 

Edge* 

15 40-75+ 2.20 No No 

Big Lake Emerging 

Suburban 

Edge* 

15 40-75+ 15.92 Yes No 

St. Cloud - 

Amtrak 

Station 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

* The Cities of Elk River and Big Lake are outside of the Met Council’  j       t              t            C mm   ty  y      t        y’  

TPP. Emerging Suburban Edge was used for these cities based on guidance from Council staff. 

Maps showing parcels and development sites that have been developed or redeveloped since 2009 

can be found in Appendix A. These maps also categorize development as transit-supportive or non-

transit-supportive. 



   

Final Report 34 SRF Consulting Group 

Environmental Sustainability 

Table 22 shows the evaluation criteria selected for environmental sustainability. Environmental 

sustainability was assessed using the FTA’s Capital Investment Grant (CIG) methodology which 

estimates the change in auto vehicle miles travelled (VMT) and direct transit vehicle emissions 

within the corridor for each service scenario. All results are given in annual tons of carbon dioxide 

equivalent (CO2e) for a comprehensive look at environmental impacts. All methodology used in 

evaluating environmental sustainability is described in Appendix D. 

Table 22. Environmental Sustainability Evaluation Criteria, Metrics, and Data Sources 

EVALUATION CRITERIA MEASURES DATA SOURCE(S) 

Auto Emissions Reductions 
Change in CO2 emissions due to 

increase/decrease in regional auto VMT 

Regional STOPS model; FTA 

estimates by mode 

Direct Emissions Estimated CO2 emissions per passenger trip 
Regional STOPS model; FTA 

estimates by mode 

Net Emissions Net emissions change (auto + transit) 
Regional STOPS model; FTA 

estimates by mode 

Results 

Auto Emissions Reductions 

Change in auto VMT relative to the no-build scenario (see Schedules section under Ridership 

Estimates Methods for definition) was calculated for each service scenario to derive the annual 

reduction in tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) for each scenario as shown in Table 23.  

Table 23: Change in Auto Emissions by Service Scenario (Tons CO2e) 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

CHANGE IN  

AUTO EMISSIONS  

(2019 BASE YEAR)   

CHANGE IN  

AUTO EMISSIONS  

(2022 BASE YEAR)  

Commuter Rail Base -4,600 -1,800 

Commuter Rail High -6,200 -3,000 

Extend Rail Base -11,500 -5,600 

Extend Rail High -12,000 -6,000 

Express Bus Base -2,100 -1,000 

Express Bus High -2,100 -1,000 

Direct Emissions 

Table 24 shows annual direct emissions from transit vehicles in tons of carbon dioxide equivalent 

(CO2e) by service scenario as calculated using FTA’s CIG methodology.  



   

Final Report 35 SRF Consulting Group 

Table 24: Direct Transit Vehicle Emissions by Service Scenario (Tons CO2e) 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

TRANSIT DIRECT 

EMISSIONS 

Commuter Rail Base 450 

Commuter Rail High 1,500 

Extend Rail Base 1,200 

Extend Rail High 2,200 

Express Bus Base 1,000 

Express Bus High 2,000 

 

Net Emissions 

Table 25 shows a breakdown of changes in emissions by service scenario including a range of net 

emissions for 2019 and 2022 model base years. All service scenarios realized a net emissions 

reduction in the 2019 model, whereas only the Commuter Rail Base and Extend Rail High and Base 

scenarios showed a net emissions reduction in the 2022 model. 

Table 25: Net Emissions (Transit – Auto) by Service Scenario (Tons CO2e) 

SERVICE 

SCENARIO 

TRANSIT DIRECT 

EMISSIONS 

CHANGE IN  

AUTO EMISSIONS  

(2019 BASE YEAR)   

2019 NET 

EMISSIONS 

CHANGE IN  

AUTO EMISSIONS  

(2022 BASE YEAR)  

2022 NET 

EMISSIONS 

Commuter 

Rail Base 

400 -4,600 -4,200 -1,800 -1,300  

Commuter 

Rail High 

1,500 -6,200 --4,700 -3,000 -1.500  

Extend Rail 

Base 

1,200 -11,500 -10,300 -5,600 -3,200 

Extend Rail 

High 

2,200 -12,000 -10,000 -6,000 -3,400 

Express Bus 

Base 

1,000 -2,100 -1,100 -1,000 +0 

Express Bus 

High 

2,000 -2,100 -100 -1,000 +1,000 

 

  



   

Final Report 36 SRF Consulting Group 

Financial Performance 

Financial performance evaluation criteria include operations and maintenance costs, capital costs, 

and various measures calculated based on cost, ridership, and expected revenue. These criteria and 

metrics are shown in Table 26. The methodology for all financial performance metrics is described 

in Appendix D. 

Table 26: Financial Performance Evaluation Criteria, Metrics, and Data Sources. 

EVALUATION CRITERIA MEASURES DATA SOURCE(S) 

Cost-Effectiveness 
Total operations and maintenance 

cost per passenger trip 

Regional STOPS model; service 

scenarios; fare data 

Fare Recovery 

Percent of operations and 

maintenance costs covered by 

fares 

Regional STOPS model; service 

scenarios; fare data 

Operating Costs 
Total annual operations and 

maintenance costs 
Service scenarios 

Capital Costs 

Estimated total capital costs for 

project, including any repayment 

of federal funds 

Service scenarios 

Local Share 

Expected share of operations and 

maintenance costs to be borne by 

local communities 

Service scenarios 

Results 

Operations and Maintenance Costs 

Estimated total annual operations and maintenance costs for each scenario are shown in Table 27. 

Table 27: Operations and Maintenance Costs by Service Scenario (Annual, 2023 $) 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

ESTIMATED ANNUAL OPERATIONS 

AND MAINTENANCE COST (MILLIONS) 

Commuter Rail Base $12.0M 

Commuter Rail High $22.6M 

Extend Rail Base* $17.3M 

Extend Rail High* $26.0M 

Express Bus Base $1.9M 

Express Bus High $3.4M 

* Note: Extend Rail results are shown using unit costs scaled from commuter rail service and assume continued operation under 

BNSF/Metro Transit. Analysis of costs under an Amtrak-operated option (see Appendix C) indicated potentially lower costs if developed as 

a stand-alone (i.e., not connected with national network) corridor. 

 

  



   

Final Report 37 SRF Consulting Group 

Cost Effectiveness 

The estimated operations and maintenance cost per passenger trip for each scenario (calculated 

based on annual 2022 base year ridership) is shown in Table 28. 

Table 28: Cost Effectiveness by Service Scenario 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 

COST PER PASSENGER TRIP* 

Commuter Rail Base $63.31  

Commuter Rail High $70.55  

Extend Rail Base $44.46  

Extend Rail High $55.30  

Express Bus Base $8.89  

Express Bus High $15.53  

* Note: Operations and maintenance costs per trip are calculated based on 2022 

base year ridership results.  

Fare Recovery 

The estimated percentage of operations and maintenance costs covered by fare revenue for each 

scenario (calculated based on 2022 base year ridership) is shown in Table 29. 

Table 29: Fare Recovery by Service Scenario 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

FARE RECOVERY RATIO  

(REVENUE AS PERCENT OF COSTS)* 

Commuter Rail Base 5.4% 

Commuter Rail High 4.8% 

Extend Rail Base 6.6% 

Extend Rail High 5.8% 

Express Bus Base 15.0% 

Express Bus High 8.6% 

* Note: Fare recovery is calculated based on 2022 base year ridership results.  

  



   

Final Report 38 SRF Consulting Group 

Capital Costs 

Estimated total direct capital costs for each scenario (excluding ongoing debt service costs and 

potential repayment of federal funds) are shown in Table 30. 

Table 30: Direct Capital Costs by Service Scenario 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

DIRECT CAPITAL COSTS 

(MILLIONS)* 

Commuter Rail Base $0 

Commuter Rail High $0 

Extend Rail Base $35.5M 

Extend Rail High $66.6M 

Express Bus Base $7.2M 

Express Bus High $13.2M 

* Note: Direct capital costs assume no additional costs required for continuation of service.  

Extend Rail scenarios include track upgrades at St. Cloud and Big Lake stations and 

assume continued use of Northstar rolling stock. Express bus scenarios assume the  

purchase of new motorcoach vehicles sufficient to operate Northstar replacement service. 

 

Estimated indirect capital costs (ongoing debt repayment, decommissioning costs, grant repayment 

costs, sale/disposal of assets, and penalties) are shown in Table 31. 

Table 31: Indirect Capital Costs by Service Scenario 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

ONGOING 

COSTS 

(DEBT) 

DECOMMISSIONING 

COSTS 

REPAYMENT 

COSTS 

SALE/ 

DISPOSAL 

 

PENALTIES 

Commuter Rail 

Base 

$14.4M $0 $0 $0 $0 

Commuter Rail 

High 

$14.4M $0 $0 $0 $0 

Extend Rail Base* $14.4M $0 $0 $0 $0 

Extend Rail High* $14.4M $0 $0 $0 $0 

Express Bus 

Base** 

$14.4M $0.4M $10.6M-$161.9M ($11.1M) $0 

Express Bus 

High** 

$14.4M $0.4M $10.6M-$161.9M ($11.1M) $0 

*  Note: Extend Rail scenarios assume planned service complies with FTA New Starts FFGA, with no repayment required. This may require 

a waiver from FTA due to the schedule differences between rush-hour oriented commuter rail and bidirectional passenger rail. 

Similarly, Extend Rail scenarios assume operations with existing Northstar equipment, with no conversion to Amtrak fleet. 

** Note: Express bus scenarios     m    m    A     ym  t w    b    q       D   t       t   ty             A’  potential 

decisions regarding the appropriate utilization of Northstar assets, a range of repayment values is given  At m   m m,   A’  

share of rolling stock sold ($10.6M) would need to be repaid. A moderate repayment could be based on the federal share of the net book 

value of Northstar assets, estimated at $73.4 million as of June 30, 2022.  At maximum, FTA could require the repayment of all $161.9M 

in federal funding for the project. Penalties for rail termination assume adequate notice of six months if terminating with a contract period, 

or one year if terminating at the end of a five-year contract term. Repayment may not be required after the full lifespan of assets funded by 

federal grants has passed, estimated to be between 12 and 40 years. More analysis may be required to accurately determine 

decommissioning costs for assets on BNSF right-of-way. 



   

Final Report 39 SRF Consulting Group 

Subsidy per Passenger 

The operations and maintenance costs per trip that are not covered by fares, or subsidy per 

passenger estimates, are shown for each service scenario in Table 32. 

Table 32: Estimated Subsidy per Passenger by Service Scenario 

SERVICE 

SCENARIO 

SUBSIDY PER 

PASSENGER 

Commuter Rail Base $59.92  

Commuter Rail High $67.15  

Extend Rail Base $41.05  

Extend Rail High $51.88  

Express Bus Base $7.56  

Express Bus High $14.20  

* Note: Subsidy per passenger is calculated based on 2022 base year  

ridership results.  

Accessibility and Equity 

Table 33 describes the specific evaluation criteria and their corresponding measures that were 

applied for accessibility and equity. Relative levels of equity of the service scenarios are determined 

by two metrics: rides by people from zero-car households and ability of BIPOC and low-income 

populations to access downtown Minneapolis using each service mode at different travel time 

thresholds. All accessibility methodology is described in Appendix D. 

 

Table 33. Accessibility And Equity Evaluation Criteria, Measures, and Data Sources 

EVALUATION CRITERIA MEASURES DATA SOURCE(S) 

Service to Transit-Reliant 

Populations 

Number of trips by zero-car 

households (weekday) 

STOPS ridership forecasting 

model output 

Access to  

Downtown Minneapolis 

Number of people with access to 

downtown Minneapolis in 15-

minute incremental thresholds. 

American Community Survey 

(ACS) 2016-2020, Open Street 

Map, StreetLight LBS data 

Access For BIPOC and  

Low-Income Populations 

Number of BIPOC and low-income 

individuals with access to 

downtown Minneapolis in 15-

minute incremental thresholds. 

American Community Survey 

(ACS) 2016-2020, Open Street 

Map, StreetLight LBS data 

 



   

Final Report 40 SRF Consulting Group 

Results 

Service to Transit-Reliant Populations 

Table 34 shows the 2019-based weekday forecasted trips from zero-car households by service 

scenario as modeled by STOPS. For all scenarios, estimates remain at or below 50 trips by zero-car 

households, similar to the 40 daily trips observed in the 2016 On-Board Survey. These trips 

comprise only a small portion of overall estimated ridership, indicating that the majority of riders in 

the Northstar Corridor have access to a vehicle.  

Table 34: Trips from Zero-Car Households by Service Scenario 

SERVICE  

SCENARIO 

2019 TRIPS FROM ZERO 

CAR HOUSEHOLDS 

PERCENT OF  

TOTAL TRIPS 

Commuter Rail Base 20 1.1% 

Commuter Rail High 40 1.6% 

Extend Rail Base 25 0.7% 

Extend Rail High 50 1.3% 

Express Bus Base 10 1.1% 

Express Bus High 30 3.3% 

 

Access to Downtown Minneapolis  

(Total Population, BIPOC Population, and Low-Income Population) 

Table 35 through Table 37 compare park-and-ride accessibility between service scenarios 

cumulatively at 30, 60, 90, and 120-minute thresholds. Extend Rail results resemble those of 

commuter rail until the 90-minute threshold, as service is identical between scenarios outside of St. 

Cloud, after which point Extend Rail totals exceed those of commuter rail due to its serving 

additional populations. Longer travel times associated with express bus service yield lower 

accessibility than both rail scenarios. Commuter rail estimates are entirely captured within the 90-

minute threshold and so are not represented in the 120-minute threshold. 

Table 35. Comparison of access to downtown Minneapolis – Total Population 

TIME  

THRESHOLD 

COMMUTER RAIL 

SCENARIOS 

EXTEND RAIL 

SCENARIOS 

EXPRESS BUS 

SCENARIOS 

30 min 170,183  170,183  170,183 

60 min 843,843  843,843  655,713 

90 min 934,721  961,462 838,013 

120 min - 1,080,426 895,314 

 



   

Final Report 41 SRF Consulting Group 

Table 36. Comparison of access to downtown Minneapolis – BIPOC Population 

TIME  

THRESHOLD 

COMMUTER RAIL 

SCENARIOS 

EXTEND RAIL 

SCENARIOS 

EXPRESS BUS 

SCENARIOS 

30 min 81,688 81,688 81,688 

60 min 253,153 253,153 223,059 

90 min 261,722 269,209 250,582 

120 min - 280,911 255,948 

 

Table 37. Comparison of access to downtown Minneapolis – Low-Income Population 

TIME  

THRESHOLD 

COMMUTER RAIL 

SCENARIOS 

EXTEND RAIL 

SCENARIOS 

EXPRESS BUS 

SCENARIOS 

30 min 20,422 20,422 20,422 

60 min 65,430 65,430 56,429 

90 min 67,507 76,917 63,064  

120 min - 86,434 64,938 

 

  



   

Final Report 42 SRF Consulting Group 

Evaluation Summary 

The evaluation results presented in this report offer context for future decision-making regarding 

transit service in the Northstar Corridor. Since this study is not intended to recommend a single 

course of action, results are organized to facilitate comparisons across the three transit modes under 

consideration and between each of the six transit service scenarios evaluated.  

As shown in Table 38, the scenarios evaluation included five analysis categories to differentiate 

between the transit modes and base/high levels of service.  

 

Table 38. Evaluation Summary by Category 

CATEGORY EVALUATION CRITERIA MAJOR DIFFERENCES? 

RIDERSHIP Weekday ridership, annual ridership, productivity, 

travel time 

Yes 

COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT 

Land use, zoning, development activity No 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

SUSTAINABILITY 

Auto emissions reductions, direct emissions No 

FINANCIAL 

PERFORMANCE 

Cost effectiveness, fare recovery, operating costs, 

capital costs, local share 

Yes 

ACCESSIBILITY AND 

EQUITY 

Service to transit-reliant populations, access to 

downtown Minneapolis, access for BIPOC and low-

income populations 

Yes 

 

Three of these categories exhibited major differences and are described here: 

• Ridership: Weekday and annual ridership varied significantly between transit modes, 

scenarios, and forecast years, with the highest ridership predicted in the Extend Rail 

scenarios. Within each transit mode, productivity was highest for the base service scenarios, 

indicating that higher service levels may yield diminishing returns in terms of ridership. 

Travel times indicate that rail scenarios are most competitive with car travel, while bus 

service would offer marginally slower travel times to and from downtown Minneapolis from 

most stations. 

• Financial Performance: Financial evaluation measures showed clear differences between 

transit modes, with variation between base and high scenarios that is consistent with 

ridership results. Operations and maintenance costs are expected to be highest in the rail 

scenarios, with Extend Rail exceeding the costs required to provide similar service on 

commuter rail. Bus scenarios offer much lower potential operating costs but could be 

subject to full or partial repayment of federal grants, which could require significant outlays 

by Northstar Corridor funding partners. 



   

Final Report 43 SRF Consulting Group 

• Accessibility and Equity: Based on the faster travel times exhibited by rail, Scenarios 1 

through 4 offer better access to downtown Minneapolis employment destinations, including 

for BIPOC and low-income populations. (See Appendix D, pp. 17 – 29 for detailed 

discussion of methodology and results.) 

Financial performance and ridership are essential quantitative factors in the overall evaluation and 

are summarized in Table 39. 

Table 39. Financial and Ridership Results Summary 

EVALUATION 

CATEGORY 

NORTHSTAR 

ACTUALS 

COMMUTER 

RAIL BASE 

COMMUTER 

RAIL HIGH 

EXTEND 

RAIL BASE 

EXTEND 

RAIL HIGH 

EXPRESS 

BUS BASE 

EXPRESS 

BUS HIGH 

CAPITAL 

COSTS 

(2025$) 

N/A None None $36M+* $67M+* $7M $13M 

RISK OF FTA 

REPAYMENT N/A Unlikely Unlikely Possible Possible 

Likely 

(Est. 

~$75M) 

Likely 

(Est. 

~$75M) 

ANNUAL 

OPERATING 

COSTS 

(2023$) 

$11.9M $12M $23M $17M+* $26M+* $2M $3.5M 

RIDERSHIP 

POTENTIAL 

(# OF 

WEEKDAY 

RIDERS) 

275 600 1,000 1,200 1,500 700 700 

SUBSIDY 

PER 

PASSENGER 

Est. $150 $60 $67 $41 $52 $8 $14 

* Costs for Extending Rail to St. Cloud are preliminary and could increase depending on future project decisions and operating 

arrangements. 

The remaining evaluation categories did not exhibit major differences between scenarios: 

• Community Development: Evaluation criteria within the Community Development 

category are primarily related to land use and development within station areas. Since all 

scenarios would provide transit service to the six existing Northstar stations outside 

downtown Minneapolis, differences between scenarios are primarily related to the addition 

of St. Cloud in the Extend Rail scenarios. (See pp. 29-33 of this report for detailed results; 

see Appendix D, pp. 10-12 for detailed methodology.) 

• Environmental Sustainability: Based on the ridership forecasts and expected travel 

patterns, each scenario and transit mode was found to reduce automobile travel. Direct 

emissions from transit were fully offset by the reduction in auto emissions in at least one 

forecast year for all scenarios and transit modes. (See pp. 34-35 of this report for detailed 

results; see Appendix D, pp. 12-13 for detailed methodology.) 



   

Final Report 44 SRF Consulting Group 

Key Factors Analysis 

The evaluation results contained in this report illustrate the tradeoffs between scenarios and transit 

modes, and they also highlight important considerations for decision-making regarding Northstar. A 

summary of key decision factors is provided for each mode below. 

Commuter Rail 

A continuation of Northstar commuter rail service may allow for some ridership recovery, though 

the amount is uncertain. The evaluation metrics for this mode build on the historic performance of 

the service.  

Pros 

• Ridership is likely to increase with return to pre-pandemic service, but it is not expected to 
return to 2019 levels in the near term due to changes in commute patterns and in the 
downtown Minneapolis employment market. 

• Special event service could still be very productive in the future, as event attendance in 
Minneapolis has largely rebounded from the pandemic.  

Cons 

• Northstar’s operating costs per passenger are much higher than its peers. Current service 
levels minimize total costs, but subsidy per passenger remains high as well.  

• The current reduced service schedule (Base scenario of this study) offers limited utility for 
riders and limited potential for ridership recovery.  

Risks 

• Ridership may not rebound to levels in line with expectations.  
 

Extend Rail 

Extending rail service to St. Cloud would be a new type of service that introduces a number of new 

complexities. Because of the unprecedented nature of this option, its evaluation metrics carry 

uncertainty.  

Pros 

• Extension of the Northstar Corridor to St. Cloud would require further analysis but does 
offer the potential to reach new ridership markets.  

• This service is the least commuter-centric option, well-suited to accommodate changes in 
travel behaviors due to remote work. This service is more akin to a ‘hybrid’ service serving 
both commuter and intercity markets. 

• Repayment of FTA investment funds may be less likely or lower in total than for the express 
bus scenarios, depending on various factors including private or public operator, ultimate 
service schedule, and number/location of stations served. 

• Rail service between St. Cloud and Minneapolis is estimated to provide a faster trip than 
driving during the AM peak period. 



   

Final Report 45 SRF Consulting Group 

Cons 

• If operations were converted to Amtrak, it would require a new ridership and revenue 
forecast completed using Amtrak’s state-supported cost model. High-level analysis 
completed during this study indicates that annual Amtrak operating costs may be lower than 
operating Northstar today, but capital improvements will be necessary to realize an Amtrak-
operated line. Operating costs will differ from the estimates provided in this report. 

• Engineering studies are needed to develop the design specifications and refine capital costs 
for track improvements needed in St. Cloud, and potentially between Target Field and 
downtown Saint Paul.  

Risks 

• Expansion of service will require additional negotiations with BNSF. 

• Negotiations with FTA may also be required to permanently adjust service levels. 

• Though ridership estimates were highest for the Extend Rail sceanrios, there is uncertainty 
around the adoption of this new style of service by current non-transit users. 

Express Bus 

Modifying the service mode in the Northstar Corridor to bus would mean a return to service similar 

to what existed prior to rail investment. Express bus service has seen large declines in use during the 

pandemic era.   

Pros 

• Operations and maintenance savings are estimated to be at least $10 million per year based 
on the scenarios analyzed. 

• Bus service can more easily be expanded or contracted based on passenger demand.  

Cons 

• Ridership is anticipated to be much lower than other options. 

• Travel times are less competitive via bus than rail. 

• Repayment is subject to FTA discretion and may be impacted by potential legal action. 
Several scenarios are possible:  
- At minimum, FTA would need to be reimbursed for the federal share of any rail assets 

sold, estimated at $10.6 million.  
- At maximum, FTA could require the repayment of the entire federal share of the project, 

totaling $161.9 million.  
- A negotiated repayment could result in a value between the two, potentially on the basis 

of the federal share of Northstar assets at their current value, estimated at $73.4 million 
as of June 30, 2022.   

Risks 

• Conversion of Northstar to express bus operations offers the potential for lower annual 
operations and maintenance costs but carries a significant risk of FTA repayment for rail 
capital costs. 

• The amount required for repayment is impossible to predict without beginning negotiations 
with FTA. 



Final Report 46 SRF Consulting Group 

Next Steps 

Future decisions on transit service in the Northstar Corridor will be based on policy and public 

input considerations that go beyond the scope of this study. Ultimately, the transit mode and service 

levels selected will be adopted by policymakers based on local and regional needs, including the 

potential for future growth, the need to address funding considerations, and the ongoing desire to 

provide reasonably cost-effective and equitable transit. Public engagement will also be an essential 

component of any service decisions made. Project partners will consider these and other factors in 

pursuing a course of action that best meets the needs of Northstar Corridor communities, the Twin 

Cities metropolitan area, and the state of Minnesota. The diagram shown in Figure 17 illustrates the 

proposed next steps for selecting a preferred transit mode and level of service for the Northstar 

Corridor. 

Figure 17: Next Steps 

  

   


	0 - PB Agenda June 2023
	A - May 11, 2023 PB Mintues
	B1 - Approved May 2023 Disbursements and Deposits prepared 05 30 2023
	B2 - Proposed June 2023 and July 2023 Disbursements by Steve Aune Prepared 05 30 2023
	C - TIP administrative modification memo
	D - 05262023 TAC Meeting Staff Report memo
	E - CRS Cover Memo
	F1 - FY 2024-2027 TIP memo
	F2 - Saint Cloud Area Planning Organization FY 2024-2027 Draft TIP Table
	G - Northstar-Rail-Corridor-Study_FinalReport_03-31-2023
	Structure Bookmarks
	Northstar Rail Corridor  Post-Pandemic Study  
	Northstar Rail Corridor  Post-Pandemic Study  
	Final Report 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Figure
	 
	Prepared by: 
	 
	Figure
	March 31, 2023 
	 
	Table of Contents 
	Table of Contents 
	Introduction ........................................................................................................................................................ 2
	Introduction ........................................................................................................................................................ 2
	Introduction ........................................................................................................................................................ 2

	 

	Corridor History and Existing Conditions ..................................................................................................... 4
	Corridor History and Existing Conditions ..................................................................................................... 4
	Corridor History and Existing Conditions ..................................................................................................... 4

	 

	Planning Context and Expectations ......................................................................................................... 4
	Planning Context and Expectations ......................................................................................................... 4
	Planning Context and Expectations ......................................................................................................... 4

	 

	Northstar Historic Performance ............................................................................................................... 6
	Northstar Historic Performance ............................................................................................................... 6
	Northstar Historic Performance ............................................................................................................... 6

	 

	Peer Corridor Review ........................................................................................................................................ 9
	Peer Corridor Review ........................................................................................................................................ 9
	Peer Corridor Review ........................................................................................................................................ 9

	 

	Transit Service Scenarios ................................................................................................................................ 13
	Transit Service Scenarios ................................................................................................................................ 13
	Transit Service Scenarios ................................................................................................................................ 13

	 

	Scenario 1: Commuter Rail - Base .......................................................................................................... 14
	Scenario 1: Commuter Rail - Base .......................................................................................................... 14
	Scenario 1: Commuter Rail - Base .......................................................................................................... 14

	 

	Scenario 2: Commuter Rail - High ......................................................................................................... 15
	Scenario 2: Commuter Rail - High ......................................................................................................... 15
	Scenario 2: Commuter Rail - High ......................................................................................................... 15

	 

	Scenario 3: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - Base .......................................................................................... 17
	Scenario 3: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - Base .......................................................................................... 17
	Scenario 3: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - Base .......................................................................................... 17

	 

	Scenario 4: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - High ......................................................................................... 19
	Scenario 4: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - High ......................................................................................... 19
	Scenario 4: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - High ......................................................................................... 19

	 

	Scenario 5: Express Bus - Base ............................................................................................................... 20
	Scenario 5: Express Bus - Base ............................................................................................................... 20
	Scenario 5: Express Bus - Base ............................................................................................................... 20

	 

	Scenario 6: Express Bus - High............................................................................................................... 23
	Scenario 6: Express Bus - High............................................................................................................... 23
	Scenario 6: Express Bus - High............................................................................................................... 23

	 

	Transit Scenario Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 25
	Transit Scenario Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 25
	Transit Scenario Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 25

	 

	Ridership Estimates .................................................................................................................................. 25
	Ridership Estimates .................................................................................................................................. 25
	Ridership Estimates .................................................................................................................................. 25

	 

	Community Development ....................................................................................................................... 29
	Community Development ....................................................................................................................... 29
	Community Development ....................................................................................................................... 29

	 

	Environmental Sustainability ................................................................................................................... 34
	Environmental Sustainability ................................................................................................................... 34
	Environmental Sustainability ................................................................................................................... 34

	 

	Financial Performance .............................................................................................................................. 36
	Financial Performance .............................................................................................................................. 36
	Financial Performance .............................................................................................................................. 36

	 

	Accessibility and Equity ........................................................................................................................... 39
	Accessibility and Equity ........................................................................................................................... 39
	Accessibility and Equity ........................................................................................................................... 39

	 

	Evaluation Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 42
	Evaluation Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 42
	Evaluation Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 42

	 

	Key Factors Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 44
	Key Factors Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 44
	Key Factors Analysis ................................................................................................................................ 44

	 

	Next Steps ......................................................................................................................................................... 46
	Next Steps ......................................................................................................................................................... 46
	Next Steps ......................................................................................................................................................... 46

	 

	 

	Appendices 
	Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing Conditions Technical Report 
	Appendix B: Peer Corridor Review Technical Report 
	Appendix C: Rail Extension Technical Report 
	Appendix D: Evaluation Methods Technical Report 
	 
	Introduction 
	The Northstar Rail Corridor Post-Pandemic Study (hereafter “Northstar study”) has been developed by the Metropolitan Council (hereafter “Met Council”) to inform decision-making regarding the future of the Northstar Rail Corridor. Recognizing the decline in ridership and operational challenges precipitated by the COVID-19 pandemic, this study outlines and evaluates potential scenarios for providing transit service in the Northstar Corridor, including the continuation of commuter rail service, extension to St
	Study Purpose 
	This study will serve as a tool to assist state and local decision makers in determining a future course of action. It is not intended to make recommendations regarding any future transit scenario, but rather, will examine the trade-offs of possible future transit scenarios. The scenario evaluation will document the potential benefits and opportunities for future transit service in the corridor and compare them against the likely impacts and challenges of implementation. Through this study process, the foll
	• What are the recent trends in this corridor? 
	• What are the recent trends in this corridor? 
	• What are the recent trends in this corridor? 

	• How well did Northstar Corridor perform prior to Covid-19? 
	• How well did Northstar Corridor perform prior to Covid-19? 

	• What are peer agencies thinking about similar commuter rail corridors in their regions? 
	• What are peer agencies thinking about similar commuter rail corridors in their regions? 

	• Given past performance and model of the future and its constraints, what are reasonable scenarios that could make the Northstar Corridor successful? 
	• Given past performance and model of the future and its constraints, what are reasonable scenarios that could make the Northstar Corridor successful? 

	• What are the impacts of the scenarios on ridership, finances, land use, vehicle miles traveled, and access to opportunity via transit? 
	• What are the impacts of the scenarios on ridership, finances, land use, vehicle miles traveled, and access to opportunity via transit? 

	• Who will be impacted by these scenarios geographically and by socio-economic demographics? 
	• Who will be impacted by these scenarios geographically and by socio-economic demographics? 


	Previous Planning Efforts 
	This Northstar study builds on the work of previous planning efforts related to the Northstar Corridor, including but not limited to the following: 
	• Northstar Corridor Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS), 2000 
	• Northstar Corridor Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS), 2000 
	• Northstar Corridor Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS), 2000 

	• Northstar Corridor Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS), 2002 
	• Northstar Corridor Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS), 2002 

	• Northstar Corridor Phase II Extension Memo, 2010 
	• Northstar Corridor Phase II Extension Memo, 2010 

	• Northstar Commuter Rail Corridor Before-and-After Study, 2009 
	• Northstar Commuter Rail Corridor Before-and-After Study, 2009 

	• Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment, 2020 
	• Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment, 2020 


	  
	Project Management Structure 
	Decision-making for this Northstar study was guided by three advisory groups as follows: 
	• Project Management Team (PMT): Responsible for reviewing consultant progress and providing direction on a biweekly basis. Composed of staff from the Northstar Corridor funding partners: Met Council, Metro Transit, Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT), and Anoka, Hennepin, and Sherburne Counties. 
	• Project Management Team (PMT): Responsible for reviewing consultant progress and providing direction on a biweekly basis. Composed of staff from the Northstar Corridor funding partners: Met Council, Metro Transit, Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT), and Anoka, Hennepin, and Sherburne Counties. 
	• Project Management Team (PMT): Responsible for reviewing consultant progress and providing direction on a biweekly basis. Composed of staff from the Northstar Corridor funding partners: Met Council, Metro Transit, Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT), and Anoka, Hennepin, and Sherburne Counties. 

	• Corridor Technical Advisory Group (CTAG): Responsible for reviewing study progress and providing feedback on the scenarios evaluated, analysis methods used, and preliminary results. Consists of PMT members plus technical planning staff from cities with Northstar stations: Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids, Fridley, and Minneapolis as well as the St. Cloud Area Planning Organization.  
	• Corridor Technical Advisory Group (CTAG): Responsible for reviewing study progress and providing feedback on the scenarios evaluated, analysis methods used, and preliminary results. Consists of PMT members plus technical planning staff from cities with Northstar stations: Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids, Fridley, and Minneapolis as well as the St. Cloud Area Planning Organization.  

	• Policymaker Group: Responsible for reviewing final materials developed based on input from the PMT and CTAG. Consists of elected and appointed policymakers from the funding partner agencies: 
	• Policymaker Group: Responsible for reviewing final materials developed based on input from the PMT and CTAG. Consists of elected and appointed policymakers from the funding partner agencies: 
	• Policymaker Group: Responsible for reviewing final materials developed based on input from the PMT and CTAG. Consists of elected and appointed policymakers from the funding partner agencies: 
	o Met Council (Chair and councilmembers from Northstar Corridor districts) 
	o Met Council (Chair and councilmembers from Northstar Corridor districts) 
	o Met Council (Chair and councilmembers from Northstar Corridor districts) 

	o Metro Transit (General manager and senior staff) 
	o Metro Transit (General manager and senior staff) 

	o MnDOT (Commissioner and senior staff) 
	o MnDOT (Commissioner and senior staff) 

	o County commissioners from Anoka, Hennepin, and Sherburne Counties 
	o County commissioners from Anoka, Hennepin, and Sherburne Counties 





	The policymaker group represents the agencies that will ultimately be responsible for making decisions regarding future transit service in the Northstar Corridor, including the type and amount of transit service offered, as well as the funding arrangements for capital and operating costs.  
	Contents of this Report 
	This report includes the following items: 
	• Corridor History and Existing Conditions: A summary of Northstar’s historical development and recent performance.  
	• Corridor History and Existing Conditions: A summary of Northstar’s historical development and recent performance.  
	• Corridor History and Existing Conditions: A summary of Northstar’s historical development and recent performance.  

	• Peer Corridor Review: A summary of findings based on analysis of peer commuter rail corridor data, as well as agency interviews. 
	• Peer Corridor Review: A summary of findings based on analysis of peer commuter rail corridor data, as well as agency interviews. 

	• Service Scenarios: A description of each of the six scenarios evaluated in this study. 
	• Service Scenarios: A description of each of the six scenarios evaluated in this study. 

	• Scenario Evaluation Framework and Results: Evaluation criteria and results for all scenarios. 
	• Scenario Evaluation Framework and Results: Evaluation criteria and results for all scenarios. 

	• Evaluation Summary: A review of key evaluation criteria that highlight differences in performance between scenarios and across transit modes, with a focus on decision-making. 
	• Evaluation Summary: A review of key evaluation criteria that highlight differences in performance between scenarios and across transit modes, with a focus on decision-making. 

	• Next Steps: A brief description of next steps to determine the preferred mode and level of service in the Northstar Corridor. 
	• Next Steps: A brief description of next steps to determine the preferred mode and level of service in the Northstar Corridor. 


	Appendices to this report include additional content produced to inform the project team’s understanding of historic and existing service performance, as well as further detail on select topics. 
	• Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing Conditions Technical Report 
	• Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing Conditions Technical Report 
	• Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing Conditions Technical Report 

	• Appendix B: Peer Corridor Review Technical Report 
	• Appendix B: Peer Corridor Review Technical Report 

	• Appendix C: Rail Extension Technical Report 
	• Appendix C: Rail Extension Technical Report 

	• Appendix D: Evaluation Methods Technical Report 
	• Appendix D: Evaluation Methods Technical Report 


	Corridor History and Existing Conditions 
	Planning Context and Expectations 
	Project Origins 
	Examination of commuter rail in the Twin Cities began in 1997, with the initiation of the Twin Cities Commuter Rail Feasibility Study. The study was conducted in two phases, with reports published in January 1998 and January 1999, respectively. The Northstar Corridor was included in this study. 
	Planning Efforts 
	This Northstar study builds on the work of subsequent planning efforts related to the Northstar Corridor, including but not limited to the following1: 
	1 For a full list and description of previous planning projects examined, please see Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing Conditions Technical Report. 
	1 For a full list and description of previous planning projects examined, please see Appendix A: Corridor History and Existing Conditions Technical Report. 

	• Northstar Corridor Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS), 2000 
	• Northstar Corridor Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS), 2000 
	• Northstar Corridor Draft Environmental Impact Statement (DEIS), 2000 

	• Northstar Corridor Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS), 2002 
	• Northstar Corridor Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS), 2002 

	• Northstar Corridor Phase II Extension Memo, 2010 
	• Northstar Corridor Phase II Extension Memo, 2010 

	• Northstar Commuter Rail Corridor Before-and-After Study, 2009 
	• Northstar Commuter Rail Corridor Before-and-After Study, 2009 

	• Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment, 2020 
	• Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment, 2020 


	The Northstar Corridor DEIS and FEIS identified the Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) as a commuter rail line extending from downtown Minneapolis to Rice, Minnesota (a distance of 81.8 miles), with a minimum operating segment from downtown Minneapolis to Big Lake (the current 40.1-mile corridor).  
	In addition, they established four principal goals for the project:  
	• Improve mobility and safety within the corridor  
	• Improve mobility and safety within the corridor  
	• Improve mobility and safety within the corridor  

	• Minimize adverse environmental impacts and foster positive environmental excellence  
	• Minimize adverse environmental impacts and foster positive environmental excellence  

	• Encourage transportation-supportive land use development patterns  
	• Encourage transportation-supportive land use development patterns  

	• Provide a cost-effective and efficient transportation system 
	• Provide a cost-effective and efficient transportation system 


	Funding Agreements 
	In 2007, the Northstar Corridor received an FTA Full Funding Grant Agreement (FFGA) to construct the project’s minimum operating segment (MOS) at a total cost of $320.0 million. These costs were allocated among the following project partners, as shown in 
	In 2007, the Northstar Corridor received an FTA Full Funding Grant Agreement (FFGA) to construct the project’s minimum operating segment (MOS) at a total cost of $320.0 million. These costs were allocated among the following project partners, as shown in 
	Figure 1
	Figure 1

	: 

	• FTA New Starts grant: $156.8 million 
	• FTA New Starts grant: $156.8 million 
	• FTA New Starts grant: $156.8 million 

	• State of Minnesota (through MnDOT): $98.6 million 
	• State of Minnesota (through MnDOT): $98.6 million 

	• Met Council: $5.9 million 
	• Met Council: $5.9 million 

	• Other federal grants: $5.1 million 
	• Other federal grants: $5.1 million 

	• Minnesota Twins: $2.6 million (for construction of Target Field vertical circulation building) 
	• Minnesota Twins: $2.6 million (for construction of Target Field vertical circulation building) 

	• Northstar Corridor Development Authority (NCDA): $51.0 million  NCDA funding is divided according to the proportion of track miles in each constituent county as follows:  
	• Northstar Corridor Development Authority (NCDA): $51.0 million  NCDA funding is divided according to the proportion of track miles in each constituent county as follows:  
	• Northstar Corridor Development Authority (NCDA): $51.0 million  NCDA funding is divided according to the proportion of track miles in each constituent county as follows:  
	o Anoka County: $34.8 million (68.3 percent of NCDA total) 
	o Anoka County: $34.8 million (68.3 percent of NCDA total) 
	o Anoka County: $34.8 million (68.3 percent of NCDA total) 

	o Hennepin County: $8.0 million (15.6 percent of NCDA total) 
	o Hennepin County: $8.0 million (15.6 percent of NCDA total) 

	o Sherburne County: $8.2 million (16.1 percent of NCDA total) 
	o Sherburne County: $8.2 million (16.1 percent of NCDA total) 





	Figure 1: Northstar Capital Funding Amounts (in millions and percent of total) 
	 
	Figure
	Span

	Operations and maintenance costs are similarly allocated among state and local partners. The current funding formula is as follows: 
	• State of Minnesota (through MnDOT): 50 percent 
	• State of Minnesota (through MnDOT): 50 percent 
	• State of Minnesota (through MnDOT): 50 percent 

	• NCDA: 50 percent  As with capital costs, NCDA funding for operations and maintenance is divided according to the proportion of track miles in each constituent county as follows: 
	• NCDA: 50 percent  As with capital costs, NCDA funding for operations and maintenance is divided according to the proportion of track miles in each constituent county as follows: 
	• NCDA: 50 percent  As with capital costs, NCDA funding for operations and maintenance is divided according to the proportion of track miles in each constituent county as follows: 
	o Anoka County: 68.3 percent of NCDA total 
	o Anoka County: 68.3 percent of NCDA total 
	o Anoka County: 68.3 percent of NCDA total 

	o Hennepin County: 15.6 percent of NCDA total 
	o Hennepin County: 15.6 percent of NCDA total 

	o Sherburne County: 16.1 percent of NCDA total 
	o Sherburne County: 16.1 percent of NCDA total 





	 
	Northstar Historic Performance 
	The Northstar Corridor opened for service in 2009. Since then, ridership has underperformed relative to original forecasts but grew steadily during the decade prior to the pandemic.  
	Forecasted and Observed Ridership  
	The Northstar FEIS projected about 4,000 average weekday boardings for its opening year of 2009, higher than the 1,800 average observed for that period. 
	The Northstar FEIS projected about 4,000 average weekday boardings for its opening year of 2009, higher than the 1,800 average observed for that period. 
	Figure 2
	Figure 2

	 shows forecasted and observed weekday ridership figures for 2009 and 2025 (compared to 2019 to represent pre-pandemic peak). The service plan assumed in the original forecasts was changed substantially before the line opened, including a reduction from 18 to 12 trains per day. No forecasts were conducted using this revised service plan, making it difficult to accurately assess system performance against expectations. A normalized version of this chart assessing riders-per-train can be found in Appendix A. 

	Figure 2: Northstar Forecasted and Observed Average Weekday Ridership 
	 
	Figure
	P
	Span
	Figure 3
	Figure 3

	 shows average weekday and weekend ridership from 2009 to 2022. Growth primarily occurred in weekday ridership, with an average of 2,660 in 2019. Weekend ridership declined in the early years of the corridor but leveled out in 2016 until weekend service was eliminated in 2020. Due to the severe impacts of the pandemic, the Northstar Corridor averaged only 275 riders per weekday by 2022, or nearly 90 percent less than its 2019 average. 

	Figure 3: Average Weekday and Weekend Ridership, 2009-2022 
	 
	Figure
	Prior to the pandemic, special events at Target Field and U.S. Bank Stadium provided a significant proportion of daily and annual ridership: between 31 and 37 percent of annual ridership on average. In 2019, weekday special events days had nearly 900 more riders than the average non-event weekday, while weekend event days added over 1,400 riders on average. No weekend or event service has been operated since 2020, when a reduced schedule of two roundtrips per day was implemented due to low ridership.  
	Figure 4: Average Daily Rides by Day Type, 2019 vs. 2022 
	 
	Figure
	Span

	  
	Operating Costs and Subsidies 
	With the decline in ridership on the Northstar Corridor since the pandemic began, project partners are concerned given the level of public funding allocated for construction and operations. Existing operations and maintenance costs ranged from $15.3 to $17.5 million during pre-pandemic years, with decreases in 2020 and 2021 due to the reduction in service. 
	With the decline in ridership on the Northstar Corridor since the pandemic began, project partners are concerned given the level of public funding allocated for construction and operations. Existing operations and maintenance costs ranged from $15.3 to $17.5 million during pre-pandemic years, with decreases in 2020 and 2021 due to the reduction in service. 
	Figure 5
	Figure 5

	 shows the trend of Northstar operating expenses from 2017 through 2021. While operating costs have been reduced, the subsidy per passenger has increased substantially, from $19 per trip in 2019 to $173 in 2022. 

	Figure 5: Northstar Operations and Maintenance Expenses, 2017-2021 
	 
	Figure
	Span

	Figure 6: Northstar Per-Passenger Subsidy, 2017-2021 
	 
	Figure
	Span

	 
	Peer Corridor Review 
	As part of this study, the consultant team analyzed system performance for Northstar commuter rail and five similar rail corridors before and after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. Northstar’s peer rail corridors evaluated in this report are: 
	• Downeaster intercity rail in New England, which is operated by Amtrak and managed by Northern New England Passenger Rail Authority (NNEPRA). This represents a ‘hybrid’ system in which serves both commuter and intercity trip purposes. 
	• Downeaster intercity rail in New England, which is operated by Amtrak and managed by Northern New England Passenger Rail Authority (NNEPRA). This represents a ‘hybrid’ system in which serves both commuter and intercity trip purposes. 
	• Downeaster intercity rail in New England, which is operated by Amtrak and managed by Northern New England Passenger Rail Authority (NNEPRA). This represents a ‘hybrid’ system in which serves both commuter and intercity trip purposes. 

	• COASTER commuter rail in San Diego, which is operated by Bombardier Transportation on behalf of North County Transit District (NCTD) 
	• COASTER commuter rail in San Diego, which is operated by Bombardier Transportation on behalf of North County Transit District (NCTD) 

	• FrontRunner commuter rail in Salt Lake City, which is operated by Utah Transit Authority (UTA) 
	• FrontRunner commuter rail in Salt Lake City, which is operated by Utah Transit Authority (UTA) 

	• Sounder commuter rail in Seattle, which is operated by BNSF on behalf of Sound Transit 
	• Sounder commuter rail in Seattle, which is operated by BNSF on behalf of Sound Transit 

	• Trinity Railway Express commuter rail in Dallas/Fort Worth, which is operated by Herzog Transit Services on behalf of Trinity Metro (Fort Worth/Tarrant County) and Dallas Area Rapid Transit (DART) 
	• Trinity Railway Express commuter rail in Dallas/Fort Worth, which is operated by Herzog Transit Services on behalf of Trinity Metro (Fort Worth/Tarrant County) and Dallas Area Rapid Transit (DART) 


	This review of peer corridors included interviews of peer transit agency staff and a comparison of pre-COVID and pandemic-era system performance measures using data from the National Transit Database (NTD). Detailed results of this review are available in Appendix B. 
	Peer Agency Interview Summary 
	The consultant team interviewed peer transit agency staff between August and October 2022. These interviews focused on questions related to agencies’ responses to the COVID-19 pandemic highlighting service changes, pandemic ridership recovery strategies, and what the future of the peer rail corridor will look like.  
	Through these interviews the consultant team learned that most of Northstar’s peer agencies have reinstated commuter rail service to pre-pandemic levels, but ridership has been slow to rebound, especially among traditional commuters. All of Northstar’s peer agencies have reinstated some level of special event service and many are seeing ridership that mirrors pre-COVID levels on those trips. 
	In general, the peer agency contacts seemed optimistic about the future of their commuter rail service. Most of Northstar’s peer agencies have major capital projects underway to expand and improve their service. Additionally, multiple agencies cited geographical constraints to the region’s growth and growing congestion as reasons why they believe commuter rail will be successful in their region over the long term. For Sounder and FrontRunner, 2019 was either the highest ridership or second highest ridership
	National Transit Database Data Analysis Summary 
	This analysis evaluated performance measures for Northstar and its five peer rail corridors before and after the COVID-19 pandemic began, using data from the National Transit Database (NTD). This analysis used 2019 data as a pre-COVID baseline and 2021 data to reflect performance after the COVID-19 pandemic began. The system performance measures included in this analysis relate to ridership, operating costs, and subsidies. 
	Ridership. In 2019, Northstar had the second lowest annual ridership among these peer agencies and by 2021 it had the lowest annual ridership (
	Ridership. In 2019, Northstar had the second lowest annual ridership among these peer agencies and by 2021 it had the lowest annual ridership (
	Figure 7
	Figure 7

	). However, Northstar’s productivity, as measured by passengers per vehicle (train car) revenue hour, is comparable to that of many of its peers (
	Figure 8
	Figure 8

	).  

	Figure 7: Northstar and Peer Corridor Ridership, 2017-2021 
	 
	Figure
	Source: National Transit Database. 
	Figure 8: Northstar and Peer Corridor Productivity, 2017-2021 
	 
	Figure
	Source: National Transit Database. 
	Operating Costs. Northstar had the lowest overall operating cost among its peer agencies in both FY 2019 and FY 2021. However, when summarized as cost efficiency, or operating cost per vehicle revenue hour, Northstar had the highest operating cost because Northstar’s annual vehicle revenue hours were much lower than its peers for both years (
	Operating Costs. Northstar had the lowest overall operating cost among its peer agencies in both FY 2019 and FY 2021. However, when summarized as cost efficiency, or operating cost per vehicle revenue hour, Northstar had the highest operating cost because Northstar’s annual vehicle revenue hours were much lower than its peers for both years (
	Table 1
	Table 1

	). Northstar’s operating costs per vehicle revenue hour increased 95 percent during this period. Northstar’s operating costs per service trip is also found to be high among its peers. 

	Table 1: Northstar and Peer Corridor Operating Costs, 2019-2021 
	COMMUTER RAIL SERVICE 
	COMMUTER RAIL SERVICE 
	COMMUTER RAIL SERVICE 
	COMMUTER RAIL SERVICE 
	COMMUTER RAIL SERVICE 

	TOTAL OPERATING COST, FY 2019 
	TOTAL OPERATING COST, FY 2019 

	TOTAL OPERATING COST, FY2021 
	TOTAL OPERATING COST, FY2021 

	OPERATING COST PER VRH, FY2019 
	OPERATING COST PER VRH, FY2019 

	OPERATING COST PER VRH, FY2021 
	OPERATING COST PER VRH, FY2021 



	Sounder 
	Sounder 
	Sounder 
	Sounder 

	$56,879,437 
	$56,879,437 

	$62,324,946 
	$62,324,946 

	$751.97 
	$751.97 

	$1,194 
	$1,194 


	FrontRunner 
	FrontRunner 
	FrontRunner 

	$44,291,302 
	$44,291,302 

	$49,428,282 
	$49,428,282 

	$265.75 
	$265.75 

	$332 
	$332 


	Trinity Railway Express 
	Trinity Railway Express 
	Trinity Railway Express 

	$33,798,689 
	$33,798,689 

	$37,823,959 
	$37,823,959 

	$457.79 
	$457.79 

	$578 
	$578 


	COASTER 
	COASTER 
	COASTER 

	$19,643,067 
	$19,643,067 

	$23,843,716 
	$23,843,716 

	$485.57 
	$485.57 

	$956 
	$956 


	Downeaster 
	Downeaster 
	Downeaster 

	$23,056,079 
	$23,056,079 

	$20,049,595 
	$20,049,595 

	$280.54 
	$280.54 

	$303 
	$303 


	Northstar 
	Northstar 
	Northstar 

	$17,484,857 
	$17,484,857 

	$8,881,226 
	$8,881,226 

	$1,247.14 
	$1,247.14 

	$2,433 
	$2,433 




	Source: National Transit Database. VRH = Vehicle Revenue Hour. 
	Subsidy and Fare Recovery. Northstar had a low total subsidy compared to its peers in FY 2019 and had the lowest total subsidy among its peers in FY 2021. However, the per passenger subsidy allows for a better comparison between the agencies. In FY 2019, Northstar had the second-to-highest per passenger subsidy among its peers and in FY 2021, Northstar had the highest per passenger subsidy (
	Subsidy and Fare Recovery. Northstar had a low total subsidy compared to its peers in FY 2019 and had the lowest total subsidy among its peers in FY 2021. However, the per passenger subsidy allows for a better comparison between the agencies. In FY 2019, Northstar had the second-to-highest per passenger subsidy among its peers and in FY 2021, Northstar had the highest per passenger subsidy (
	Figure 9
	Figure 9

	). In both FY 2019 and FY 2021, Northstar had the lowest farebox 

	recovery ratio, that is, the percentage of operating expenses covered by fare revenue, of its peers (
	recovery ratio, that is, the percentage of operating expenses covered by fare revenue, of its peers (
	Figure 10
	Figure 10

	). 

	Figure 9: Northstar and Peer Corridor Subsidy per Passenger, 2019-2021 
	 
	Figure
	Source: National Transit Database. 
	Figure 10: Northstar and Peer Corridor Fare Recovery, 2019-2021 
	 
	Figure
	Source: National Transit Database. 
	Overall Findings 
	The results from the peer agency interviews and the NTD data analysis for pre- and post-COVID performance suggests that many of Northstar’s peer agencies seem to have stronger prospects for recovering from the pandemic than Northstar. While the NTD data show that Northstar’s peers also experienced dramatic decreases in ridership during the early period of the pandemic, most peer 
	agency staff expressed optimism about the long-term future of their respective corridors when interviewed and most of Northstar’s peers are actively planning to expand and improve their commuter rail service coming out of the pandemic. Northstar still operates on a limited pandemic service schedule, which may contribute to slower ridership recovery. 
	Transit Service Scenarios 
	The following section describes the six scenarios evaluated in the Northstar Rail Corridor Post-Pandemic Study. These scenarios were developed with input from the Met Council, Metro Transit, MnDOT, and corridor funding partners. The six scenarios represent illustrative service options for three possible transit service types: commuter rail, extend rail, and express bus. Scenarios for each transit mode represent two levels of service: “Base,” or minimum service, and “High,” a more robust schedule. Considerat
	• Commuter Rail: Scenarios 1 and 2 reflect the continuation of Northstar commuter rail service using current (Base) or pre-pandemic (High) service levels, with the addition of special event service. 
	• Commuter Rail: Scenarios 1 and 2 reflect the continuation of Northstar commuter rail service using current (Base) or pre-pandemic (High) service levels, with the addition of special event service. 
	• Commuter Rail: Scenarios 1 and 2 reflect the continuation of Northstar commuter rail service using current (Base) or pre-pandemic (High) service levels, with the addition of special event service. 

	• Extend Rail to St. Cloud: Scenarios 3 and 4 outline potential options for rail extension, drawing on information developed in MnDOT’s 
	• Extend Rail to St. Cloud: Scenarios 3 and 4 outline potential options for rail extension, drawing on information developed in MnDOT’s 
	• Extend Rail to St. Cloud: Scenarios 3 and 4 outline potential options for rail extension, drawing on information developed in MnDOT’s 
	Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020)
	Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020)

	. For the purposes of this study, several assumptions have been made as follows: 
	o “Extend rail” is used here to refer to scenarios that involve extension of existing rail service to serve St. Cloud. These scenarios differ from the options evaluated in the MnDOT study because they assume that underlying commuter rail trips (peak-oriented trips terminating in Big Lake) no longer operate. Extend Rail scenarios are specific to this study and may differ from Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) or other definitions of intercity rail. 
	o “Extend rail” is used here to refer to scenarios that involve extension of existing rail service to serve St. Cloud. These scenarios differ from the options evaluated in the MnDOT study because they assume that underlying commuter rail trips (peak-oriented trips terminating in Big Lake) no longer operate. Extend Rail scenarios are specific to this study and may differ from Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) or other definitions of intercity rail. 
	o “Extend rail” is used here to refer to scenarios that involve extension of existing rail service to serve St. Cloud. These scenarios differ from the options evaluated in the MnDOT study because they assume that underlying commuter rail trips (peak-oriented trips terminating in Big Lake) no longer operate. Extend Rail scenarios are specific to this study and may differ from Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) or other definitions of intercity rail. 

	o In both Scenario 3 and Scenario 4, trips would serve all existing Northstar stations. The resulting schedules would provide access for commute trips to and from downtown Minneapolis at peak hours, but would also operate service in the reverse direction, providing bi-directional service to and from St. Cloud. This operation would allow the Scenarios 3 and 4 to serve a hybrid market of daily commute trips and occasional travel, similar to Amtrak’s Downeaster corridor. 
	o In both Scenario 3 and Scenario 4, trips would serve all existing Northstar stations. The resulting schedules would provide access for commute trips to and from downtown Minneapolis at peak hours, but would also operate service in the reverse direction, providing bi-directional service to and from St. Cloud. This operation would allow the Scenarios 3 and 4 to serve a hybrid market of daily commute trips and occasional travel, similar to Amtrak’s Downeaster corridor. 

	o As in the MnDOT study, potential costs for Extend Rail scenarios are based on the assumption that BNSF would continue to operate the rail service using existing fleet and facilities. Consideration of conversion to Amtrak as the operator is described further in Appendix C: Rail Extension Technical Report. 
	o As in the MnDOT study, potential costs for Extend Rail scenarios are based on the assumption that BNSF would continue to operate the rail service using existing fleet and facilities. Consideration of conversion to Amtrak as the operator is described further in Appendix C: Rail Extension Technical Report. 




	• Express Bus: Scenarios 5 and 6 evaluate the potential discontinuation of Northstar rail service and conversion to Metro Transit express bus operations. Express buses in each scenario would serve all existing Northstar rail stations, providing access to and from downtown Minneapolis via 2nd and Marquette avenues. These scenarios also include 
	• Express Bus: Scenarios 5 and 6 evaluate the potential discontinuation of Northstar rail service and conversion to Metro Transit express bus operations. Express buses in each scenario would serve all existing Northstar rail stations, providing access to and from downtown Minneapolis via 2nd and Marquette avenues. These scenarios also include 


	assessment of any potential repayment costs that may be necessary if Northstar rail service is discontinued.   
	assessment of any potential repayment costs that may be necessary if Northstar rail service is discontinued.   
	assessment of any potential repayment costs that may be necessary if Northstar rail service is discontinued.   


	Scenario 1: Commuter Rail - Base 
	Description 
	Scenario 1: Commuter Rail – Base would continue Northstar commuter rail operations at the current (reduced) service level, which has been in place since the advent of Covid 19 in early 2020. This scenario also includes two additional round-trip trains on event days. 
	Route Alignment and Stations 
	Scenario 1 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, with all trips serving Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Target Field stations. All trips would use the existing BNSF-owned rail corridor tracks, as shown in 
	Scenario 1 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, with all trips serving Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Target Field stations. All trips would use the existing BNSF-owned rail corridor tracks, as shown in 
	Figure 11
	Figure 11

	. 

	Figure 11: Scenario 1 Alignment and Stations 
	 
	Figure
	Source: Metro Transit. 
	Frequency and Span of Service 
	Scenario 1 would maintain the current commuter--oriented service schedule, with two southbound trips from Big Lake Station to Target Field Station in the morning and two northbound trips from Target Field Station to Big Lake Station in the afternoon with times similar to those shown in 
	Scenario 1 would maintain the current commuter--oriented service schedule, with two southbound trips from Big Lake Station to Target Field Station in the morning and two northbound trips from Target Field Station to Big Lake Station in the afternoon with times similar to those shown in 
	Table 2
	Table 2

	. Service would operate on weekdays only. Special event trains (two additional round trips per event day) would operate on an estimated 96 days per year. 

	Table 2: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 1 (Commuter Rail – Base) 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:48 AM 
	5:48 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:40 AM 
	6:40 AM 


	2 
	2 
	2 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:18 AM 
	7:18 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	8:10 AM 
	8:10 AM 


	3 
	3 
	3 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:27 PM 
	4:27 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:19 PM 
	5:19 PM 


	4 
	4 
	4 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:30 PM 
	5:30 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:22 PM 
	6:22 PM 




	Source: Metro Transit.  
	Estimated Travel Times 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 1 would be consistent with current schedules, with both northbound and southbound trips running at about 52 minutes between Big Lake Station and Target Field Station. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 1 would be consistent with current schedules, with both northbound and southbound trips running at about 52 minutes between Big Lake Station and Target Field Station. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 
	Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership
	Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership

	.  

	Scenario 2: Commuter Rail - High 
	Description 
	Scenario 2: Commuter Rail – High would restore Northstar commuter rail operations to the pre-pandemic service levels, which were in place prior to 2020. These service levels comprise 12 one-way trips with an addition 2 one-way trips on event days. 
	Route Alignment and Stations 
	Scenario 2 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, with all trips serving Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Target Field stations. All trips would use the existing BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in 
	Scenario 2 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, with all trips serving Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Target Field stations. All trips would use the existing BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in 
	Figure 12
	Figure 12

	. 

	Figure 12: Scenario 2 Alignment and Stations 
	 
	Figure
	Source: Metro Transit. 
	Frequency and Span of Service 
	Scenario 2 would return to the pre-2020 Northstar service schedule, with 12 total one-way trips per weekday. Peak-direction trips would include five weekday southbound trips in the morning and five northbound trips in the afternoon. In addition to these peak-direction trips, one northbound reverse-commute trip would operate in the morning, and one southbound reverse-commute trip would operate in the evening, as shown in 
	Scenario 2 would return to the pre-2020 Northstar service schedule, with 12 total one-way trips per weekday. Peak-direction trips would include five weekday southbound trips in the morning and five northbound trips in the afternoon. In addition to these peak-direction trips, one northbound reverse-commute trip would operate in the morning, and one southbound reverse-commute trip would operate in the evening, as shown in 
	Table 3
	Table 3

	. Weekend service would consist of 6 one-way trips per day; special event service would add one additional round trip on about 96 event days per year. 

	Table 3: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 2 (Commuter Rail – High) 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:00 AM 
	5:00 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:52 AM 
	5:52 AM 


	2 
	2 
	2 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:48 AM 
	5:48 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:40 AM 
	6:40 AM 


	3 
	3 
	3 

	Northbound* 
	Northbound* 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:15 AM 
	6:15 AM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:07 AM 
	7:07 AM 


	4 
	4 
	4 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:18 AM 
	6:18 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	7:10 AM 
	7:10 AM 




	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	5 
	5 
	5 
	5 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:48 AM 
	6:48 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	7:40 AM 
	7:40 AM 


	6 
	6 
	6 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:18 AM 
	7:18 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	8:10 AM 
	8:10 AM 


	7 
	7 
	7 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:57 PM 
	3:57 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	4:49 PM 
	4:49 PM 


	8 
	8 
	8 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:27 PM 
	4:27 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:19 PM 
	5:19 PM 


	9 
	9 
	9 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:57 PM 
	4:57 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:49 PM 
	5:49 PM 


	10 
	10 
	10 

	Southbound* 
	Southbound* 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:03 PM 
	5:03 PM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:55 PM 
	5:55 PM 


	11 
	11 
	11 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:30 PM 
	5:30 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:22 PM 
	6:22 PM 


	12 
	12 
	12 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:15 PM 
	6:15 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:07 PM 
	7:07 PM 




	Source: Metro Transit.  * Denotes reverse-commute trip.  
	Estimated Travel Times 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 2 would be consistent with current schedules, with both northbound and southbound trips running at about 52 minutes between Big Lake Station and Target Field Station. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 2 would be consistent with current schedules, with both northbound and southbound trips running at about 52 minutes between Big Lake Station and Target Field Station. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 
	Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership
	Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership

	. 

	Scenario 3: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - Base 
	Description 
	Scenario 3: Extend Rail to St. Cloud – Base would extend daily rail operations to St. Cloud, with four one-way train trips per day and two additional bus round-trips on event days. 
	Route Alignment and Stations 
	Scenario 3 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, while adding service to the existing St. Cloud Amtrak station. All trips would serve St. Cloud, Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations, using existing BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in 
	Scenario 3 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, while adding service to the existing St. Cloud Amtrak station. All trips would serve St. Cloud, Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations, using existing BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in 
	Figure 13
	Figure 13

	.  

	Figure 13: Scenario 3 Alignment and Stations 
	 
	Figure
	Source: Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (MnDOT, 2020). 
	Frequency and Span of Service 
	Scenario 3 would operate service consistent with the minimum bi-directional service plan from MnDOT’s 
	Scenario 3 would operate service consistent with the minimum bi-directional service plan from MnDOT’s 
	Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020)
	Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020)

	. Service would include four one-way trips daily, with one AM northbound and one AM southbound trip, and one PM northbound and one PM southbound trip. One midday bus roundtrip would be added, as shown in 
	Table 4
	Table 4

	. Weekend service would consist of the same four one-way train trips per day, while special event service would be provided on an assumed 96 days per year (assuming continued BNSF/Metro Transit operation) with two bus round trips serving the Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations.  

	Table 4: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 3 (Extend Rail – Base) 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:10 AM 
	6:10 AM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	7:28 AM 
	7:28 AM 


	2 
	2 
	2 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	6:47 AM 
	6:47 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	8:10 AM 
	8:10 AM 


	BUS 
	BUS 
	BUS 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	10:15 AM 
	10:15 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	12:45 PM 
	12:45 PM 


	BUS 
	BUS 
	BUS 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	1:00 PM 
	1:00 PM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	3:10 PM 
	3:10 PM 


	3 
	3 
	3 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	4:32 PM 
	4:32 PM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:55 PM 
	5:55 PM 


	4 
	4 
	4 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:30 PM 
	5:30 PM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	6:48 PM 
	6:48 PM 




	Source: Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020).   
	Estimated Travel Times 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 3 would be consistent with the Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Study, with northbound train trips scheduled to run 78 minutes between 
	Target Field and St. Cloud, and southbound train trips running at 83 minutes in the opposite direction. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 
	Target Field and St. Cloud, and southbound train trips running at 83 minutes in the opposite direction. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 
	Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership
	Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership

	. 

	Scenario 4: Extend Rail to St. Cloud - High 
	Description 
	Scenario 4: Extend Rail to St. Cloud – High would extend daily rail operations to St. Cloud, with nine one- way train trips and two additional one-way bus trips on event days. 
	Route Alignment and Stations 
	Scenario 4 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, while adding service to the existing St. Cloud Amtrak station. As in Scenario 3, all trips would serve St. Cloud, Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations, using existing BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in 
	Scenario 4 would maintain service at all current Northstar stations, while adding service to the existing St. Cloud Amtrak station. As in Scenario 3, all trips would serve St. Cloud, Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, Fridley, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations, using existing BNSF-owned corridor tracks, as shown in 
	Figure 14
	Figure 14

	.  

	Figure 14: Scenario 4 Alignment and Stations 
	 
	Figure
	Source: Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (MnDOT, 2020). 
	Frequency and Span of Service 
	Scenario 4 would operate service consistent with the bi-directional service plan from the Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) 
	Scenario 4 would operate service consistent with the bi-directional service plan from the Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) 
	Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020)
	Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020)

	. Service would include nine trips per weekday, with five northbound and four southbound trips. An additional midday bus round trip would also be operated, as shown in 
	Table 5
	Table 5

	. Weekend service would consist of the same four train trips per day as in Scenario 3, while special event service would be provided on 96 days per year with two bus round trips serving the Big Lake, Elk River, Ramsey, Anoka, Coon Rapids-Riverdale, and Minneapolis/Target Field stations.  

	Table 5: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 4 (Extend Rail – High) 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	5:48 AM 
	5:48 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	7:11 AM 
	7:11 AM 


	2 
	2 
	2 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:10 AM 
	6:10 AM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	7:28 AM 
	7:28 AM 


	3 
	3 
	3 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	6:47 AM 
	6:47 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	8:10 AM 
	8:10 AM 


	BUS 
	BUS 
	BUS 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	10:15 AM 
	10:15 AM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	12:45 PM 
	12:45 PM 


	BUS 
	BUS 
	BUS 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	1:00 PM 
	1:00 PM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	3:10 PM 
	3:10 PM 


	4 
	4 
	4 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:27 PM 
	4:27 PM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	5:45 PM 
	5:45 PM 


	5 
	5 
	5 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	4:32 PM 
	4:32 PM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:55 PM 
	5:55 PM 


	6 
	6 
	6 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:57 PM 
	4:57 PM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	6:15 PM 
	6:15 PM 


	7 
	7 
	7 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:30 PM 
	5:30 PM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	6:48 PM 
	6:48 PM 


	8 
	8 
	8 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	5:30 PM 
	5:30 PM 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:53 PM 
	6:53 PM 


	9 
	9 
	9 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:15 PM 
	6:15 PM 

	St. Cloud 
	St. Cloud 

	7:33 PM 
	7:33 PM 




	Source: Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Assessment (2020).   
	Estimated Travel Times 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 4 would be consistent with the Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Study and identical to Scenario 3, with northbound train trips scheduled to run 78 minutes between Target Field and St. Cloud, and southbound train trips running at about 83 minutes in the opposite direction. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 4 would be consistent with the Northstar Commuter Rail Extension Feasibility Study and identical to Scenario 3, with northbound train trips scheduled to run 78 minutes between Target Field and St. Cloud, and southbound train trips running at about 83 minutes in the opposite direction. A comparison of travel times with congested auto travel times is given in the 
	Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership
	Transit Scenario Analysis section on ridership

	. 

	Scenario 5: Express Bus - Base  
	Description 
	Scenario 5: Express Bus – Base would replace Northstar commuter rail operations with two new bus routes serving most existing rail stations and operating peak-only service every 30 minutes. 
	Route Alignment and Stations 
	Scenario 5 would implement two new express bus routes: Route 1 would serve the Big Lake, Elk River, and Ramsey stations, while Route 2 would serve the Anoka and Coon Rapids-Riverdale stations. Both routes would operate primarily via Hwy 10, Hwy 252, and Interstate 94 before serving the Marq2 transit corridor in downtown Minneapolis. The Fridley station would be served via a short deviation on the existing Route 852 which provides service between downtown Minneapolis and Anoka Community & Technical College v
	Scenario 5 would implement two new express bus routes: Route 1 would serve the Big Lake, Elk River, and Ramsey stations, while Route 2 would serve the Anoka and Coon Rapids-Riverdale stations. Both routes would operate primarily via Hwy 10, Hwy 252, and Interstate 94 before serving the Marq2 transit corridor in downtown Minneapolis. The Fridley station would be served via a short deviation on the existing Route 852 which provides service between downtown Minneapolis and Anoka Community & Technical College v
	Figure 15
	Figure 15

	. 

	Figure 15: Scenario 5 Alignment and Stations 
	 
	Figure
	Frequency and Span of Service 
	Scenario 5 would operate service every 30 minutes on both Northstar bus routes for the duration of Metro Transit’s peak hours, defined as 6:00 to 9:00 AM and 3:00 to 6:30 PM. Trips would operate in the southbound direction only in the morning and northbound direction only in the afternoon, as shown in 
	Scenario 5 would operate service every 30 minutes on both Northstar bus routes for the duration of Metro Transit’s peak hours, defined as 6:00 to 9:00 AM and 3:00 to 6:30 PM. Trips would operate in the southbound direction only in the morning and northbound direction only in the afternoon, as shown in 
	Table 6
	Table 6

	 and 
	Table 7
	Table 7

	. Route 852 would keep its existing service schedules, with Fridley Station added as a stop on all trips that serve East River Road.  

	Table 6: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 5 (Express Bus – Base) – Northstar Route 1 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:00 AM 
	6:00 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	7:40 AM 
	7:40 AM 


	2 
	2 
	2 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:30 AM 
	6:30 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	8:10 AM 
	8:10 AM 


	3 
	3 
	3 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:00 AM 
	7:00 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	8:40 AM 
	8:40 AM 


	4 
	4 
	4 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:30 AM 
	7:30 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	9:10 AM 
	9:10 AM 


	5 
	5 
	5 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	8:00 AM 
	8:00 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	9:40 AM 
	9:40 AM 


	6 
	6 
	6 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	8:30 AM 
	8:30 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	10:10 AM 
	10:10 AM 


	7 
	7 
	7 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:00 PM 
	3:00 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	4:44 PM 
	4:44 PM 


	8 
	8 
	8 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:30 PM 
	3:30 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:14 PM 
	5:14 PM 




	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	9 
	9 
	9 
	9 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:00 PM 
	4:00 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	5:44 PM 
	5:44 PM 


	10 
	10 
	10 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:30 PM 
	4:30 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:14 PM 
	6:14 PM 


	11 
	11 
	11 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:00 PM 
	5:00 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:44 PM 
	6:44 PM 


	12 
	12 
	12 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:30 PM 
	5:30 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:14 PM 
	7:14 PM 


	13 
	13 
	13 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:00 PM 
	6:00 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:44 PM 
	7:44 PM 




	 
	Table 7: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 5 (Express Bus – Base) – Northstar Route 2 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	6:00 AM 
	6:00 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	6:46 AM 
	6:46 AM 


	2 
	2 
	2 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	6:30 AM 
	6:30 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	7:16 AM 
	7:16 AM 


	3 
	3 
	3 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	7:00 AM 
	7:00 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	7:46 AM 
	7:46 AM 


	4 
	4 
	4 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	7:30 AM 
	7:30 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	8:16 AM 
	8:16 AM 


	5 
	5 
	5 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	8:00 AM 
	8:00 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	8:46 AM 
	8:46 AM 


	6 
	6 
	6 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	8:30 AM 
	8:30 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	9:16 AM 
	9:16 AM 


	7 
	7 
	7 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:00 PM 
	3:00 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	3:44 PM 
	3:44 PM 


	8 
	8 
	8 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:30 PM 
	3:30 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	4:14 PM 
	4:14 PM 


	9 
	9 
	9 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:00 PM 
	4:00 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	4:44 PM 
	4:44 PM 


	10 
	10 
	10 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	4:30 PM 
	4:30 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	5:14 PM 
	5:14 PM 


	11 
	11 
	11 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:00 PM 
	5:00 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	5:44 PM 
	5:44 PM 


	12 
	12 
	12 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	5:30 PM 
	5:30 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	6:14 PM 
	6:14 PM 


	13 
	13 
	13 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:00 PM 
	6:00 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	6:44 PM 
	6:44 PM 




	Estimated Travel Times 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 5 are based on existing travel speeds of nearby Metro Transit express routes. Northstar Route 1 (Minneapolis-Big Lake) is estimated to run at one hour and 40 minutes northbound between downtown Minneapolis and Big Lake and one hour and 44 minutes in the southbound direction. The running times for Northstar Route 2 (Minneapolis-Anoka) are estimated at 46 minutes northbound between downtown Minneapolis and Anoka and 44 minutes in the southbound direction. A comparison of tr
	Scenario 6: Express Bus - High  
	Description 
	Scenario 6: Express Bus – High would replace Northstar commuter rail operations with two bus routes serving most existing rail stations and operating peak-only service every 15 minutes, thereby doubling the service frequency of Scenario 5. 
	Route Alignment and Stations 
	Scenario 6 would implement two new express bus routes identical to those in Scenario 5. Route 1 would serve the Big Lake, Elk River, and Ramsey stations, while Route 2 would serve the Anoka and Coon Rapids-Riverdale stations. Both routes would operate primarily via Hwy 10, Hwy 252, and Interstate 94 before serving the Marq2 transit corridor in downtown Minneapolis. The Fridley station would be served via a short deviation on the existing Route 852, as shown in 
	Scenario 6 would implement two new express bus routes identical to those in Scenario 5. Route 1 would serve the Big Lake, Elk River, and Ramsey stations, while Route 2 would serve the Anoka and Coon Rapids-Riverdale stations. Both routes would operate primarily via Hwy 10, Hwy 252, and Interstate 94 before serving the Marq2 transit corridor in downtown Minneapolis. The Fridley station would be served via a short deviation on the existing Route 852, as shown in 
	Figure 16
	Figure 16

	. 

	Figure 16: Scenario 6 Alignment and Stations 
	 
	Figure
	Frequency and Span of Service 
	Scenario 6 would operate service every 15 minutes on both Northstar bus routes for the duration of Metro Transit’s peak hours, defined as 6:00 to 9:00 am and 3:00 to 6:30 pm. Trips would operate only in the southbound direction in the morning and only northbound in the afternoon, as shown in 
	Table 8
	Table 8
	Table 8

	 and 
	Table 9
	Table 9

	. Route 852 would keep its existing service schedules, with Fridley Station added as a stop on all trips that serve East River Road.  

	Table 8: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 6 (Express Bus – High) – Northstar Route 1 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:00 AM 
	6:00 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	7:40 AM 
	7:40 AM 


	2 
	2 
	2 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	6:15 AM 
	6:15 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	7:55 AM 
	7:55 AM 


	3- 11 
	3- 11 
	3- 11 

	 
	 

	 
	 

	Every 15  m   t     t  … 
	Every 15  m   t     t  … 

	 
	 

	Every 15  m   t     t  … 
	Every 15  m   t     t  … 


	12 
	12 
	12 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	8:45 AM 
	8:45 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	10:25 AM 
	10:25 AM 


	13 
	13 
	13 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:00 PM 
	3:00 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	4:44 PM 
	4:44 PM 


	14 
	14 
	14 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:15 PM 
	3:15 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	4:59 PM 
	4:59 PM 


	15- 25 
	15- 25 
	15- 25 

	 
	 

	 
	 

	Every 15  m   t     t  … 
	Every 15  m   t     t  … 

	 
	 

	Every 15  m   t     t  … 
	Every 15  m   t     t  … 


	26 
	26 
	26 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:15 PM 
	6:15 PM 

	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	7:59 PM 
	7:59 PM 




	 
	Table 9: Weekday Schedule – Scenario 6 (Express Bus – High) – Northstar Route 2 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 
	TRIP # 

	DIRECTION 
	DIRECTION 

	ORIGIN STATION 
	ORIGIN STATION 

	START TIME 
	START TIME 

	DESTINATION STATION 
	DESTINATION STATION 

	END TIME 
	END TIME 



	1 
	1 
	1 
	1 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	6:00 AM 
	6:00 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	6:46 AM 
	6:46 AM 


	2 
	2 
	2 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	6:15 AM 
	6:15 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	7:01 AM 
	7:01 AM 


	3- 11 
	3- 11 
	3- 11 

	 
	 

	 
	 

	Every 15  m   t     t  … 
	Every 15  m   t     t  … 

	 
	 

	Every 15  m   t     t  … 
	Every 15  m   t     t  … 


	12 
	12 
	12 

	Southbound 
	Southbound 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	8:45 AM 
	8:45 AM 

	Minneapolis 
	Minneapolis 

	9:31 AM 
	9:31 AM 


	13 
	13 
	13 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:00 PM 
	3:00 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	3:44 PM 
	3:44 PM 


	14 
	14 
	14 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	3:15 PM 
	3:15 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	3:59 PM 
	3:59 PM 


	15- 25 
	15- 25 
	15- 25 

	 
	 

	 
	 

	Every 15  m   t     t  … 
	Every 15  m   t     t  … 

	 
	 

	Every 15  m   t     t  … 
	Every 15  m   t     t  … 


	26 
	26 
	26 

	Northbound 
	Northbound 

	Target Field 
	Target Field 

	6:15 PM 
	6:15 PM 

	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	6:59 PM 
	6:59 PM 




	Estimated Travel Times 
	Estimated travel times for Scenario 6 are based on existing travel speeds of nearby Metro Transit express routes and are identical to Scenario 5. Northstar Route 1 (Minneapolis-Big Lake) is estimated at one hour and 40 minutes northbound between downtown Minneapolis and Big Lake and one hour and 44 minutes in the southbound direction. The running times on Northstar Route 2 (Minneapolis-Anoka) are estimated at 46 minutes northbound between downtown Minneapolis and Anoka and at 44 minutes in the southbound di
	Transit Scenario Analysis 
	The primary outcome of the Northstar Corridor Post-Pandemic Study is an evaluation of the identified service scenarios. An initial set of evaluation categories consistent with other transit feasibility studies was shared with the PMT to obtain buy-in prior to developing specific criteria. The PMT identified environmental sustainability as a key topic initially missing from the evaluation. The consultant team determined specific criteria and associated measures for each category. 
	The primary outcome of the Northstar Corridor Post-Pandemic Study is an evaluation of the identified service scenarios. An initial set of evaluation categories consistent with other transit feasibility studies was shared with the PMT to obtain buy-in prior to developing specific criteria. The PMT identified environmental sustainability as a key topic initially missing from the evaluation. The consultant team determined specific criteria and associated measures for each category. 
	Table 10
	Table 10

	 lists the individual evaluation criteria approved by the PMT, Corridor Technical Advisory Group (CTAG), and policymakers to evaluation categories. Methodologies for the analyses herein are described in detail in Appendix D. 

	  
	Table 10: Evaluation categories and criteria 
	CATEGORY 
	CATEGORY 
	CATEGORY 
	CATEGORY 
	CATEGORY 

	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 



	RIDERSHIP ESTIMATES 
	RIDERSHIP ESTIMATES 
	RIDERSHIP ESTIMATES 
	RIDERSHIP ESTIMATES 

	Weekday ridership, annual ridership, productivity, travel time 
	Weekday ridership, annual ridership, productivity, travel time 


	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

	Land use, zoning, development activity 
	Land use, zoning, development activity 


	ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
	ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
	ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 

	Auto emissions reductions, direct emissions 
	Auto emissions reductions, direct emissions 


	FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
	FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
	FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

	Cost effectiveness, fare recovery, operating costs, capital costs, local share 
	Cost effectiveness, fare recovery, operating costs, capital costs, local share 


	ACCESSIBILITY AND EQUITY 
	ACCESSIBILITY AND EQUITY 
	ACCESSIBILITY AND EQUITY 

	Service to transit-reliant populations, access to downtown Minneapolis, access for BIPOC and low-income populations 
	Service to transit-reliant populations, access to downtown Minneapolis, access for BIPOC and low-income populations 




	 
	In reporting the results of the evaluation framework, all measures are treated equally. That is, no scores or weights are assigned to any measures. Some metrics are rounded to better reflect their uncertainty and others include likely ranges. The goal of this presentation style is to accurately reflect the high-level precision of this study and appropriately inform decisionmakers.  
	The following sections detail evaluation criteria and associated metrics grouped by category that make up the evaluation framework. Categories (also noted in 
	The following sections detail evaluation criteria and associated metrics grouped by category that make up the evaluation framework. Categories (also noted in 
	Table 10
	Table 10

	) include ridership estimates, community development, environmental sustainability, financial performance, and accessibility and equity.  

	Ridership Estimates 
	Ridership metrics (detailed in 
	Ridership metrics (detailed in 
	Table 11
	Table 11

	) were estimated for each transit service scenario for comparison. Care has been taken to evaluate the three separate modes in a way that enables fair comparisons. Future studies of a project-specific mode would likely augment this study’s methodology to better accommodate individual project characteristics. Results included below 

	should primarily be considered for relative comparisons between scenarios rather than as official forecasts. 
	Table 11: Ridership evaluation criteria, metrics, and data sources 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 

	METRICS 
	METRICS 

	DATA SOURCE(S) 
	DATA SOURCE(S) 



	Weekday Ridership 
	Weekday Ridership 
	Weekday Ridership 
	Weekday Ridership 

	Estimated average weekday ridership (excluding special event service); 2019 and 2022 base years; 2040 reported as a range 
	Estimated average weekday ridership (excluding special event service); 2019 and 2022 base years; 2040 reported as a range 

	STOPS model 
	STOPS model 


	Annual Ridership 
	Annual Ridership 
	Annual Ridership 

	Estimated total annual ridership (including special event service); 2019 and 2022 base years 
	Estimated total annual ridership (including special event service); 2019 and 2022 base years 

	STOPS model; historical special event ridership data 
	STOPS model; historical special event ridership data 


	Productivity 
	Productivity 
	Productivity 

	Passengers per in-service hour (weekday); 2019 and 2022 base years 
	Passengers per in-service hour (weekday); 2019 and 2022 base years 

	STOPS model; service scenarios 
	STOPS model; service scenarios 


	Travel Time 
	Travel Time 
	Travel Time 

	Ratio of transit to auto travel time (average across all stations) 
	Ratio of transit to auto travel time (average across all stations) 

	Service scenario schedules; StreetLight auto travel time data 
	Service scenario schedules; StreetLight auto travel time data 




	 
	Transit forecasting practice around the country has not fully recalibrated to a pandemic era reality. Current guidance from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for Capital Investment Grant applicants is to continue to use a pre-pandemic baseline. In the spirit of this study as a pandemic era investigation, methods applied here deviate from earlier regional study methodologies and include ridership estimates using both 2019 and 2022 baselines. Results presented in subsequent sections will be denoted as 
	Results 
	Travel Time 
	Table 13
	Table 13
	Table 13

	 shows the ratio of transit to auto travel times by transit mode across all project stations.  The metric is the average of individual stations’ travel times to Marquette Avenue and 5th Street (shown in Table 12) compared to auto travel times derived from StreetLight (observed) travel time data. A travel time index of 1.0 indicates that transit and auto travel times are identical, while an index of 0.5 indicates that transit travel times are half as long as auto travel. Both rail modes are highly competitiv

	 
	  
	Table 12: Travel Time (in minutes) from Station to 5th St & Marquette by Mode 
	MODE 
	MODE 
	MODE 
	MODE 
	MODE 

	FRIDLEY STATION 
	FRIDLEY STATION 

	COON RAPIDS RIVERDALE 
	COON RAPIDS RIVERDALE 

	ANOKA 
	ANOKA 

	RAMSEY 
	RAMSEY 

	ELK RIVER 
	ELK RIVER 

	BIG LAKE 
	BIG LAKE 

	ST. CLOUD 
	ST. CLOUD 



	Commuter Rail 
	Commuter Rail 
	Commuter Rail 
	Commuter Rail 

	29 
	29 

	37 
	37 

	41 
	41 

	46 
	46 

	52 
	52 

	62 
	62 

	- 
	- 


	Extend Rail 
	Extend Rail 
	Extend Rail 

	29 
	29 

	37 
	37 

	41 
	41 

	46 
	46 

	52 
	52 

	62 
	62 

	93 
	93 


	Express Bus 
	Express Bus 
	Express Bus 

	19 
	19 

	36 
	36 

	45 
	45 

	57 
	57 

	72 
	72 

	98 
	98 

	- 
	- 


	Auto 
	Auto 
	Auto 

	33 
	33 

	44.8 
	44.8 

	51.1 
	51.1 

	51.6 
	51.6 

	53.4 
	53.4 

	65.9 
	65.9 

	94.2 
	94.2 




	 
	Table 13: Ratio of Transit to Auto Travel Time 
	MODE 
	MODE 
	MODE 
	MODE 
	MODE 

	TRAVEL TIME INDEX 
	TRAVEL TIME INDEX 



	Commuter Rail 
	Commuter Rail 
	Commuter Rail 
	Commuter Rail 

	0.89 
	0.89 


	Extend Rail 
	Extend Rail 
	Extend Rail 

	0.90 
	0.90 


	Express Bus 
	Express Bus 
	Express Bus 

	1.03 
	1.03 




	 
	Weekday Ridership 
	Table 14 shows weekday ridership estimates by service scenario for 2019 and 2022 base years as modeled by STOPS. 2040 ridership estimates are presented as a range from ridership modeled on 2022 to ridership modeled on 2019. Ridership forecasting methodology is described in Appendix D. 
	Table 14: Weekday Ridership Forecast Results by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	2019 WEEKDAY RIDERSHIP 
	2019 WEEKDAY RIDERSHIP 

	2022 WEEKDAY RIDERSHIP 
	2022 WEEKDAY RIDERSHIP 

	2040 WEEKDAY RIDERSHIP 
	2040 WEEKDAY RIDERSHIP 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	1,800 
	1,800 

	600 
	600 

	700 – 2,000 
	700 – 2,000 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	2,500 
	2,500 

	1,000 
	1,000 

	1,100 – 2,900 
	1,100 – 2,900 


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	3,500 
	3,500 

	1,200 
	1,200 

	1,600 – 4,600 
	1,600 – 4,600 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	3,800 
	3,800 

	1,500 
	1,500 

	1,900 – 5,000 
	1,900 – 5,000 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	900 
	900 

	700 
	700 

	800 – 1,000 
	800 – 1,000 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	900 
	900 

	700 
	700 

	800 – 1,100 
	800 – 1,100 




	 
	Both Commuter Rail and Express Bus scenarios show minimal growth from the current year to 2040. Much of this can be attributed to competition with other, new service in 2040, particularly Blue Line Extension. The terminal station of Blue Line Extension is located well within park-and-ride catchment areas of the Anoka and Coon Rapids-Riverdale stations and travel times to the core of downtown are similar between the Commuter Rail scenarios and Blue Line Extension.  
	There is notably minimal difference between ridership on Express Bus scenarios. This is in part due to rounding, but it is also indicative of demand being met with the Base scenario (peak service every 30 minutes).  
	Annual Ridership 
	Table 15 shows annualized ridership estimates by service scenario for 2019 and 2022 base years. 2040 ridership estimates are presented as a range of values. Annualization methods for ridership estimates are described in Appendix D. 
	Table 15: Annual Ridership Forecast Results by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	2019 ANNUAL RIDERSHIP 
	2019 ANNUAL RIDERSHIP 

	2022 ANNUAL RIDERSHIP 
	2022 ANNUAL RIDERSHIP 

	2040 ANNUAL RIDERSHIP 
	2040 ANNUAL RIDERSHIP 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	560,000 
	560,000 

	200,000 
	200,000 

	220,000 – 620,000 
	220,000 – 620,000 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	780,000 
	780,000 

	320,000 
	320,000 

	350,000 – 880,000 
	350,000 – 880,000 


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	1,100,000 
	1,100,000 

	390,000 
	390,000 

	490,000 – 1,400,000 
	490,000 – 1,400,000 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	1,200,000 
	1,200,000 

	470,000 
	470,000 

	560,000 – 1,500,000 
	560,000 – 1,500,000 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	350,000 
	350,000 

	220,000 
	220,000 

	230,000 – 360,000 
	230,000 – 360,000 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	350,000 
	350,000 

	220,000 
	220,000 

	230,000 – 400,000 
	230,000 – 400,000 




	 
	Productivity  
	Productivity by service scenario, measured as passengers per revenue hour, is shown in Table 16. Note that weekday ridership for the Express Bus scenarios includes two routes in addition to ridership at Fridley Station on a modified Route 852. Because multiple services are included, tabulation of revenue hours is more complicated for Express Bus scenarios. As such, boardings per revenue hour are tabulated separately for each route, and Fridley Station ridership is excluded. Productivity results for Extend R
	Table 16: Passengers per Revenue Hour by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	2019 WEEKDAY PRODUCTIVITY 
	2019 WEEKDAY PRODUCTIVITY 

	2022 WEEKDAY PRODUCTIVITY 
	2022 WEEKDAY PRODUCTIVITY 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	500 
	500 

	170 
	170 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	240 
	240 

	100 
	100 


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	383 
	383 

	130 
	130 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	236 
	236 

	95 
	95 


	Express Bus Base: Route 1 
	Express Bus Base: Route 1 
	Express Bus Base: Route 1 

	20 
	20 

	15 
	15 


	Express Bus Base: Route 2 
	Express Bus Base: Route 2 
	Express Bus Base: Route 2 

	14 
	14 

	8 
	8 


	Express Bus High: Route 1 
	Express Bus High: Route 1 
	Express Bus High: Route 1 

	13 
	13 

	6 
	6 


	Express Bus High: Route 2 
	Express Bus High: Route 2 
	Express Bus High: Route 2 

	5 
	5 

	2 
	2 




	 
	The productivity results in Table 16 highlight that ridership in “high” scenarios does not increase commensurate with level of service. This is true across all modes in 2019 and 2022 base years.  
	Community Development 
	The community development category includes criteria for land use, zoning, development activity, and density. The land use and zoning criteria evaluate what Northstar corridor cities envisioned and planned for in their station areas. The development activity and density criteria evaluate actual development in these station areas since 2009. The metrics for these evaluation criteria are summarized in 
	The community development category includes criteria for land use, zoning, development activity, and density. The land use and zoning criteria evaluate what Northstar corridor cities envisioned and planned for in their station areas. The development activity and density criteria evaluate actual development in these station areas since 2009. The metrics for these evaluation criteria are summarized in 
	Table 17
	Table 17

	. 

	Table 17: Community Development Evaluation Criteria 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 

	METRICS 
	METRICS 



	Land Use 
	Land Use 
	Land Use 
	Land Use 

	Transit-supportive land uses – 2010 (%) 
	Transit-supportive land uses – 2010 (%) 


	Land Use 
	Land Use 
	Land Use 

	Transit-supportive land uses – 2020 (%) 
	Transit-supportive land uses – 2020 (%) 


	Land Use 
	Land Use 
	Land Use 

	Percent change of station area transit-supportive land uses, 2010 to 2020 
	Percent change of station area transit-supportive land uses, 2010 to 2020 


	Zoning 
	Zoning 
	Zoning 

	Presence of transit-supportive zoning/overlay districts 
	Presence of transit-supportive zoning/overlay districts 


	Zoning 
	Zoning 
	Zoning 

	Presence of transit-supportive station area plans 
	Presence of transit-supportive station area plans 


	Development Activity 
	Development Activity 
	Development Activity 

	Transit-supportive development (non- residential sq ft) 
	Transit-supportive development (non- residential sq ft) 


	Development Activity 
	Development Activity 
	Development Activity 

	Transit supportive development (units) 
	Transit supportive development (units) 


	Density 
	Density 
	Density 

	Density (units per acre) 
	Density (units per acre) 


	Density 
	Density 
	Density 

	Are minimum density expectations for regional transitway stations met for the community type? 
	Are minimum density expectations for regional transitway stations met for the community type? 


	Density 
	Density 
	Density 

	Are the target density expectations for regional transitway stations met for the community type? 
	Are the target density expectations for regional transitway stations met for the community type? 




	Since the scenarios evaluated in this study largely use the same station areas, the results for the community development category metrics are presented by station area and city rather than by scenario. 
	Results 
	Land Use 
	Table 18
	Table 18
	Table 18

	 summarizes the change in transit-supportive land uses in Northstar station areas between 2010 and 2020. During this period the City of Ramsey had the greatest increase in transit-supportive 

	land uses, followed by the City of Anoka. Minneapolis consistently had the highest amount of transit-supportive land uses. Big Lake also had a high percentage of transit-supportive land uses, due mostly to a large area that is planned for transit-oriented development. The City of Coon Rapids had the lowest percentage of transit-supportive land uses in its station area and had the largest decrease in transit-supportive uses between 2010 and 2020. Note that additional and in some cases substantial development
	Table 18: Transit Supportive Land Uses 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 

	TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE LAND USES – 2010 (%) 
	TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE LAND USES – 2010 (%) 

	TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE LAND USES – 2020 (%) 
	TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE LAND USES – 2020 (%) 

	PERCENT CHANGE OF TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE LAND USES 
	PERCENT CHANGE OF TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE LAND USES 



	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 

	62.8% 
	62.8% 

	69.8% 
	69.8% 

	11.1% 
	11.1% 


	Fridley 
	Fridley 
	Fridley 

	21.6% 
	21.6% 

	21.4% 
	21.4% 

	-0.8% 
	-0.8% 


	Coon Rapids 
	Coon Rapids 
	Coon Rapids 

	6.1%* 
	6.1%* 

	6.1% 
	6.1% 

	0%* 
	0%* 


	Anoka 
	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	24.0% 
	24.0% 

	28.2% 
	28.2% 

	17.5% 
	17.5% 


	Ramsey 
	Ramsey 
	Ramsey 

	17.0% 
	17.0% 

	24.4% 
	24.4% 

	43.5% 
	43.5% 


	Elk River 
	Elk River 
	Elk River 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	33.1% 
	33.1% 

	N/A 
	N/A 


	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	60.0% 
	60.0% 

	N/A 
	N/A 


	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 
	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 
	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	21.5% 
	21.5% 

	N/A 
	N/A 




	*                 f t        y       w                  t     f C          ’  t t                     t     t-supportive in 2010, resulting in a decline between 2010 and 2020. This is due to an error in classification of a single parcel, which was classified in the 2010 dataset as single-family attached (townhomes). The percentage has been corrected to show the appropriate classification of single-family detached, a non-transit-supportive land use.  
	Station area land use maps are included in the Corridor History and Existing Conditions memorandum in Appendix A. 
	Zoning 
	All cities with existing Northstar stations have adopted some type of transit-oriented development (TOD) supportive zoning, overlay districts, or station area plans, as shown in 
	All cities with existing Northstar stations have adopted some type of transit-oriented development (TOD) supportive zoning, overlay districts, or station area plans, as shown in 
	Table 19
	Table 19

	. These cities also have regulations that either specifically reference TOD (e.g., a “TOD Overlay” in Fridley and a “TOD Employment-Emphasis” district in the City of Anoka) or are zoned for high-density use. Additionally, all of the current Northstar corridor cities except for Minneapolis have a Northstar-specific station area plan. Most of the stations are also tax-increment financing (TIF) districts. Saint Cloud does not have any existing TOD regulations for the Amtrak station area; however, the current c

	Table 19: Transit-Supportive Zoning and Plans 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 

	PRESENCE OF TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE ZONING/OVERLAY DISTRICTS 
	PRESENCE OF TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE ZONING/OVERLAY DISTRICTS 

	PRESENCE OF TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE STATION AREA PLANS 
	PRESENCE OF TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE STATION AREA PLANS 



	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes* 
	Yes* 


	Fridley 
	Fridley 
	Fridley 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 


	Coon Rapids 
	Coon Rapids 
	Coon Rapids 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 


	Anoka 
	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 


	Ramsey 
	Ramsey 
	Ramsey 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 


	Elk River 
	Elk River 
	Elk River 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 


	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	Yes 
	Yes 


	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 
	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 
	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 

	No 
	No 

	Yes* 
	Yes* 




	*While there is no Northstar-specific station area plan, the Minneapolis 2040 comprehensive plan provides for transit-supportive density in the Target Field station are   St  C    ’  E  t E                  w  t    x  t    Amt     t t           t  y t f   f t           m  t   
	  
	Development Activity 
	Table 20 summarizes station area development since 2009 and classifies the development as transit-supportive or non-transit-supportive development. Non-residential development is measured in square feet and residential developments are measured in units. Minneapolis is excluded from this table because they did not provide development data and Saint Cloud is excluded because there is not an existing Northstar station. 
	All of the residential development that occurred along the existing Northstar corridor was transit-supportive (i.e., not single-family detached development). The majority of transit-supportive non-residential development occurred in the City of Ramsey. Most of the non-residential development along the corridor was non-transit supportive (e.g., industrial parks or auto-centric commercial development). Most of this non-residential, non-transit-supportive development took place in Fridley; however, it is notab
	Table 20: Station Area Development since 2009 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 

	NUMBER OF TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE PROJECTS 
	NUMBER OF TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE PROJECTS 

	NON-RESIDENTIAL (SQ FT) 
	NON-RESIDENTIAL (SQ FT) 

	RESIDENTIAL (UNITS) 
	RESIDENTIAL (UNITS) 

	NUMBER OF NON-TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE PROJECTS 
	NUMBER OF NON-TRANSIT-SUPPORTIVE PROJECTS 

	NON-RESIDENTIAL (SQ FT) 
	NON-RESIDENTIAL (SQ FT) 

	RESIDENTIAL (UNITS) 
	RESIDENTIAL (UNITS) 



	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 
	Minneapolis - Target Field 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 


	Fridley 
	Fridley 
	Fridley 

	8 
	8 

	0 
	0 

	809 
	809 

	3 
	3 

	2,275,000 
	2,275,000 

	0 
	0 


	Coon Rapids 
	Coon Rapids 
	Coon Rapids 

	13 
	13 

	45,094 
	45,094 

	525 
	525 

	1 
	1 

	130,356 
	130,356 

	0 
	0 


	Anoka 
	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	5 
	5 

	0 
	0 

	598 
	598 

	1 
	1 

	0 
	0 

	0 
	0 


	Ramsey 
	Ramsey 
	Ramsey 

	16 
	16 

	1,035,347 
	1,035,347 

	863 
	863 

	3 
	3 

	218,526 
	218,526 

	0 
	0 


	Elk River 
	Elk River 
	Elk River 

	3 
	3 

	0 
	0 

	158 
	158 

	7 
	7 

	288,140 
	288,140 

	0 
	0 


	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	4 
	4 

	0 
	0 

	255 
	255 

	0 
	0 

	0 
	0 

	0 
	0 


	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 
	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 
	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 


	Total 
	Total 
	Total 

	49 
	49 

	1,080,441 
	1,080,441 

	3,208 
	3,208 

	15 
	15 

	2,912,022 
	2,912,022 

	0 
	0 




	  
	Development Density 
	Table 21
	Table 21
	Table 21

	 compares residential density of station area developments since 2009 to the regional transitway station area minimum and target densities defined in the Transportation Policy Plan. Minneapolis is excluded from this table because it did not provide development data and Saint Cloud is excluded because there is not an existing commuter rail station. Of the remaining cities, Fridley, Ramsey, and Big Lake met the minimum residential density guidelines for transitway stations and none of the station areas met th

	Table 21: Residential Density 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 
	CITY - STATION 

	TPP COMMUNITY TYPE 
	TPP COMMUNITY TYPE 

	MINIMUM DENSITY (UNITS PER ACRE) 
	MINIMUM DENSITY (UNITS PER ACRE) 

	TARGET DENSITY (UNITS PER ACRE) 
	TARGET DENSITY (UNITS PER ACRE) 

	ACTUAL DENSITY (UNITS PER ACRE) 
	ACTUAL DENSITY (UNITS PER ACRE) 

	ARE MINIMUM DENSITY EXPECTATIONS MET? 
	ARE MINIMUM DENSITY EXPECTATIONS MET? 

	ARE THE TARGET DENSITY EXPECTATIONS MET? 
	ARE THE TARGET DENSITY EXPECTATIONS MET? 



	Minneapolis - Target Field Station 
	Minneapolis - Target Field Station 
	Minneapolis - Target Field Station 
	Minneapolis - Target Field Station 

	Urban Center 
	Urban Center 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 


	Fridley 
	Fridley 
	Fridley 

	Urban 
	Urban 

	25 
	25 

	50-100+ 
	50-100+ 

	26.77 
	26.77 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	No 
	No 


	Coon Rapids 
	Coon Rapids 
	Coon Rapids 

	Suburban 
	Suburban 

	20 
	20 

	40-75+ 
	40-75+ 

	13.20 
	13.20 

	No 
	No 

	No 
	No 


	Anoka 
	Anoka 
	Anoka 

	Suburban 
	Suburban 

	20 
	20 

	40-75+ 
	40-75+ 

	15.04 
	15.04 

	No 
	No 

	No 
	No 


	Ramsey 
	Ramsey 
	Ramsey 

	Emerging Suburban Edge 
	Emerging Suburban Edge 

	15 
	15 

	40-75+ 
	40-75+ 

	20.51 
	20.51 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	No 
	No 


	Elk River 
	Elk River 
	Elk River 

	Emerging Suburban Edge* 
	Emerging Suburban Edge* 

	15 
	15 

	40-75+ 
	40-75+ 

	2.20 
	2.20 

	No 
	No 

	No 
	No 


	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 
	Big Lake 

	Emerging Suburban Edge* 
	Emerging Suburban Edge* 

	15 
	15 

	40-75+ 
	40-75+ 

	15.92 
	15.92 

	Yes 
	Yes 

	No 
	No 


	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 
	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 
	St. Cloud - Amtrak Station 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	N/A 
	N/A 




	* The Cities of Elk River and Big Lake are outside of the Met Council’  j       t              t            C mm   ty  y      t        y’  TPP. Emerging Suburban Edge was used for these cities based on guidance from Council staff. 
	Maps showing parcels and development sites that have been developed or redeveloped since 2009 can be found in Appendix A. These maps also categorize development as transit-supportive or non-transit-supportive. 
	Environmental Sustainability 
	Table 22
	Table 22
	Table 22

	 shows the evaluation criteria selected for environmental sustainability. Environmental sustainability was assessed using the FTA’s Capital Investment Grant (CIG) methodology which estimates the change in auto vehicle miles travelled (VMT) and direct transit vehicle emissions within the corridor for each service scenario. All results are given in annual tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) for a comprehensive look at environmental impacts. All methodology used in evaluating environmental sustainability 

	Table 22. Environmental Sustainability Evaluation Criteria, Metrics, and Data Sources 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 

	MEASURES 
	MEASURES 

	DATA SOURCE(S) 
	DATA SOURCE(S) 



	Auto Emissions Reductions 
	Auto Emissions Reductions 
	Auto Emissions Reductions 
	Auto Emissions Reductions 

	Change in CO2 emissions due to increase/decrease in regional auto VMT 
	Change in CO2 emissions due to increase/decrease in regional auto VMT 

	Regional STOPS model; FTA estimates by mode 
	Regional STOPS model; FTA estimates by mode 


	Direct Emissions 
	Direct Emissions 
	Direct Emissions 

	Estimated CO2 emissions per passenger trip 
	Estimated CO2 emissions per passenger trip 

	Regional STOPS model; FTA estimates by mode 
	Regional STOPS model; FTA estimates by mode 


	Net Emissions 
	Net Emissions 
	Net Emissions 

	Net emissions change (auto + transit) 
	Net emissions change (auto + transit) 

	Regional STOPS model; FTA estimates by mode 
	Regional STOPS model; FTA estimates by mode 




	Results 
	Auto Emissions Reductions 
	Change in auto VMT relative to the no-build scenario (see Schedules section under Ridership Estimates Methods for definition) was calculated for each service scenario to derive the annual reduction in tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) for each scenario as shown in 
	Change in auto VMT relative to the no-build scenario (see Schedules section under Ridership Estimates Methods for definition) was calculated for each service scenario to derive the annual reduction in tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) for each scenario as shown in 
	Table 23
	Table 23

	.  

	Table 23: Change in Auto Emissions by Service Scenario (Tons CO2e) 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	CHANGE IN  AUTO EMISSIONS  (2019 BASE YEAR)   
	CHANGE IN  AUTO EMISSIONS  (2019 BASE YEAR)   

	CHANGE IN  AUTO EMISSIONS  (2022 BASE YEAR)  
	CHANGE IN  AUTO EMISSIONS  (2022 BASE YEAR)  



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	-4,600 
	-4,600 

	-1,800 
	-1,800 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	-6,200 
	-6,200 

	-3,000 
	-3,000 


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	-11,500 
	-11,500 

	-5,600 
	-5,600 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	-12,000 
	-12,000 

	-6,000 
	-6,000 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	-2,100 
	-2,100 

	-1,000 
	-1,000 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	-2,100 
	-2,100 

	-1,000 
	-1,000 




	Direct Emissions 
	Table 24
	Table 24
	Table 24

	 shows annual direct emissions from transit vehicles in tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) by service scenario as calculated using FTA’s CIG methodology.  

	Table 24: Direct Transit Vehicle Emissions by Service Scenario (Tons CO2e) 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	TRANSIT DIRECT EMISSIONS 
	TRANSIT DIRECT EMISSIONS 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	450 
	450 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	1,500 
	1,500 


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	1,200 
	1,200 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	2,200 
	2,200 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	1,000 
	1,000 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	2,000 
	2,000 




	 
	Net Emissions 
	Table 25
	Table 25
	Table 25

	 shows a breakdown of changes in emissions by service scenario including a range of net emissions for 2019 and 2022 model base years. All service scenarios realized a net emissions reduction in the 2019 model, whereas only the Commuter Rail Base and Extend Rail High and Base scenarios showed a net emissions reduction in the 2022 model. 

	Table 25: Net Emissions (Transit – Auto) by Service Scenario (Tons CO2e) 
	SERVICE SCENARIO 
	SERVICE SCENARIO 
	SERVICE SCENARIO 
	SERVICE SCENARIO 
	SERVICE SCENARIO 

	TRANSIT DIRECT EMISSIONS 
	TRANSIT DIRECT EMISSIONS 

	CHANGE IN  AUTO EMISSIONS  (2019 BASE YEAR)   
	CHANGE IN  AUTO EMISSIONS  (2019 BASE YEAR)   

	2019 NET EMISSIONS 
	2019 NET EMISSIONS 

	CHANGE IN  AUTO EMISSIONS  (2022 BASE YEAR)  
	CHANGE IN  AUTO EMISSIONS  (2022 BASE YEAR)  

	2022 NET EMISSIONS 
	2022 NET EMISSIONS 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	400 
	400 

	-4,600 
	-4,600 

	-4,200 
	-4,200 

	-1,800 
	-1,800 

	-1,300  
	-1,300  


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	1,500 
	1,500 

	-6,200 
	-6,200 

	--4,700 
	--4,700 

	-3,000 
	-3,000 

	-1.500  
	-1.500  


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	1,200 
	1,200 

	-11,500 
	-11,500 

	-10,300 
	-10,300 

	-5,600 
	-5,600 

	-3,200 
	-3,200 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	2,200 
	2,200 

	-12,000 
	-12,000 

	-10,000 
	-10,000 

	-6,000 
	-6,000 

	-3,400 
	-3,400 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	1,000 
	1,000 

	-2,100 
	-2,100 

	-1,100 
	-1,100 

	-1,000 
	-1,000 

	+0 
	+0 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	2,000 
	2,000 

	-2,100 
	-2,100 

	-100 
	-100 

	-1,000 
	-1,000 

	+1,000 
	+1,000 




	 
	  
	Financial Performance 
	Financial performance evaluation criteria include operations and maintenance costs, capital costs, and various measures calculated based on cost, ridership, and expected revenue. These criteria and metrics are shown in 
	Financial performance evaluation criteria include operations and maintenance costs, capital costs, and various measures calculated based on cost, ridership, and expected revenue. These criteria and metrics are shown in 
	Table 26
	Table 26

	. The methodology for all financial performance metrics is described in Appendix D. 

	Table 26: Financial Performance Evaluation Criteria, Metrics, and Data Sources. 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 

	MEASURES 
	MEASURES 

	DATA SOURCE(S) 
	DATA SOURCE(S) 



	Cost-Effectiveness 
	Cost-Effectiveness 
	Cost-Effectiveness 
	Cost-Effectiveness 

	Total operations and maintenance cost per passenger trip 
	Total operations and maintenance cost per passenger trip 

	Regional STOPS model; service scenarios; fare data 
	Regional STOPS model; service scenarios; fare data 


	Fare Recovery 
	Fare Recovery 
	Fare Recovery 

	Percent of operations and maintenance costs covered by fares 
	Percent of operations and maintenance costs covered by fares 

	Regional STOPS model; service scenarios; fare data 
	Regional STOPS model; service scenarios; fare data 


	Operating Costs 
	Operating Costs 
	Operating Costs 

	Total annual operations and maintenance costs 
	Total annual operations and maintenance costs 

	Service scenarios 
	Service scenarios 


	Capital Costs 
	Capital Costs 
	Capital Costs 

	Estimated total capital costs for project, including any repayment of federal funds 
	Estimated total capital costs for project, including any repayment of federal funds 

	Service scenarios 
	Service scenarios 


	Local Share 
	Local Share 
	Local Share 

	Expected share of operations and maintenance costs to be borne by local communities 
	Expected share of operations and maintenance costs to be borne by local communities 

	Service scenarios 
	Service scenarios 




	Results 
	Operations and Maintenance Costs 
	Estimated total annual operations and maintenance costs for each scenario are shown in 
	Estimated total annual operations and maintenance costs for each scenario are shown in 
	Table 27
	Table 27

	. 

	Table 27: Operations and Maintenance Costs by Service Scenario (Annual, 2023 $) 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	ESTIMATED ANNUAL OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE COST (MILLIONS) 
	ESTIMATED ANNUAL OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE COST (MILLIONS) 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	$12.0M 
	$12.0M 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	$22.6M 
	$22.6M 


	Extend Rail Base* 
	Extend Rail Base* 
	Extend Rail Base* 

	$17.3M 
	$17.3M 


	Extend Rail High* 
	Extend Rail High* 
	Extend Rail High* 

	$26.0M 
	$26.0M 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	$1.9M 
	$1.9M 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	$3.4M 
	$3.4M 




	* Note: Extend Rail results are shown using unit costs scaled from commuter rail service and assume continued operation under BNSF/Metro Transit. Analysis of costs under an Amtrak-operated option (see Appendix C) indicated potentially lower costs if developed as a stand-alone (i.e., not connected with national network) corridor.  
	  
	Cost Effectiveness 
	The estimated operations and maintenance cost per passenger trip for each scenario (calculated based on annual 2022 base year ridership) is shown in 
	The estimated operations and maintenance cost per passenger trip for each scenario (calculated based on annual 2022 base year ridership) is shown in 
	Table 28
	Table 28

	. 

	Table 28: Cost Effectiveness by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE COST PER PASSENGER TRIP* 
	OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE COST PER PASSENGER TRIP* 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	$63.31  
	$63.31  


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	$70.55  
	$70.55  


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	$44.46  
	$44.46  


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	$55.30  
	$55.30  


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	$8.89  
	$8.89  


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	$15.53  
	$15.53  




	* Note: Operations and maintenance costs per trip are calculated based on 2022 base year ridership results.  
	Fare Recovery 
	The estimated percentage of operations and maintenance costs covered by fare revenue for each scenario (calculated based on 2022 base year ridership) is shown in 
	The estimated percentage of operations and maintenance costs covered by fare revenue for each scenario (calculated based on 2022 base year ridership) is shown in 
	Table 29
	Table 29

	. 

	Table 29: Fare Recovery by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	FARE RECOVERY RATIO  (REVENUE AS PERCENT OF COSTS)* 
	FARE RECOVERY RATIO  (REVENUE AS PERCENT OF COSTS)* 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	5.4% 
	5.4% 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	4.8% 
	4.8% 


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	6.6% 
	6.6% 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	5.8% 
	5.8% 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	15.0% 
	15.0% 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	8.6% 
	8.6% 




	* Note: Fare recovery is calculated based on 2022 base year ridership results.  
	  
	Capital Costs 
	Estimated total direct capital costs for each scenario (excluding ongoing debt service costs and potential repayment of federal funds) are shown in 
	Estimated total direct capital costs for each scenario (excluding ongoing debt service costs and potential repayment of federal funds) are shown in 
	Table 30
	Table 30

	. 

	Table 30: Direct Capital Costs by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	DIRECT CAPITAL COSTS (MILLIONS)* 
	DIRECT CAPITAL COSTS (MILLIONS)* 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	$0 
	$0 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	$0 
	$0 


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	$35.5M 
	$35.5M 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	$66.6M 
	$66.6M 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	$7.2M 
	$7.2M 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	$13.2M 
	$13.2M 




	* Note: Direct capital costs assume no additional costs required for continuation of service.  Extend Rail scenarios include track upgrades at St. Cloud and Big Lake stations and 
	assume continued use of Northstar rolling stock. Express bus scenarios assume the  purchase of new motorcoach vehicles sufficient to operate Northstar replacement service.  
	Estimated indirect capital costs (ongoing debt repayment, decommissioning costs, grant repayment costs, sale/disposal of assets, and penalties) are shown in Table 31. 
	Table 31: Indirect Capital Costs by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	ONGOING COSTS (DEBT) 
	ONGOING COSTS (DEBT) 

	DECOMMISSIONING COSTS 
	DECOMMISSIONING COSTS 

	REPAYMENT COSTS 
	REPAYMENT COSTS 

	SALE/ DISPOSAL 
	SALE/ DISPOSAL 

	 PENALTIES 
	 PENALTIES 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	$14.4M 
	$14.4M 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	$14.4M 
	$14.4M 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 


	Extend Rail Base* 
	Extend Rail Base* 
	Extend Rail Base* 

	$14.4M 
	$14.4M 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 


	Extend Rail High* 
	Extend Rail High* 
	Extend Rail High* 

	$14.4M 
	$14.4M 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 

	$0 
	$0 


	Express Bus Base** 
	Express Bus Base** 
	Express Bus Base** 

	$14.4M 
	$14.4M 

	$0.4M 
	$0.4M 

	$10.6M-$161.9M 
	$10.6M-$161.9M 

	($11.1M) 
	($11.1M) 

	$0 
	$0 


	Express Bus High** 
	Express Bus High** 
	Express Bus High** 

	$14.4M 
	$14.4M 

	$0.4M 
	$0.4M 

	$10.6M-$161.9M 
	$10.6M-$161.9M 

	($11.1M) 
	($11.1M) 

	$0 
	$0 




	*  Note: Extend Rail scenarios assume planned service complies with FTA New Starts FFGA, with no repayment required. This may require a waiver from FTA due to the schedule differences between rush-hour oriented commuter rail and bidirectional passenger rail. Similarly, Extend Rail scenarios assume operations with existing Northstar equipment, with no conversion to Amtrak fleet. ** Note: Express bus scenarios     m    m    A     ym  t w    b    q       D   t       t   ty             A’  potential decisions r
	Subsidy per Passenger 
	The operations and maintenance costs per trip that are not covered by fares, or subsidy per passenger estimates, are shown for each service scenario in 
	The operations and maintenance costs per trip that are not covered by fares, or subsidy per passenger estimates, are shown for each service scenario in 
	Table 32
	Table 32

	. 

	Table 32: Estimated Subsidy per Passenger by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE 
	SERVICE 
	SERVICE 
	SERVICE 
	SERVICE 
	SCENARIO 

	SUBSIDY PER PASSENGER 
	SUBSIDY PER PASSENGER 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	$59.92  
	$59.92  


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	$67.15  
	$67.15  


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	$41.05  
	$41.05  


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	$51.88  
	$51.88  


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	$7.56  
	$7.56  


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	$14.20  
	$14.20  




	* Note: Subsidy per passenger is calculated based on 2022 base year  ridership results.  
	Accessibility and Equity 
	Table 33
	Table 33
	Table 33

	 describes the specific evaluation criteria and their corresponding measures that were applied for accessibility and equity. Relative levels of equity of the service scenarios are determined by two metrics: rides by people from zero-car households and ability of BIPOC and low-income populations to access downtown Minneapolis using each service mode at different travel time thresholds. All accessibility methodology is described in Appendix D. 

	 
	Table 33. Accessibility And Equity Evaluation Criteria, Measures, and Data Sources 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 

	MEASURES 
	MEASURES 

	DATA SOURCE(S) 
	DATA SOURCE(S) 



	Service to Transit-Reliant Populations 
	Service to Transit-Reliant Populations 
	Service to Transit-Reliant Populations 
	Service to Transit-Reliant Populations 

	Number of trips by zero-car households (weekday) 
	Number of trips by zero-car households (weekday) 

	STOPS ridership forecasting model output 
	STOPS ridership forecasting model output 


	Access to  
	Access to  
	Access to  
	Downtown Minneapolis 

	Number of people with access to downtown Minneapolis in 15-minute incremental thresholds. 
	Number of people with access to downtown Minneapolis in 15-minute incremental thresholds. 

	American Community Survey (ACS) 2016-2020, Open Street Map, StreetLight LBS data 
	American Community Survey (ACS) 2016-2020, Open Street Map, StreetLight LBS data 


	Access For BIPOC and  
	Access For BIPOC and  
	Access For BIPOC and  
	Low-Income Populations 

	Number of BIPOC and low-income individuals with access to downtown Minneapolis in 15-minute incremental thresholds. 
	Number of BIPOC and low-income individuals with access to downtown Minneapolis in 15-minute incremental thresholds. 

	American Community Survey (ACS) 2016-2020, Open Street Map, StreetLight LBS data 
	American Community Survey (ACS) 2016-2020, Open Street Map, StreetLight LBS data 




	 
	Results 
	Service to Transit-Reliant Populations 
	Table 34
	Table 34
	Table 34

	 shows the 2019-based weekday forecasted trips from zero-car households by service scenario as modeled by STOPS. For all scenarios, estimates remain at or below 50 trips by zero-car households, similar to the 40 daily trips observed in the 2016 On-Board Survey. These trips comprise only a small portion of overall estimated ridership, indicating that the majority of riders in the Northstar Corridor have access to a vehicle.  

	Table 34: Trips from Zero-Car Households by Service Scenario 
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SERVICE  
	SCENARIO 

	2019 TRIPS FROM ZERO CAR HOUSEHOLDS 
	2019 TRIPS FROM ZERO CAR HOUSEHOLDS 

	PERCENT OF  TOTAL TRIPS 
	PERCENT OF  TOTAL TRIPS 



	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 
	Commuter Rail Base 

	20 
	20 

	1.1% 
	1.1% 


	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 
	Commuter Rail High 

	40 
	40 

	1.6% 
	1.6% 


	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 
	Extend Rail Base 

	25 
	25 

	0.7% 
	0.7% 


	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 
	Extend Rail High 

	50 
	50 

	1.3% 
	1.3% 


	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 
	Express Bus Base 

	10 
	10 

	1.1% 
	1.1% 


	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 
	Express Bus High 

	30 
	30 

	3.3% 
	3.3% 




	 
	Access to Downtown Minneapolis  (Total Population, BIPOC Population, and Low-Income Population) 
	Table 35
	Table 35
	Table 35

	 through 
	Table 37
	Table 37

	 compare park-and-ride accessibility between service scenarios cumulatively at 30, 60, 90, and 120-minute thresholds. Extend Rail results resemble those of commuter rail until the 90-minute threshold, as service is identical between scenarios outside of St. Cloud, after which point Extend Rail totals exceed those of commuter rail due to its serving additional populations. Longer travel times associated with express bus service yield lower accessibility than both rail scenarios. Commuter rail estimates are e

	Table 35. Comparison of access to downtown Minneapolis – Total Population 
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	THRESHOLD 

	COMMUTER RAIL SCENARIOS 
	COMMUTER RAIL SCENARIOS 

	EXTEND RAIL SCENARIOS 
	EXTEND RAIL SCENARIOS 

	EXPRESS BUS SCENARIOS 
	EXPRESS BUS SCENARIOS 



	30 min 
	30 min 
	30 min 
	30 min 

	170,183  
	170,183  

	170,183  
	170,183  

	170,183 
	170,183 


	60 min 
	60 min 
	60 min 

	843,843  
	843,843  

	843,843  
	843,843  

	655,713 
	655,713 


	90 min 
	90 min 
	90 min 

	934,721  
	934,721  

	961,462 
	961,462 

	838,013 
	838,013 


	120 min 
	120 min 
	120 min 

	- 
	- 

	1,080,426 
	1,080,426 

	895,314 
	895,314 




	 
	Table 36. Comparison of access to downtown Minneapolis – BIPOC Population 
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	THRESHOLD 

	COMMUTER RAIL SCENARIOS 
	COMMUTER RAIL SCENARIOS 

	EXTEND RAIL SCENARIOS 
	EXTEND RAIL SCENARIOS 

	EXPRESS BUS SCENARIOS 
	EXPRESS BUS SCENARIOS 



	30 min 
	30 min 
	30 min 
	30 min 

	81,688 
	81,688 

	81,688 
	81,688 

	81,688 
	81,688 


	60 min 
	60 min 
	60 min 

	253,153 
	253,153 

	253,153 
	253,153 

	223,059 
	223,059 


	90 min 
	90 min 
	90 min 

	261,722 
	261,722 

	269,209 
	269,209 

	250,582 
	250,582 


	120 min 
	120 min 
	120 min 

	- 
	- 

	280,911 
	280,911 

	255,948 
	255,948 




	 
	Table 37. Comparison of access to downtown Minneapolis – Low-Income Population 
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	TIME  
	THRESHOLD 

	COMMUTER RAIL SCENARIOS 
	COMMUTER RAIL SCENARIOS 

	EXTEND RAIL SCENARIOS 
	EXTEND RAIL SCENARIOS 

	EXPRESS BUS SCENARIOS 
	EXPRESS BUS SCENARIOS 



	30 min 
	30 min 
	30 min 
	30 min 

	20,422 
	20,422 

	20,422 
	20,422 

	20,422 
	20,422 


	60 min 
	60 min 
	60 min 

	65,430 
	65,430 

	65,430 
	65,430 

	56,429 
	56,429 


	90 min 
	90 min 
	90 min 

	67,507 
	67,507 

	76,917 
	76,917 

	63,064  
	63,064  


	120 min 
	120 min 
	120 min 

	- 
	- 

	86,434 
	86,434 

	64,938 
	64,938 




	 
	  
	Evaluation Summary 
	The evaluation results presented in this report offer context for future decision-making regarding transit service in the Northstar Corridor. Since this study is not intended to recommend a single course of action, results are organized to facilitate comparisons across the three transit modes under consideration and between each of the six transit service scenarios evaluated.  
	As shown in Table 38, the scenarios evaluation included five analysis categories to differentiate between the transit modes and base/high levels of service.   
	Table 38. Evaluation Summary by Category 
	CATEGORY 
	CATEGORY 
	CATEGORY 
	CATEGORY 
	CATEGORY 

	EVALUATION CRITERIA 
	EVALUATION CRITERIA 

	MAJOR DIFFERENCES? 
	MAJOR DIFFERENCES? 



	RIDERSHIP 
	RIDERSHIP 
	RIDERSHIP 
	RIDERSHIP 

	Weekday ridership, annual ridership, productivity, travel time 
	Weekday ridership, annual ridership, productivity, travel time 

	Yes 
	Yes 


	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

	Land use, zoning, development activity 
	Land use, zoning, development activity 

	No 
	No 


	ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
	ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 
	ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 

	Auto emissions reductions, direct emissions 
	Auto emissions reductions, direct emissions 

	No 
	No 


	FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
	FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
	FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

	Cost effectiveness, fare recovery, operating costs, capital costs, local share 
	Cost effectiveness, fare recovery, operating costs, capital costs, local share 

	Yes 
	Yes 


	ACCESSIBILITY AND EQUITY 
	ACCESSIBILITY AND EQUITY 
	ACCESSIBILITY AND EQUITY 

	Service to transit-reliant populations, access to downtown Minneapolis, access for BIPOC and low-income populations 
	Service to transit-reliant populations, access to downtown Minneapolis, access for BIPOC and low-income populations 

	Yes 
	Yes 




	 Three of these categories exhibited major differences and are described here: 
	• Ridership: Weekday and annual ridership varied significantly between transit modes, scenarios, and forecast years, with the highest ridership predicted in the Extend Rail scenarios. Within each transit mode, productivity was highest for the base service scenarios, indicating that higher service levels may yield diminishing returns in terms of ridership. Travel times indicate that rail scenarios are most competitive with car travel, while bus service would offer marginally slower travel times to and from d
	• Ridership: Weekday and annual ridership varied significantly between transit modes, scenarios, and forecast years, with the highest ridership predicted in the Extend Rail scenarios. Within each transit mode, productivity was highest for the base service scenarios, indicating that higher service levels may yield diminishing returns in terms of ridership. Travel times indicate that rail scenarios are most competitive with car travel, while bus service would offer marginally slower travel times to and from d
	• Ridership: Weekday and annual ridership varied significantly between transit modes, scenarios, and forecast years, with the highest ridership predicted in the Extend Rail scenarios. Within each transit mode, productivity was highest for the base service scenarios, indicating that higher service levels may yield diminishing returns in terms of ridership. Travel times indicate that rail scenarios are most competitive with car travel, while bus service would offer marginally slower travel times to and from d

	• Financial Performance: Financial evaluation measures showed clear differences between transit modes, with variation between base and high scenarios that is consistent with ridership results. Operations and maintenance costs are expected to be highest in the rail scenarios, with Extend Rail exceeding the costs required to provide similar service on commuter rail. Bus scenarios offer much lower potential operating costs but could be subject to full or partial repayment of federal grants, which could require
	• Financial Performance: Financial evaluation measures showed clear differences between transit modes, with variation between base and high scenarios that is consistent with ridership results. Operations and maintenance costs are expected to be highest in the rail scenarios, with Extend Rail exceeding the costs required to provide similar service on commuter rail. Bus scenarios offer much lower potential operating costs but could be subject to full or partial repayment of federal grants, which could require


	• Accessibility and Equity: Based on the faster travel times exhibited by rail, Scenarios 1 through 4 offer better access to downtown Minneapolis employment destinations, including for BIPOC and low-income populations. (See Appendix D, pp. 17 – 29 for detailed discussion of methodology and results.) 
	• Accessibility and Equity: Based on the faster travel times exhibited by rail, Scenarios 1 through 4 offer better access to downtown Minneapolis employment destinations, including for BIPOC and low-income populations. (See Appendix D, pp. 17 – 29 for detailed discussion of methodology and results.) 
	• Accessibility and Equity: Based on the faster travel times exhibited by rail, Scenarios 1 through 4 offer better access to downtown Minneapolis employment destinations, including for BIPOC and low-income populations. (See Appendix D, pp. 17 – 29 for detailed discussion of methodology and results.) 


	Financial performance and ridership are essential quantitative factors in the overall evaluation and are summarized in Table 39. 
	Table 39. Financial and Ridership Results Summary 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 
	EVALUATION CATEGORY 

	NORTHSTAR ACTUALS 
	NORTHSTAR ACTUALS 

	COMMUTER RAIL BASE 
	COMMUTER RAIL BASE 

	COMMUTER RAIL HIGH 
	COMMUTER RAIL HIGH 

	EXTEND RAIL BASE 
	EXTEND RAIL BASE 

	EXTEND RAIL HIGH 
	EXTEND RAIL HIGH 

	EXPRESS BUS BASE 
	EXPRESS BUS BASE 

	EXPRESS BUS HIGH 
	EXPRESS BUS HIGH 



	CAPITAL COSTS (2025$) 
	CAPITAL COSTS (2025$) 
	CAPITAL COSTS (2025$) 
	CAPITAL COSTS (2025$) 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	None 
	None 

	None 
	None 

	$36M+* 
	$36M+* 

	$67M+* 
	$67M+* 

	$7M 
	$7M 

	$13M 
	$13M 


	RISK OF FTA REPAYMENT 
	RISK OF FTA REPAYMENT 
	RISK OF FTA REPAYMENT 

	N/A 
	N/A 

	Unlikely 
	Unlikely 

	Unlikely 
	Unlikely 

	Possible 
	Possible 

	Possible 
	Possible 

	Likely (Est. ~$75M) 
	Likely (Est. ~$75M) 

	Likely (Est. ~$75M) 
	Likely (Est. ~$75M) 


	ANNUAL OPERATING COSTS (2023$) 
	ANNUAL OPERATING COSTS (2023$) 
	ANNUAL OPERATING COSTS (2023$) 

	$11.9M 
	$11.9M 

	$12M 
	$12M 

	$23M 
	$23M 

	$17M+* 
	$17M+* 

	$26M+* 
	$26M+* 

	$2M 
	$2M 

	$3.5M 
	$3.5M 


	RIDERSHIP POTENTIAL (# OF WEEKDAY RIDERS) 
	RIDERSHIP POTENTIAL (# OF WEEKDAY RIDERS) 
	RIDERSHIP POTENTIAL (# OF WEEKDAY RIDERS) 

	275 
	275 

	600 
	600 

	1,000 
	1,000 

	1,200 
	1,200 

	1,500 
	1,500 

	700 
	700 

	700 
	700 


	SUBSIDY PER PASSENGER 
	SUBSIDY PER PASSENGER 
	SUBSIDY PER PASSENGER 

	Est. $150 
	Est. $150 

	$60 
	$60 

	$67 
	$67 

	$41 
	$41 

	$52 
	$52 

	$8 
	$8 

	$14 
	$14 




	* Costs for Extending Rail to St. Cloud are preliminary and could increase depending on future project decisions and operating arrangements. 
	The remaining evaluation categories did not exhibit major differences between scenarios: 
	• Community Development: Evaluation criteria within the Community Development category are primarily related to land use and development within station areas. Since all scenarios would provide transit service to the six existing Northstar stations outside downtown Minneapolis, differences between scenarios are primarily related to the addition of St. Cloud in the Extend Rail scenarios. (See pp. 29-33 of this report for detailed results; see Appendix D, pp. 10-12 for detailed methodology.) 
	• Community Development: Evaluation criteria within the Community Development category are primarily related to land use and development within station areas. Since all scenarios would provide transit service to the six existing Northstar stations outside downtown Minneapolis, differences between scenarios are primarily related to the addition of St. Cloud in the Extend Rail scenarios. (See pp. 29-33 of this report for detailed results; see Appendix D, pp. 10-12 for detailed methodology.) 
	• Community Development: Evaluation criteria within the Community Development category are primarily related to land use and development within station areas. Since all scenarios would provide transit service to the six existing Northstar stations outside downtown Minneapolis, differences between scenarios are primarily related to the addition of St. Cloud in the Extend Rail scenarios. (See pp. 29-33 of this report for detailed results; see Appendix D, pp. 10-12 for detailed methodology.) 

	• Environmental Sustainability: Based on the ridership forecasts and expected travel patterns, each scenario and transit mode was found to reduce automobile travel. Direct emissions from transit were fully offset by the reduction in auto emissions in at least one forecast year for all scenarios and transit modes. (See pp. 34-35 of this report for detailed results; see Appendix D, pp. 12-13 for detailed methodology.) 
	• Environmental Sustainability: Based on the ridership forecasts and expected travel patterns, each scenario and transit mode was found to reduce automobile travel. Direct emissions from transit were fully offset by the reduction in auto emissions in at least one forecast year for all scenarios and transit modes. (See pp. 34-35 of this report for detailed results; see Appendix D, pp. 12-13 for detailed methodology.) 


	Key Factors Analysis 
	The evaluation results contained in this report illustrate the tradeoffs between scenarios and transit modes, and they also highlight important considerations for decision-making regarding Northstar. A summary of key decision factors is provided for each mode below. 
	Commuter Rail 
	A continuation of Northstar commuter rail service may allow for some ridership recovery, though the amount is uncertain. The evaluation metrics for this mode build on the historic performance of the service.  
	Pros 
	• Ridership is likely to increase with return to pre-pandemic service, but it is not expected to return to 2019 levels in the near term due to changes in commute patterns and in the downtown Minneapolis employment market. 
	• Ridership is likely to increase with return to pre-pandemic service, but it is not expected to return to 2019 levels in the near term due to changes in commute patterns and in the downtown Minneapolis employment market. 
	• Ridership is likely to increase with return to pre-pandemic service, but it is not expected to return to 2019 levels in the near term due to changes in commute patterns and in the downtown Minneapolis employment market. 

	• Special event service could still be very productive in the future, as event attendance in Minneapolis has largely rebounded from the pandemic.  
	• Special event service could still be very productive in the future, as event attendance in Minneapolis has largely rebounded from the pandemic.  


	Cons 
	• Northstar’s operating costs per passenger are much higher than its peers. Current service levels minimize total costs, but subsidy per passenger remains high as well.  
	• Northstar’s operating costs per passenger are much higher than its peers. Current service levels minimize total costs, but subsidy per passenger remains high as well.  
	• Northstar’s operating costs per passenger are much higher than its peers. Current service levels minimize total costs, but subsidy per passenger remains high as well.  

	• The current reduced service schedule (Base scenario of this study) offers limited utility for riders and limited potential for ridership recovery.  
	• The current reduced service schedule (Base scenario of this study) offers limited utility for riders and limited potential for ridership recovery.  


	Risks 
	• Ridership may not rebound to levels in line with expectations.   
	• Ridership may not rebound to levels in line with expectations.   
	• Ridership may not rebound to levels in line with expectations.   


	Extend Rail 
	Extending rail service to St. Cloud would be a new type of service that introduces a number of new complexities. Because of the unprecedented nature of this option, its evaluation metrics carry uncertainty.  
	Pros 
	• Extension of the Northstar Corridor to St. Cloud would require further analysis but does offer the potential to reach new ridership markets.  
	• Extension of the Northstar Corridor to St. Cloud would require further analysis but does offer the potential to reach new ridership markets.  
	• Extension of the Northstar Corridor to St. Cloud would require further analysis but does offer the potential to reach new ridership markets.  

	• This service is the least commuter-centric option, well-suited to accommodate changes in travel behaviors due to remote work. This service is more akin to a ‘hybrid’ service serving both commuter and intercity markets. 
	• This service is the least commuter-centric option, well-suited to accommodate changes in travel behaviors due to remote work. This service is more akin to a ‘hybrid’ service serving both commuter and intercity markets. 

	• Repayment of FTA investment funds may be less likely or lower in total than for the express bus scenarios, depending on various factors including private or public operator, ultimate service schedule, and number/location of stations served. 
	• Repayment of FTA investment funds may be less likely or lower in total than for the express bus scenarios, depending on various factors including private or public operator, ultimate service schedule, and number/location of stations served. 

	• Rail service between St. Cloud and Minneapolis is estimated to provide a faster trip than driving during the AM peak period. 
	• Rail service between St. Cloud and Minneapolis is estimated to provide a faster trip than driving during the AM peak period. 


	Cons 
	• If operations were converted to Amtrak, it would require a new ridership and revenue forecast completed using Amtrak’s state-supported cost model. High-level analysis completed during this study indicates that annual Amtrak operating costs may be lower than operating Northstar today, but capital improvements will be necessary to realize an Amtrak-operated line. Operating costs will differ from the estimates provided in this report. 
	• If operations were converted to Amtrak, it would require a new ridership and revenue forecast completed using Amtrak’s state-supported cost model. High-level analysis completed during this study indicates that annual Amtrak operating costs may be lower than operating Northstar today, but capital improvements will be necessary to realize an Amtrak-operated line. Operating costs will differ from the estimates provided in this report. 
	• If operations were converted to Amtrak, it would require a new ridership and revenue forecast completed using Amtrak’s state-supported cost model. High-level analysis completed during this study indicates that annual Amtrak operating costs may be lower than operating Northstar today, but capital improvements will be necessary to realize an Amtrak-operated line. Operating costs will differ from the estimates provided in this report. 

	• Engineering studies are needed to develop the design specifications and refine capital costs for track improvements needed in St. Cloud, and potentially between Target Field and downtown Saint Paul.  
	• Engineering studies are needed to develop the design specifications and refine capital costs for track improvements needed in St. Cloud, and potentially between Target Field and downtown Saint Paul.  


	Risks 
	• Expansion of service will require additional negotiations with BNSF. 
	• Expansion of service will require additional negotiations with BNSF. 
	• Expansion of service will require additional negotiations with BNSF. 

	• Negotiations with FTA may also be required to permanently adjust service levels. 
	• Negotiations with FTA may also be required to permanently adjust service levels. 

	• Though ridership estimates were highest for the Extend Rail sceanrios, there is uncertainty around the adoption of this new style of service by current non-transit users. 
	• Though ridership estimates were highest for the Extend Rail sceanrios, there is uncertainty around the adoption of this new style of service by current non-transit users. 


	Express Bus 
	Modifying the service mode in the Northstar Corridor to bus would mean a return to service similar to what existed prior to rail investment. Express bus service has seen large declines in use during the pandemic era.   
	Pros 
	• Operations and maintenance savings are estimated to be at least $10 million per year based on the scenarios analyzed. 
	• Operations and maintenance savings are estimated to be at least $10 million per year based on the scenarios analyzed. 
	• Operations and maintenance savings are estimated to be at least $10 million per year based on the scenarios analyzed. 

	• Bus service can more easily be expanded or contracted based on passenger demand.  
	• Bus service can more easily be expanded or contracted based on passenger demand.  


	Cons 
	• Ridership is anticipated to be much lower than other options. 
	• Ridership is anticipated to be much lower than other options. 
	• Ridership is anticipated to be much lower than other options. 

	• Travel times are less competitive via bus than rail. 
	• Travel times are less competitive via bus than rail. 

	• Repayment is subject to FTA discretion and may be impacted by potential legal action. Several scenarios are possible:  
	• Repayment is subject to FTA discretion and may be impacted by potential legal action. Several scenarios are possible:  

	- At minimum, FTA would need to be reimbursed for the federal share of any rail assets sold, estimated at $10.6 million.  
	- At minimum, FTA would need to be reimbursed for the federal share of any rail assets sold, estimated at $10.6 million.  

	- At maximum, FTA could require the repayment of the entire federal share of the project, totaling $161.9 million.  
	- At maximum, FTA could require the repayment of the entire federal share of the project, totaling $161.9 million.  

	- A negotiated repayment could result in a value between the two, potentially on the basis of the federal share of Northstar assets at their current value, estimated at $73.4 million as of June 30, 2022.   
	- A negotiated repayment could result in a value between the two, potentially on the basis of the federal share of Northstar assets at their current value, estimated at $73.4 million as of June 30, 2022.   


	Risks 
	• Conversion of Northstar to express bus operations offers the potential for lower annual operations and maintenance costs but carries a significant risk of FTA repayment for rail capital costs. 
	• Conversion of Northstar to express bus operations offers the potential for lower annual operations and maintenance costs but carries a significant risk of FTA repayment for rail capital costs. 
	• Conversion of Northstar to express bus operations offers the potential for lower annual operations and maintenance costs but carries a significant risk of FTA repayment for rail capital costs. 

	• The amount required for repayment is impossible to predict without beginning negotiations with FTA. 
	• The amount required for repayment is impossible to predict without beginning negotiations with FTA. 


	Next Steps 
	Future decisions on transit service in the Northstar Corridor will be based on policy and public input considerations that go beyond the scope of this study. Ultimately, the transit mode and service levels selected will be adopted by policymakers based on local and regional needs, including the potential for future growth, the need to address funding considerations, and the ongoing desire to provide reasonably cost-effective and equitable transit. Public engagement will also be an essential component of any
	Figure 17: Next Steps 
	  
	Figure
	   






